Medical Costs Payable

Medical costs and medical costs payable include estimates of our obligations for medical care services that have
been rendered on behalf of insured consumers, but for which claims have either not yet been received or
processed. Depending on the health care professional and type of service, the typical billing lag for services can
be up to 90 days from the date of service. Approximately 90% of claims related to medical care services are
known and settled within 90 days from the date of service and substantially all within twelve months. As of
December 31, 2018, our days outstanding in medical payables was 50 days, calculated as total medical payables
divided by total medical costs times the number of days in the period.

In each reporting period, our operating results include the effects of more completely developed medical costs
payable estimates associated with previously reported periods. If the revised estimate of prior period medical
costs is less than the previous estimate, we will decrease reported medical costs in the current period (favorable
development). If the revised estimate of prior period medical costs is more than the previous estimate, we will
increase reported medical costs in the current period (unfavorable development). Medical costs in 2018, 2017
and 2016 included favorable medical cost development related to prior years of $320 million, $690 million and
$220 million, respectively.

In developing our medical costs payable estimates, we apply different estimation methods depending on the
month for which incurred claims are being estimated. For example, for the most recent two months, we estimate
claim costs incurred by applying observed medical cost trend factors to the average per member per month
(PMPM) medical costs incurred in prior months for which more complete claim data is available, supplemented
by a review of near-term completion factors.

Completion Factors. A completion factor is an actuarial estimate, based upon historical experience and analysis
of current trends, of the percentage of incurred claims during a given period that have been adjudicated by us at
the date of estimation. Completion factors are the most significant factors we use in developing our medical costs
payable estimates for periods prior to the most recent two months. Completion factors include judgments in
relation to claim submissions such as the time from date of service to claim receipt, claim inventory levels and
claim processing backlogs, as well as other factors. If actual claims submission rates from providers (which can
be influenced by a number of factors, including provider mix and electronic versus manual submissions) or our
claim processing patterns are different than estimated, our reserve estimates may be significantly impacted.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of these factors and the estimated potential impact on our medical
costs payable estimates for those periods as of December 31, 2018:

Completion Factors Increase (Decrease)
(Decrease) Increase in Factors In Medical Costs Payable
: (in millions)

(ONTS) ot o e st 1 ) e o e O o O e o e G ) S T B Y o (0 s . cadhe KO ootae) o $ 550
(OSSO (25 an 15 Y 0a L s S A Aot A 4 o 4 A TN s LR s A, (et o el el B 366
(OB - arayracs = i L 5 0 1o e 1 ) e 5 e e S 5 g S NS Pl o 1o 1 s S N e s S 182
I s i eorcracns e o i e o B o o R R M e M G I 3 B o PR el (181)
O S R it ok N atent o A P e et B ey S i e ST SN R an I S ), P S 7 BT (362)
OYTSE vt 5 itz ol e o) e SR S . s e Tt b e i & LI R S St A s a2 (541)

Medical Cost Per Member Per Month Trend Factors. Medical cost PMPM trend factors are significant factors
we use in developing our medical costs payable estimates for the most recent two months. Medical cost trend
factors are developed through a comprehensive analysis of claims incurred in prior months, provider contracting
and expected unit costs, benefit design and a review of a broad set of health care utilization indicators, including
but not limited to, pharmacy utilization trends, inpatient hospital authorization data and influenza incidence data
from the National Centers for Disease Control. We also consider macroeconomic variables such as GDP growth,
employment and disposable income. A large number of factors can cause the medical cost trend to vary from our
estimates, including: our ability and practices to manage medical and pharmaceutical costs, changes in level and
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mix of services utilized, mix of benefits offered, including the impact of co-pays and deductibles, changes in
medical practices, catastrophes and epidemics.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of these factors and the estimated potential impact on our medical
costs payable estimates for the most recent two months as of December 31, 2018:

Medical Cost PMPM Quarterly Trend Increase (Decrease)
Increase (Decrease) in Factors In Medical Costs Payable
(in millions)

D0 176 251000 3 o sl TN S ' G PP 2 MR D P a) B A B B B B I B LS e T B G $ 703
S e o I R O I G T S fa I O X M TR R e e R T T T s S X IOA 0 469
L et R e (o P ol £ o ey St (ot e el b e et e e L i SR b 234
(L s iodiad e A S5 T S i S ol A e A s S G Ere SN i N & - MMy ey e e S ) (234)
(D) e semon o oo e A S S S BT T ) - G T O T s ) e s o G ey 1 5 (469)
(B))] s o omen o 8 B e 3 oMo S o b e e ) RS A b S s e S SR S P B T ST e A (703)

The completion factors and medical costs PMPM trend factors analyses above include outcomes that are
considered reasonably likely based on our historical experience estimating liabilities for incurred but not reported
benefit claims.

Management believes the amount of medical costs payable is reasonable and adequate to cover our liability for
unpaid claims as of December 31, 2018; however, actual claim payments may differ from established estimates
as discussed above. Assuming a hypothetical 1% difference between our December 31, 2018 estimates of
medical costs payable and actual medical costs payable, excluding AARP Medicare Supplement Insurance and
any potential offsetting impact from premium rebates, 2018 net earnings would have increased or decreased by
approximately $140 million.

For more detail related to our medical cost estimates, see Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item §, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Revenues

We derive a substantial portion of our revenues from health care insurance premiums. We recognize premium
revenues in the period eligible individuals are entitled to receive health care services. Customers are typically
billed monthly at a contracted rate per eligible person multiplied by the total number of people eligible to receive
services.

Our Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D premium revenues are subject to periodic adjustment under the
CMS risk adjustment payment methodology. The CMS risk adjustment model provides higher per member
payments for enrollees diagnosed with certain conditions and lower payments for enrollees who are healthier. We
estimate risk adjustment revenues based upon the data submitted and expected to be submitted to CMS. As a
result of the variability of factors that determine such estimations, the actual amount of CMS’ retroactive
payments could be materially more or less than our estimates. This may result in favorable or unfavorable
adjustments to our Medicare premium revenue and, accordingly, our profitability. For more detail on premium
revenues, see Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.” Risk adjustment data for our plans is subject to review by the federal and
state governments, including audit by regulators. See Note 12 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part I, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional information regarding
these audits. Our estimates of premiums to be recognized are reduced by any expected premium minimum MLR
rebates payable by us.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill. We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently when an event occurs or
circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. When testing goodwill for
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impairment, we may first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the carrying
value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. During a qualitative analysis, we consider the impact of
changes, if any, to the following factors: macroeconomic, industry and market factors, cost factors, changes in
overall financial performance, and any other relevant events and uncertainties impacting a reporting unit. If our
qualitative assessment indicates that goodwill impairment is more likely than not, we perform additional
quantitative analyses. We may also elect to skip the qualitative testing and proceed directly to the quantitative
testing. For reporting units where a quantitative analysis is performed, we perform a multi-step test measuring the
fair values of the reporting units and comparing them to their aggregate carrying values, including goodwill. If
the fair value is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit, then the implied value of goodwill would be
calculated and compared to the carrying amount of goodwill to determine whether goodwill is impaired.

We estimate the fair values of our reporting units using discounted cash flows, which include assumptions about
a wide variety of internal and external factors. Significant assumptions used in the impairment analysis include
financial projections of free cash flow (including significant assumptions about operations, capital requirements
and income taxes), long-term growth rates for determining terminal value beyond the discretely forecasted
periods and discount rates. For each reporting unit, comparative market multiples are used to corroborate the
results of our discounted cash flow test.

Forecasts and long-term growth rates used for our reporting units are consistent with, and use inputs from, our
internal long-term business plan and strategies. Key assumptions used in these forecasts include:

*  Revenue trends. Key revenue drivers for each reporting unit are determined and assessed. Significant factors
include: customer and/or membership growth, medical trends and the impact and expectations of regulatory
environments. Additional macro-economic assumptions relating to unemployment, GDP growth, interest
rates and inflation are also evaluated and incorporated, as appropriate.

. Medical cost trends. For further discussion of medical cost trends, see the “Medical Cost Trend” section of
Executive Overview-Business Trends and the “Medical Costs Payable” critical accounting estimate above.
Similar factors, including historical and expected medical cost trend levels, are considered in estimating our
long-term medical trends at the reporting unit level.

*  Operating productivity. We forecast expected operating cost levels based on historical levels and
expectations of future operating cost levels.

*  Capital levels. The operating and long-term capital requirements for each business are considered.

Discount rates are determined for each reporting unit and include consideration of the implied risk inherent in
their forecasts. Our most significant estimate in the discount rate determinations involves our adjustments to the
peer company weighted average costs of capital that reflect reporting unit-specific factors. We have not made
any adjustments to decrease a discount rate below the calculated peer company weighted average cost of capital
for any reporting unit. Company-specific adjustments to discount rates are subjective and thus are difficult to
measure with certainty. The passage of time and the availability of additional information regarding areas of
uncertainty with respect to the reporting units’ operations could cause these assumptions to change in the future.
As of October 1, 2018, we completed our annual impairment tests for goodwill with all of our reporting units
having fair values substantially in excess of their carrying values.

Intangible Assets. Our finite-lived intangible assets are subject to impairment tests when events or circumstances
indicate that an asset’s (or asset group’s) carrying value may exceed its estimated fair value. Consideration is
given on a quarterly basis to a number of potential impairment indicators, including: changes in the use of the
assets, changes in legal or other business factors that could affect value, experienced or expected operating cash-
flow deterioration or losses, adverse changes in customer populations, adverse competitive or technological
advances that could impact value and other factors.

Our indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if
impairment indicators exist. To determine if an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired, we compare its
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estimated fair value to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value, an impairment
would be recorded for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value. Intangible assets
were not impaired in 2018.

LEGAL MATTERS

A description of our legal proceedings is presented in Note 12 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Investments in financial instruments such as marketable securities and accounts receivable may subject us to
concentrations of credit risk. Our investments in marketable securities are managed under an investment policy
authorized by our Board of Directors. This policy limits the amounts that may be invested in any one issuer and
generally limits our investments to U.S. government and agency securities, state and municipal securities and
corporate debt obligations that are investment grade. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts
receivable are limited due to the large number of employer groups and other customers that constitute our client
base. As of December 31, 2018, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our primary market risks are exposures to changes in interest rates that impact our investment income and
interest expense and the fair value of certain of our fixed-rate investments and debt, as well as foreign currency
exchange rate risk of the U.S. dollar primarily to the Brazilian real and Chilean peso.

As of December 31, 2018, we had $14 billion of financial assets on which the interest rates received vary with
market interest rates, which may materially impact our investment income. Also as of December 31, 2018,

$9 billion of our financial liabilities, which include commercial paper, debt and deposit liabilities, were at interest
rates that vary with market rates, either directly or through the use of related interest rate swap contracts.

The fair value of certain of our fixed-rate investments and debt also varies with market interest rates. As of
December 31, 2018, $30 billion of our investments were fixed-rate debt securities and $32 billion of our debt was
non-swapped fixed-rate term debt. An increase in market interest rates decreases the market value of fixed-rate
investments and fixed-rate debt. Conversely, a decrease in market interest rates increases the market value of
fixed-rate investments and fixed-rate debt.

We manage exposure to market interest rates by diversifying investments across different fixed-income market
sectors and debt across maturities, as well as by endeavoring to match our floating-rate assets and liabilities over
time, either directly or through the use of interest rate swap contracts. Unrealized gains and losses on investments
in available-for-sale securities are reported in comprehensive income.
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The following tables summarize the impact of hypothetical changes in market interest rates across the entire yield
curve by 1% point or 2% points as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 on our investment income and interest
expense per annum and the fair value of our investments and debt (in millions, except percentages):

December 31, 2018
Investment Interest
Income Per Expense Per Fair Value of Fair Value of
Increase (Decrease) in Market Interest Rate Annum Annum Financial Assets (b)  Financial Liabilities
o) Anrorem B O DSl Sl oy B Aram S B e $ 276 'S 189 § (2,242) $ (5,017)
e R R IS A ot WS - D b ot 18 ST 138 94 (1,140) (2,724)
(] 15 N St S Y P e iy N ) (138) 94) 1,118 3,155
() e o LS e R L i S m e e (276) (189) 2,196 6,953
December 31, 2017
Investment Interest
Income Per Expense Per Fair Value of Fair Value of
Increase (Decrease) in Market Interest Rate Annum (a) Annum (a) Financial Assets (b)  Financial Liabilities
2iT08 ey ma e & S S T T S ARl OV S TR $ 300 $ 170 $ (1,958) $ (4,546)
i e o Y ek s ot oo o v 150 85 (933) (2,460)
()] e MR RO e N A m e Ty v v S LA (150) (85) 950 2,923
() o,5r ot o1 S o B o er ) M Y 1 0 3 (197) (133) L3 6,414

(a) Given the low absolute level of short-term market rates on our floating-rate assets and liabilities as of
December 31, 2017, the assumed hypothetical change in interest rates does not reflect the full 200 basis
point reduction in interest income or interest expense in 2017, as the rate cannot fall below zero.

(b) As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, some of our investments had interest rates below 2% so the assumed
hypothetical change in the fair value of investments does not reflect the full 200 basis point reduction.

We have an exposure to changes in the value of foreign currencies, primarily the Brazilian real and the Chilean
peso, to the U.S. dollar in translation of UnitedHealthcare Global’s operating results at the average exchange rate
over the accounting period, and UnitedHealthcare Global’s assets and liabilities at the spot rate at the end of the
accounting period. The gains or losses resulting from translating foreign assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars are
included in equity and comprehensive income.

An appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the Brazilian real or Chilean peso reduces the carrying value of the net
assets denominated in those currencies. For example, as of December 31, 2018, a hypothetical 10% and 25%
increase in the value of the U.S. dollar against those currencies would have caused a reduction in net assets of
approximately $600 million and $1.4 billion, respectively. We manage exposure to foreign currency earnings risk
primarily by conducting our international business operations in their functional currencies.

As of December 31, 2018, we had $2.0 billion of investments in equity securities, consisting of investments in

non-U.S. dollar fixed-income funds; employee savings plan related investments; and dividend paying stocks.
Valuations in non-U.S. dollar funds are subject to foreign exchange rates.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Subsidiaries:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our
opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 12, 2019 expressed an unqualified
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinions

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/S/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 12, 2019

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.
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UnitedHealth Group
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,  December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2018 2017
Assets
Current assets:
Gashjand'cash equivalents) o i i aam 4 mangbesagamgn ne am o s @ 5 oo g o $ 10866 $ 11,981
Sho e rminVe S METIES s s @ s o S e 3 6o s 5l 03 ki 617 sriwirtorh oo B o e 3,458 3,509
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $712 and $641 ... ... ... . ... 11,388 9,568
Other current receivables, net of allowances of $502 and $440 ... .......... 6,862 6,262
ASSER UNJEGMAMATEMENT 1o ¢ i xemebines e oniu o (5 ERIE 5 53 oo Bt ) 5 ome sk 00 4 1 5 3,032 3,101
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ..................coiiian... 3,086 2,663
Total CUITEeNt @SSELS . . . . ..ottt e e 38,692 37,084
Long-term investments . ... ... ... ...ttt e 32,510 28,341
Property, equipment and capitalized software, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization of $4,141 and $3,694 . .. ... ... ... 8,458 7,013
OCOOAWI 2 55 5 505 B o s s 0 e B O e 0 o BT 5 T o R 0 P 3 0 wen 58,910 54,556
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $4,592 and $4,309 . . .. 9,325 8,489
O T N O e g e L P o T ey i St e, e 4,326 BL5TS
Total assets $ 152221 $ 139,058

Liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests and equity
Current liabilities:

Medicalicostsipayablel, o o ws e hasatsen s gk e pre d B e cad o S ol $ 19,891 $ 17,871

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ......... ... ... ... ... ... ..., 16,705 15,180

Commercial paper and current maturities of long-termdebt ............... 1,978 2,857

Eneatne dmeVEUCS) iz s % o Fors 51 3 6 & 50 510 B 3 8 356 &l 3 o (o) o o500 1 et 2,396 2,269

Othercuient; TABIINES! - nis s s wro o/ s s ohim 2 sxoi o Ewameo 5 s, m s o oo s 12,244 12,286
Total current liabilities . ... ... ... .ottt e e 53,209 50,463
Long-term debt, less current maturities .. ... b e TR N e By T 34,581 28,835
IDELETTEd IMCOMICTUATIES] < e onomer xorsrions Gaeliap =t Eha o shiomsmems b arek b o smes o i 2 s B 9 5 (51 5 2,474 2,182
ORI ab e e i i o ki B e 53 B s S B AL o A B3 e S B S Bt P 5,730 5,556
MotalllTabNIeS) s nisel ke S0kt DT A3 S HC A £ B Las racE B B aa e E s A 95,994 87,036
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests .. ..., 1,908 2,189
Equity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value — 10 shares authorized; no shares issued or

CHISTAN GNP i Sk S I O e Clm e T A s o S 3 1 i Iy S L — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value — 3,000 shares authorized; 960 and 969
1SSUEH,and GUISTATNAIIEL 4 iononsmememenc s wehs s sho s & s e s B o o 0 8 B B 10 10

Additional:paid-inCaPITal . . coomnercns oy o o pnenonsne st e dlsg S @G @58 6 58 56656 — 1,703

Retainedicammings) « mrroatiave - A h05D S 543 ST 00dLE S o DG 18 I b0 55,846 48,730

Accumulated other comprehensiveloss ... ... ... ... ... ... ... - (4,160) (2,667)

Nonredeemable noncontrolling interests . ............. ... ............ 2,623 2,057
Total{equilEasensnn appEey s adson G G PBo0: EIB e oo 0T R T R D S0 6 er o 54,319 49,833
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests and equity ............ $ 152,221 $ 139,058

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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UnitedHealth Group
Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2018 2017 2016
Revenues:
PIEMIUMS;, 3 e aee i S 3 0 5T a1 5 50 S ond 1 0 o M o 38 s (1 e $178,087 $158,453 $144,118
PTOAUCTS x oot e & i T 9 e B B 00 3 M S A AT D NI & 29,601 26,366 26,658
S CTVIGCE Y wowsrs T s e i ol T S % 5 (0 g 00 b S 1 ey el 17,183 15,317 13,236
Investment, andOther: MCOMIS) « e 1 35w b i e 8 6ila A i o e icn Bre aweiE @ & 1,376 1,023 828
ROFALTETCTUEE mihor e crs 5 o bt O Sy s oy e oo e & By A [y o B 226,247 201,159 184,840
Operating costs:
IV TG COS US| Wi ihis bt (o ot Mo e Mo 5 S lom R o e o N PR 145,403 130,036 117,038
O DAl T COSUS it 5 & ach bl Aehnortach aea sk im e AN b i S bl 34,074 29,557 28,401
€ oSt ol ProdusiSiSold) bna e om ear e 5 505 S @GRt 30 T ikaskns tddiadh s 26,998 24,112 24,416
1Depreciation and AMORUZATION, = w51 «s+ e busie 6 510 613 6309 5 P o6 B 9.3 2,428 2,245 2,055
Total(OPEAtMBICOSES «xorinier=daren i b s daraads 4 96 A e SE G atis 2 208,903 185,950 171,910
Earnings fromoperations .................... ... ... . i 17,344 15,209 12,930
INtETESETPCNSE) b ik nf i endst S o ol e o st B 8 ol 00 i e (1,400) (1,186) (1,067)
Earnings before income taxes ............. ... ... . ... ... 15,944 14,023 11,863
Provision for inCome taxes ... ..ottt iinr it (3,562) (3,200) (4,790)
N AT D NG 0 i 0 0 o il i1 PR e i R b e 12,382 10,823 7,073
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests ...................... (396) (265) (56)
Net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group common
SHATChOLACTS) oo oo ms b o O G i e 3 O e Graend 1 & G5 5k b 5 G Ll Tt 4B 5 T $ 11986 $ 10,558 $ 7,017,
Earnings per share attributable to UnitedHealth Group common
shareholders:
BAGHEE . s ion s 5k AR N s i P e s 0 ) S T 28 $ 1245 .- 1095 § 787
IOMRUIREL covi oneni i s oot s 16 B NS A S S B oo s o G B g 1209 § 1092 $ 725
Basic weighted-average number of common shares outstanding ... ... 963 964 952
Dilutive effect of common share equivalents ....................... 20 21 16
Diluted weighted-average number of common shares outstanding . ... 983 985 968
Anti-dilutive shares excluded from the calculation of dilutive effect of
commenyshatesequiVAlents: 83 og 38/ te ok 9t det Laas s 29 300 B oastys 6 ) 3

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

51



UnitedHealth Group

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2018 2017 2016
N €t AT IN P SH et st e S F o B 3 B et 7 s 3 B rwr ey Tt oo i $12,382 $10,823 $7,073
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Gross unrealized (losses) gains on investment securities during the
BENO A 5 5100 rch AT AR A T MR IR AR AR SN O I AT EE R (294) 209 (73)
Income taxeffect ... ... ... ... . . . .. . . . ... 67 (72) 26
Total unrealized (losses) gains, netoftax ................... (227) 137 a7
Gross reclassification adjustment for net realized gains included in net
CANINESH fred 1 S OIS G 3 X e U bl 3 B s o g e s s 1 (62) (83) (166)
IncometAefett « o 106t @eas L0 00 50 50 0 Frers e B s T ke 1 14 30 60
Total reclassification adjustment, netof tax ................. (48) (53) (106)
Total foreign currency translation (losses) gains .................. (1,242) (70) 806
Other comprehensive (loss) income . .........c.ooiieiininennnnen.. (1,517) 14 653
COMPrehiensivVe; IMEOMIE) o i fad oo s o f B L0 50 501 8 5 BS6d 4a bas: 650 T8 16 E 10,865 10,837 7,726
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests .............. (396) (265) (56)

Comprehensive income attributable to UnitedHealth Group common
shareholders

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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UnitedHealth Group
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income
(Loss)
Net Foreign
ditional Un(r;ez!lized Tcu"lent?)ln Nonredeemable
Addition. ains ranslati
M Paid-In Retained (Losses)on (Losses) Noncontrolling Total
(in millions) Shares Amount Capital Earnings Investments Gains Interests Equity
Balance at January 1,2016 ......... 953 1 1073 29 $37.125 $ 56 § (3390 % (105) $33,725
Adjustment to adopt ASU 2016-09 . . . 28 28
INCEEATNINGES g wis-o it v midt o 3 1058 1 s 7,017 40 71057
Other comprehensive (loss) income . . (153) 806 653
Issuances of common stock, and
felated taRCHEalS] «.s s wvam o busninome 9 - - 191 191
Share-based compensation ......... 455 455
Common share repurchases . ........ (10) — (316) (964) (1,280)
Cash dividends paid on common
shares ($2.375 pershare) . ........ (2,261) (2,261)
Acquisition of redeemable
noncontrolling interest shares . .. .. (143) (143)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest
fair value and other adjustments . . . (216) (216)
Distributions to nonredeemable
noncontrolling interest . . ......... (32) (32)
Balance at December 31,2016 ...... 952 10 — 40,945 97 (2,584) O 38,577
INCHCATMINGSY. . ey vs ot s S 3.6 s 5.6 10,558 194 10,752
Other comprehensive income (loss) . . 84 (70) 14
Issuances of common stock, and
relateditaxgefTects) = s wision o me 26 — 2,225 25225
Share-based compensation ......... 582 582
Common share repurchases . ........ 9 —  (1,500) (1,500)
Cash dividends paid on common
shares ($2.875 pershare) ......... (2,773) (2,773)
Acquisition of redeemable
noncontrolling interest shares .. ... 283 283
Redeemable noncontrolling interest
fair value and other adjustments . .. 113 113
Acquisition of nonredeemable
noncontrolling interests . ......... 2102, 2112
Distributions to nonredeemable
noncontrolling interest . . ......... (152) (152)
Balance at December 31,2017 ...... 969 10 1,703 48,730 (13) (2,654) 2,057 49,833
Adjustment to adopt ASU 2016-01 . . . 24 24 —
NeReamINgs) & -« v s aea e v s Emm S 11,986 278 12259
Other comprehensive loss .......... @7s) (1,242) CLS17)
Issuances of common stock, and
related tax effects .............. 10 - 814 814
Share-based compensation ......... 620 620
Common share repurchases . ........ (19) — (2,974) (1,526) (4,500)
Cash dividends paid on common
shares ($3.45 pershare) .. ........ (3,320) (3,320)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests i
fair value and other adjustments . .. (163) (163)
Acquisition of nonredeemable
noncontrolling interests . ......... SO 521
Distributions to nonredeemable
noncontrolling interests . ......... (228)  (228)
Balance at December 31,2018 . ..... 960 $ 10 $ — $55.846 $ (264) $ (3,896) $ 2,623 $54,319

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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UnitedHealth Group
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Operating activities
N T L T Sy e e 3 T T e T o2 e SN )y AR D e EF SRR $12,382 $10,823 $ 7,073
Noncash items:
Depreciation and aAmORtiZation, ... sc o pcnms o260 - 00581005 @ s BLEE 2,428 2,245 2,055
DEfeHted iNCOMETANES, .. sior st o cxemeon i o080 50153 I 5 BI040 BT 710 Ao 42 (965) 81
Shafe-based COMPEnSation o...c: et m G 8 BIAT0 1000 0IgI9 D 40 638 597 485
o o T L e e T p— a1 217 (82)

Net change in other operating items, net of effects from acquisitions and
changes in AARP balances:

ACCOUNTS\IECENVABLE) 5 x50 B iR 3 0 A T ~ironed e €15 o v S i (1,351) (1,062) (1,357)
OMhERASTEIST ot e it ot i O e AT hs GO a5 B S s s B (750) (630) (1,601)
Medical:COSISFPAYADIE. - i ¢o - s o ormmnio o o i oromer omere o (21 s forater o s orebar o i o ok o 1,831 1,284 1,849
Accounts payable and other liabilities ............... ... ... .. ...... 526 930 1,494
UNCATNEAITENETIIES] o 5 o e11or oo asl & 1ot oo 0 6 e 15 51 omaped 1 & koo 018 461510 510 4 G Bl 1 38 57 (202)
Cash flows from operating activities ............................. g 15,713 13,596 9,795
Investing activities .
Purchases of INVESMENES . . . ... ... tuiint e it (14,010) (14,588) (17,547)
Salesiof INVESIMENTS: : &5 i 3 6 h s 610 s e S e (615 6 G R 18 o 515 € 8151 on G o 3,641 4,623 7,339
Maturities Of INVESUMENTS . . . .. oottt e ittt et et 6,270 5,646 4,281
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash assumed ......................... (5,997) 2,131 (1,760)
Purchases of property, equipment and capitalized software ................ (2,063) (2,023)  (1,705)
O RN et e Bt o e R G i s a SN CR A eR RGBT Dl S e s (226) (126) 37
Cash flows used for investing activities . ................ . ... ... (12,385) (8,599) (9,355)
Financing activities
Common share repuIrChases . .. ........ueeneern ot aneenennenennenaenn. (4,500) (1,500) (1,280)
Cashdividends paid ..................... e Pt (3,3200 (2,773) (2,261
Proceeds from common stock issuances ................... ... ... 838 688 429
Repayments:of TOnNSAEEmMAEBU .5 o 55 m 54 5 o urim s1g e sneriokersnoms o ) syomirmsn o ot Sror (2,600) (4,398) (2,596)
Repayments of commercial paper,net .............c.. .. (201)  (3,508) (382)
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt ... ............ I —— N o 6,935 5,291 3,968
Customer funds administered ... ... ... e (131) 3,172 1,692
O TR e a3 e O S AT B N A A8 Sy (1,386) (413) (581)
Cash flowsiused forfinancingiactivities, ssszesnijsnsachreizso a9t prEis (4,365) (3,441) (1,011)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents .............. (78) (&) 78
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents .................... .. (1,115) 1,551 (493)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period ....................... 11,981 10,430 10,923
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period ............................ $10,866 $11,981 $10,430
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
C S PATA T OT TTEETES R reonsnwah o iy st S5 R L 1 40N R e e T b R S0 $ 1,410 $ 1,133 $ 1,055
Cash{PaIT OT TNCOMEMARES v comers s 0 5o it 1o b i iy e s e 5.0 o 8 B 5 BT 54 3,257 4,004 4,726
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities
‘Common stock issued for acquisitions . . ................ ... . ... $ — §$2164 § —

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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UnitedHealth Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business

UnitedHealth Group Incorporated (individually and together with its subsidiaries, “UnitedHealth Group” and
“the Company”) is a diversified health care company dedicated to helping people live healthier lives and helping
make the health system work better for everyone.

Through its diversified family of businesses, the Company leverages core competencies in data and health
information; advanced technology; and clinical expertise. These core competencies are deployed within two
distinct, but strategically aligned, business platforms: health benefits operating under UnitedHealthcare and
health services operating under Optum.

2. Basis of Presentation, Use of Estimates and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The Company has prepared the Consolidated Financial Statements according to U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and has included the accounts of UnitedHealth Group and its subsidiaries.

Use of Estimates

These Consolidated Financial Statements include certain amounts based on the Company’s best estimates and
judgments. The Company’s most significant estimates relate to estimates and judgments for medical costs
payable and revenues, valuation and impairment analysis of goodwill and other intangible assets and estimates of
other current liabilities and other current receivables. Certain of these estimates require the application of
complex assumptions and judgments, often because they involve matters that are inherently uncertain and will
likely change in subsequent periods. The impact of any change in estimates is included in earnings in the period
in which the estimate is adjusted.

Revenues
Premiums

Premium revenues are primarily derived from risk-based health insurance arrangements in which the premium is
typically at a fixed rate per individual served for a one-year period, and the Company assumes the economic risk
of funding its customers’ health care and related administrative costs.

Premium revenues are recognized in the period in which eligible individuals are entitled to receive health care
benefits. Health care premium payments received from the Company’s customers in advance of the service
period are recorded as unearned revenues. Fully insured commercial products of U.S. health plans, Medicare
Advantage and Medicare Prescription Drug Benefit (Medicare Part D) plans with medical loss ratios as
calculated under the definitions in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) and related federal and
state regulations and implementing regulation, that fall below certain targets are required to rebate ratable
portions of their premiums annually. Medicare Advantage premium revenue includes the impact of the Centers
for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) quality bonuses based on plans’ Star ratings.

Premium revenues are recognized based on the estimated premiums earned, net of projected rebates, because the
Company is able to reasonably estimate the ultimate premiums of these contracts. The Company also records
premium revenues from capitation arrangements at its OptumHealth businesses.

The Company’s Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D premium revenues are subject to periodic adjustment
under CMS’ risk adjustment payment methodology. CMS deploys a risk adjustment model that apportions
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premiums paid to all health plans according to health severity and certain demographic factors. The CMS risk
adjustment model provides higher per member payments for enrollees diagnosed with certain conditions and
lower payments for enrollees who are healthier. Under this risk adjustment methodology, CMS calculates the risk
adjusted premium payment using diagnosis data from hospital inpatient, hospital outpatient and physician
treatment settings. The Company and health care providers collect, capture and submit the necessary and
available diagnosis data to CMS within prescribed deadlines. The Company estimates risk adjustment premium
revenues based upon the diagnosis data submitted and expected to be submitted to CMS. Risk adjustment data
for the Company’s plans are subject to review by the government, including audit by regulators. See Note 12 for
additional information regarding these audits.

Products and Services

For the Company’s OptumRx pharmacy care services business, the majority of revenues are derived from
products sold through a contracted network of retail pharmacies or home delivery, specialty and compounding
pharmacy facilities. Product revenues include ingredient costs (net of rebates), a negotiated dispensing fee and
customer co-payments for drugs dispensed through the Company’s mail-service pharmacy. In retail pharmacy
transactions, revenues recognized exclude the member’s applicable co-payment. Pharmacy products are billed to
customers based on the number of transactions occurring during the billing period. Product revenues are
recognized when the prescriptions are dispensed through the retail network or received by consumers through the
Company’s mail-service pharmacy. The Company has entered into contracts in which it is primarily obligated to
pay its network pharmacy providers for benefits provided to their customers regardless of whether the Company
is paid. The Company is also involved in establishing the prices charged by retail pharmacies, determining which
drugs will be included in formulary listings and selecting which retail pharmacies will be included in the network
offered to plan sponsors’ members and accordingly, are reported on a gross basis.

Services revenue consists of fees derived from services performed for customers that self-insure the health care
costs of their employees and employees’ dependents. Under service fee contracts, the Company receives
monthly, a fixed fee per employee, which is recognized as revenue as the Company performs, or makes available,
the applicable services to the customer. The customers retain the risk of financing health care costs for their
employees and employees’ dependents, and the Company administers the payment of customer funds to
physicians and other health care professionals from customer-funded bank accounts. As the Company has neither
the obligation for funding the health care costs, nor the primary responsibility for providing the medical care, the
Company does not recognize premium revenue and medical costs for these contracts in its Consolidated
Financial Statements. For these fee-based customer arrangements, the Company provides coordination and
facilitation of medical services; transaction processing; customer, consumer and care professional services; and
access to contracted networks of physicians, hospitals and other health care professionals. These services are
performed throughout the contract period.

Revenues are also comprised of a number of services and products sold through Optum. OptumHealth’s service
revenues include net patient service revenues that are recorded based upon established billing rates, less
allowances for contractual adjustments, and are recognized as services are provided. For its financial services
offerings, OptumHealth charges fees and earns investment income on managed funds. OptumlInsight provides
software and information products, advisory consulting arrangements and services outsourcing contracts, which
may be delivered over several years. OptumlInsight revenues are generally recognized over time and measured
each period based on the progress to date as services are performed or made available to customers.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, accounts receivables related to products and services were $3.9 billion and
$3.7 billion, respectively. In 2018 and 2017, the Company had no material bad-debt expense and there were no
material contract assets, contract liabilities or deferred contract costs recorded on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2018 or 2017.

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, revenue recognized from performance obligations related to
prior periods (for example, due to changes in transaction price) was not material.
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Revenue expected to be recognized in any future year related to remaining performance obligations, excluding
revenue pertaining to contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less, contracts where
revenue is recognized as invoiced and contracts with variable consideration related to undelivered performance
obligations, is not material.

See Note 13 for disaggregation of revenue by segment and type.

Medical Costs and Medical Costs Payable

The Company’s estimate of medical costs payable represents management’s best estimate of its liability for
unpaid medical costs as of December 31, 2018.

Each period, the Company re-examines previously established medical costs payable estimates based on actual
claim submissions and other changes in facts and circumstances. As more complete claim information becomes
available, the Company adjusts the amount of the estimates and includes the changes in estimates in medical
costs in the period in which the change is identified. Approximately 90% of claims related to medical care
services are known and settled within 90 days from the date of service and substantially all within twelve
months.

Medical costs and medical costs payable include estimates of the Company’s obligations for medical care
services that have been rendered on behalf of insured consumers, but for which claims have either not yet been
received, processed, or paid. The Company develops estimates for medical care services incurred but not
reported (IBNR), which includes estimates for claims that have not been received or fully processed, using an
actuarial process that is consistently applied, centrally controlled and automated. The actuarial models consider
factors such as time from date of service to claim processing, seasonal variances in medical care consumption,
health care professional contract rate changes, medical care utilization and other medical cost trends, membership
volume and demographics, the introduction of new technologies, benefit plan changes, and business mix changes
related to products, customers and geography.

In developing its medical costs payable estimates, the Company applies different estimation methods depending
on which incurred claims are being estimated. For the most recent two months, the Company estimates claim
costs incurred by applying observed medical cost trend factors to the average per member per month (PMPM)
medical costs incurred in prior months for which more complete claim data are available, supplemented by a
review of near-term completion factors (actuarial estimates, based upon historical experience and analysis of
current trends, of the percentage of incurred claims during a given period that have been adjudicated by the
Company at the date of estimation). For months prior to the most recent two months, the Company applies the
completion factors to actual claims adjudicated-to-date to estimate the expected amount of ultimate incurred
claims for those months.

Cost of Products Sold

The Company’s cost of products sold includes the cost of pharmaceuticals dispensed to unaffiliated customers
either directly at its home delivery and specialty pharmacy locations, or indirectly through its nationwide network
of participating pharmacies. Rebates attributable to non-affiliated clients are accrued as rebates receivable and a
reduction of cost of products sold, with a corresponding payable for the amounts of the rebates to be remitted to
those non-affiliated clients in accordance with their contracts and recorded in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations as a reduction of product revenue. Cost of products sold also includes the cost of personnel to support
the Company’s transaction processing services, system sales, maintenance and professional services.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that have an original maturity of three months or less.
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their carrying value because of the short maturity of the
instruments.
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Investments with maturities of less than one year are classified as short-term. Because of regulatory
requirements, certain investments are included in long-term investments regardless of their maturity date. The
Company classifies these investments as held-to-maturity and reports them at amortized cost. Substantially all
other investments are classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair value based on quoted market prices,
where available. Equity investments, with certain exceptions, are measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognized in net earnings.

The Company excludes unrealized gains and losses on investments in available-for-sale debt securities from net
earnings and reports them as comprehensive income and, net of income tax effects, as a separate component of

equity. To calculate realized gains and losses on the sale of debt securities, the Company specifically identifies

the cost of each investment sold.

The Company evaluates an investment for impairment by considering the length of time and extent to which
market value has been less than cost or amortized cost, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the
issuer as well as specific events or circumstances that may influence the operations of the issuer and the
Company’s intent to sell the security or the likelihood that it will be required to sell the security before recovery
of the entire amortized cost.

New information and the passage of time can change these judgments. The Company manages its investment
portfolio to limit its exposure to any one issuer or market sector, and largely limits its investments to investment
grade quality. Securities downgraded below policy minimums after purchase will be disposed of in accordance
with the Company’s investment policy.

Assets Under Management

The Company provides health insurance products and services to members of AARP under a Supplemental
Health Insurance Program (the AARP Program) and to AARP members and non-members under separate
Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D arrangements. The products and services under the AARP Program
include supplemental Medicare benefits, hospital indemnity insurance, including insurance for individuals
between 50 to 64 years of age, and other related products.

Pursuant to the Company’s agreement, AARP Program assets are managed separately from the Company’s
general investment portfolio and are used to pay costs associated with the AARP Program. These assets are
invested at the Company’s discretion, within investment guidelines approved by AARP. The Company does not
guarantee any rates of return on these investments and, upon any transfer of the AARP Program contract to
another entity, the Company would transfer cash equal in amount to the fair value of these investments at the date
of transfer to that entity. Because the purpose of these assets is to fund the medical costs payable, the rate
stabilization fund (RSF) liabilities and other related liabilities associated with this AARP contract, assets under
management are classified as current assets, consistent with the classification of these liabilities.

The effects of changes in other balance sheet amounts associated with the AARP Program also accrue to the
overall benefit of the AARP policyholders through the RSF balance. Accordingly, the Company excludes the
effect of such changes in its Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Other Current Receivables
Other current receivables include amounts due from pharmaceutical manufacturers for rebates and other
miscellaneous amounts due to the Company.

The Company’s pharmacy care services businesses contract with pharmaceutical manufacturers, some of which
provide rebates based on use of the manufacturers’ products by its affiliated and non-affiliated clients. The
Company accrues rebates as they are earned by its clients on a monthly basis based on the terms of the applicable
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contracts, historical data and current estimates. The pharmacy care services businesses bill these rebates to the
manufacturers on a monthly or quarterly basis depending on the contractual terms and record rebates attributable
to affiliated clients as a reduction to medical costs. The Company generally receives rebates two to five months
after billing. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, total pharmaceutical manufacturer rebates receivable included
in other receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets amounted to $4.2 billion and $3.8 billion, respectively.

Property, Equipment and Capitalized Software

Property, equipment and capitalized software are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Capitalized software consists of certain costs incurred in the development of internal-use software,
including external direct costs of materials and services and applicable payroll costs of employees devoted to
specific software development.

The Company calculates depreciation and amortization using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. The useful lives for property, equipment and capitalized software are:

PG Utes, fixOiTesiand EqUITMEnt . chsg e M barib-3 il o s A5 Bt Ll s oha s nrres v 3 5850 o 3 to 10 years
B TR ey v o o o S s e S Y ) L s [Py (1 e e S ar e iy s 3 @ oG 35 to 40 years
Eapitalized; SOIMWATE) rmv o Soromwasiomde o6 0 o ooty SO Em e is oD oD 6 D A Has m bt o8 oy 5y 3 to 5 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the remaining lease term or their estimated useful
economic life.

Goodwill

To determine whether goodwill is impaired, annually or more frequently if needed, the Company performs a
multi-step impairment test. The Company may first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than
not that the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. The Company may also elect to
skip the qualitative testing and proceed directly to the quantitative testing. When performing quantitative testing,
the Company first estimates the fair values of its reporting units using discounted cash flows. To determine fair
values, the Company must make assumptions about a wide variety of internal and external factors. Significant
assumptions used in the impairment analysis include financial projections of free cash flow (including significant
assumptions about operations, capital requirements and income taxes), long-term growth rates for determining
terminal value and discount rates. Comparative market multiples are used to corroborate the results of the
discounted cash flow test. If the fair value is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit, then the implied
value of goodwill would be calculated and compared to the carrying amount of goodwill to determine whether
goodwill is impaired.

There was no impairment of goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2018.

Intangible Assets

The Company’s intangible assets are subject to impairment tests when events or circumstances indicate that an
intangible asset (or asset group) may be impaired. The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets are also
tested for impairment annually. There was no impairment of intangible assets during the year ended
December 31, 2018. :

Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities include health savings account deposits ($7.5 billion and $6.4 billion as of December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively), deposits under the Medicare Part D program, the RSF associated with the AARP
Program, accruals for premium rebate payments under the ACA, the current portion of future policy benefits and
customer balances.
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Policy Acquisition Costs

The Company’s short duration health insurance contracts typically have a one-year term and may be canceled by
the customer with at least 30 days’ notice. Costs related to the acquisition and renewal of short duration customer
‘ contracts are primarily charged to expense as incurred.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Company’s subsidiaries whose redemption is outside the control of
the Company are classified as temporary equity. The following table provides details of the Company’s
redeemable noncontrolling interests’ activity for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

(in millions) 2018 2017
Redeemable noncontrolling interests, beginning of period ............. ... ... .. ..... $2,189 $2,012
INEREATIMUTIOF ron s o ke 8 AT e ST o e P R A BN R R T St e e b e 123 71
AVGETTISTLLEIITS 35300 b meh el Mo 0 8 e A e RN MO SN YT N PN B G 0 3 E 102 565
R T ] GTTSY oo b b koo A e e SRR b A Kb e R AN R R ST D D A S D 3 (90) (309)
S R D O NSy sk e et 3 th S B S S B A S & T Y T S T B EREE A Jad C 5 B Al 35 T8 SAsE (53) (38)
Eairvaluesandioiheradjustmentst saseoon som0 06 308 BABIEES 3 ME LA oo SR SO S HEaIIa5S (363) (1.12)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests, end of period . .......... .. .. .. ... ... ...l $1,908 $2,189

Share-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense for share-based awards, including stock options, stock-settled
stock appreciation rights (SARs) and restricted stock and restricted stock units (collectively, restricted shares), on
a straight-line basis over the related service period (generally the vesting period) of the award, or to an
employee’s eligible retirement date under the award agreement, if earlier. Restricted shares vest ratably,
primarily over two to five years and compensation expense related to restricted shares is based on the share price
on the date of grant. Stock options and SARs vest ratably primarily over four years and may be exercised up to
10 years from the date of grant. Compensation expense related to stock options and SARs is based on the fair
value at the date of grant, which is estimated on the date of grant using a binomial option-pricing model. Under
the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), eligible employees are allowed to purchase the
Company’s stock at a discounted price, which is 85% of the lower market price of the Company’s common stock
at the beginning or at the end of the six-month purchase period. Share-based compensation expense for all
programs is recognized in operating costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Net Earnings Per Common Share

The Company computes basic earnings per common share attributable to UnitedHealth Group common
shareholders by dividing net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group common shareholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The Company determines diluted net earnings
per common share attributable to UnitedHealth Group common shareholders using the weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for potentially dilutive shares associated with stock
options, SARs, restricted shares and the ESPP (collectively, common stock equivalents), using the treasury stock
method. The treasury stock method assumes a hypothetical issuance of shares to settle the share-based awards,
with the assumed proceeds used to purchase common stock at the average market price for the period. Assumed
proceeds include the amount the employee must pay upon exercise and the average unrecognized compensation
cost. The difference between the number of shares assumed issued and number of shares assumed purchased
represents the dilutive shares.
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Health Insurance Industry Tax

The ACA includes an annual, nondeductible insurance industry tax (Health Insurance Industry Tax) to be levied
proportionally across the insurance industry for risk-based health insurance products. A one year moratorium on
the collection of the Health Insurance Industry Tax will occur in 2019.

The Company estimates its liability for the Health Insurance Industry Tax based on a ratio of the Company’s
applicable net premiums written compared to the U.S. health insurance industry total applicable net premiums,
both for the previous calendar year. The Company records in full the estimated liability for the Health Insurance
Industry Tax at the beginning of the calendar year with a corresponding deferred cost that is amortized to
operating costs on the Consolidated Statements of Operations using a straight-line method over the calendar year.
The liability is recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and the corresponding deferred cost is
recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standard Update (ASU)
No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” as modified by ASUs 2018-01, 2018-10, 2018-11 and 2018-20 (collectively,
ASU 2016-02). Under ASU 2016-02, an entity is required to recognize assets and liabilities for the rights and
obligations created by leases on the entity’s balance sheet for both finance and operating leases. For leases with a
term of 12 months or less, the Company elected to not recognize lease assets and lease liabilities and expense the
leases over a straight-line basis for the term of those leases. ASU 2016-02 requires new disclosures that depict
the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows pertaining to an entity’s leases. The Company adopted ASU
2016-02 on January 1, 2019, using the cumulative effect upon adoption approach. The adoption resulted in no
material impact to the Company’s balance sheet, results of operations, equity or cash flows.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, “Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10):
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (ASU 2016-01). Most notably, the
new guidance requires that equity investments, with certain exemptions, be measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognized in net income as opposed to other comprehensive income. The Company adopted ASU
2016-01 on a prospective basis effective January 1, 2018, as required, and reclassified $24 million from
accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings.

The Company has determined that there have been no other recently adopted or issued accounting standards that
had, or will have, a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements.
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3. Investments

A summary of debt securities by major security type is as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
(in millions) Cost Gains Losses Value
December 31, 2018
Debt securities — available-for-sale:
U.S. government and agency obligations ........... $ 3434 $ 13 $ (42) $ 3405
State and municipal obligations .................. T 117 61 57 7,121
Corporate obligations .......................... 15,366 14 (218) 15,162
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ........... 4,947 11 (106) 4,852
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ....... 1,376 2 (20) 1,358
Total debt securities — available-for-sale .............. 32,240 101 (443) 31,898
Debt securities — held-to-maturity:
U.S. government and agency obligations ........... 255 1 @) 254
State and municipal obligations .................. 11 — — 11
COTporate: OBIIZAIOTES]  :\cus a mus: s o e bewests us1 s e swins 355 —- — 355
Total debt securities — held-to-maturity ............... 621 1 ) ) 620
ROl AEDUSCCUTITIES, oxcsisians: wmsieiion s omionsiis on s sk SusmesGisls 556 5 53 6 $ 3281 $ 102 $§ (445 $ 32,518
December 31, 2017
Debt securities — available-for-sale:
U.S. government and agency obligations ........... $ 2673 % 1§ (30) $§ 2644
State and municipal obligations .................. 7,596 99 (35) 7,660
Corporate obligations) » g ya g ris s ens - aame saea o 13,181 57 (44) 13,194
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ........... 3,942 fl (38) 3911
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ....... 1,018 3 (6) 1,015
Total debt securities — available-for-sale .............. 28,410 167 (153) 28,424
Debt securities — held-to-maturity: ‘
U.S. government and agency obligations ........... 254 1 @) 254
State and municipal obligations .................. 2 — — 2
Corporate obligations) ¢ uyweave saysapwsey g orgeas 280 — - 280
Total debt securities — held-to-maturity ............... 536 1 (1 536
Total debt SECURIMTIES) o) e ik e i mowen iz o b onh o wad $ 28946 $ 168 $ (154) $ 28,960

Nearly all of the Company’s investments in mortgage-backed securities were rated AAA as of December 31,

2018.

The Company held $2.0 billion of equity securities as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The
Company’s investments in equity securities primarily consist of employee savings plan related investments,
Brazilian real denominated fixed-income funds and dividend paying stocks, with readily determinable fair

values. Additionally, the Company’s investments included $1.5 billion and $0.9 billion of equity method

investments in operating businesses in the health care sector, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities as of December 31, 2018, by contractual maturity, were as

follows:

Available-for-Sale

Held-to-Maturity

Amortized Fair Amortized  Fair
(in millions) Cost Value Cost Value
D) R E LN ONE Y ATROTLICS8! n. i it s o 5 s el B0 & O W & @ 5 [ AN S T i e $ 3560 $ 3551 $ 150 $150
Duckafterone Yean thEoOUBh Ve YEaTS) s aias 3 ms oo s o 50 laae 44 12,432 12,297 213 212
Duetafter: fiveyears thfoUgh tEN YEats! & snw be's o ders & sus @ g o s s 7,362 7,270 129 129
IDUCTATETH IO VAT ccxnt s e x5t ot e el N e B 2,563 2,570 129 129
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ........................ 4,947 4,852 — —
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities .................... 1,376 1358 e =
Total debt securities . ........... ottt $32,240 $31,898 $ 621 $620

The fair value of available-for-sale investments with gross unrealized losses by major security type and length of
time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position were as follows:

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross
Fair Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
(in millions) Value Value Losses Value Losses
December 31, 2018
Debt securities — available-for-sale:
U.S. government and agency obligations . . $ 998 $ 1,425 35) $ 2423 §$ (42)
State and municipal obligations . ... .. 1,334 2,491 (46) 3,825 (57)
Corporate obligations .............. 8,105 4,239 (109) 12,344 (218)
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ... 1,296 2,388 (84) 3,684 (106)
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed
SECUnl SV prweannt 25t T I b s Bah 622 459 (13) 1,081 (20)
Total debt securities — available-for-sale $12,355 $11,002 (287) $23,357 $ (443)
December 31, 2017
Debt securities — available-for-sale:
U.S. government and agency obligations .. $ 1,249 $ 1,027 (22) $ 2276 $ (30)
State and municipal obligations ...... 2,599 866 (14) 3,465 (35)
Corporate obligations .............. 5,901 1,242 21) 7,143 (44)
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities . . . 1,657 1,162 26) 2,819 (38)
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed
SECURITIES  5u. 50w oo e mais v one bt d ' 411 144 @) 555 (6)
Total debt securities — available-for-sale $11,817 67) $ 4,441 (86) $16,258 $ (153)

The Company’s unrealized losses from all securities as of December 31, 2018 were generated from
approximately 19,000 positions out of a total of 31,000 positions. The Company believes that it will collect the
principal and interest due on its debt securities that have an amortized cost in excess of fair value. The unrealized

losses were primarily caused by interest rate increases and not by unfavorable changes in the credit quality

associated with these securities. At each reporting period, the Company evaluates securities for impairment when

the fair value of the investment is less than its amortized cost. The Company evaluated the underlying credit

quality and credit ratings of the issuers, noting no significant deterioration since purchase. As of December 31,
2018, the Company did not have the intent to sell any of the securities in an unrealized loss position. Therefore,
the Company believes these losses to be temporary.
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4. Fair Value

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value in the Consolidated Financial Statements or have fair
values disclosed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These assets and liabilities are classified
into one of three levels of a hierarchy defined by GAAP. In instances in which the inputs used to measure fair
value fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company’s
assessment of the significance of a particular item to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment,
including the consideration of inputs specific to the asset or liability.

The fair value hierarchy is summarized as follows:
Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets/liabilities in active markets.
Level 2 — Other observable inputs, either directly or indirectly, including:
* Quoted prices for similar assets/liabilities in active markets;

* Quoted prices for identical or similar assets/liabilities in inactive markets (e.g., few transactions,
limited information, noncurrent prices, high variability over time);

* Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset/liability (e.g., interest rates, yield
curves, implied volatilities, credit spreads); and

* Inputs that are corroborated by other observable market data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data.

There was no transfers in or out of Level 3 financial assets or liabilities during the year ended December 31, 2018
or 2017.

Nonfinancial assets and liabilities or financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain circumstances, such as when the Company
records an impairment. There were no significant fair value adjustments for these assets and liabilities recorded
during the year ended December 31, 2018 or 2017.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value and determine the fair value
hierarchy classification of each class of financial instrument included in the tables below:

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value as
maturities are less than three months. Fair values of cash equivalent instruments that do not trade on a regular
basis in active markets are classified as Level 2.

Debt and Equity Securities. Fair values of debt and equity securities are based on quoted market prices, where
available. The Company obtains one price for each security primarily from a third-party pricing service (pricing
service), which generally uses quoted or other observable inputs for the determination of fair value. The pricing
service normally derives the security prices through recently reported trades for identical or similar securities,
and, if necessary, makes adjustments through the reporting date based upon available observable market
information. For securities not actively traded, the pricing service may use quoted market prices of comparable
instruments or discounted cash flow analyses, incorporating inputs that are currently observable in the markets
for similar securities. Inputs that are often used in the valuation methodologies include, but are not limited to,
benchmark yields, credit spreads, default rates, prepayment speeds and nonbinding broker quotes. As the
Company is responsible tor the determination of fair value, it performs quarterly analyses on the prices received
from the pricing service to determine whether the prices are reasonable estimates of fair value. Specifically, the
Company compares the prices received from the pricing service to prices reported by a secondary pricing source,
such as its custodian, its investment consultant and third-party investment advisors. Additionally, the Company

64



compares changes in the reported market values and returns to relevant market indices to test the reasonableness
of the reported prices. The Company’s internal price verification procedures and reviews of fair value
methodology documentation provided by independent pricing services have not historically resulted in
adjustment in the prices obtained from the pricing service.

Fair values of debt securities that do not trade on a regular basis in active markets but are priced using other
observable inputs are classified as Level 2.

Fair value estimates for Level 1 and Level 2 equity securities are based on quoted market prices for actively
traded equity securities and/or other market data for the same or comparable instruments and transactions in
establishing the prices.

The fair values of Level 3 investments in corporate bonds are estimated using valuation techniques that rely
heavily on management assumptions and qualitative observations.

Throughout the procedures discussed above in relation to the Company’s processes for validating third-party
pricing information, the Company validates the understanding of assumptions and inputs used in security pricing
and determines the proper classification in the hierarchy based on that understanding.

Assets Under Management. Assets under management consists of debt securities and other investments held to
fund costs associated with the AARP Program and are priced and classified using the same methodologies as the

Company’s investments in debt and equity securities.

Long-Term Debt. The fair values of the Company’s long-term debt are estimated and classified using the same
methodologies as the Company’s investments in debt securities.
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The following table presents a summary of fair value measurements by level and carrying values for items

measured at fair value on a recurring basis-in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Quoted Prices Other Total
in Active Observable Unobservable Fair and
Markets Inputs Inputs Carrying
(in millions) (Level 1) (Level 2) . (Level 3) Value
December 31, 2018
Cash and cash equivalents ................. . .ovoon.. $ 10,757 $ 109 $ — $10,866
Debt securities — available-for-sale: .
U.S. government and agency obligations ........... % 3,060 345 — 3,405
State and municipal obligations .................... — T2 - 8]
Corporate ODIIFAMOMS' « - = uiseis omsirarem swerers o sharei o fin s 39 14,950 173 15,162
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ............. — 4,852 — 4,852
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ......... — 1,358 - 1,358
Total debt securities — available-for-sale ................ 3,099 28,626 173 31,898
EqUity1SCCUBITIES .. -.orae - s e b o5 & s iy ot o1 5 o S 0 5 [ 08 1,832 13 — 1,845
Assets under management . ...........eeiei i 1,086 1,938 8 3,032
Total asselsratifairvalue. o5 @ eomme < o @ 20 oE 06 5 6 5 .o s @ i $ 16774 $ 30,686 $ 181 $47,641
Percentage of total assets at fair value ................... 35% 65% —% 100%
December 31, 2017
Cashiand\CasEaUIVAIENTS wiu @ vomes @ vim vl bt s s ot 5. S $ 11,718  § 263 $ — $11,981
Debt securities — available-for-sale:
U.S. government and agency obligations ............. 2,428 216 — 2,644
State and municipal obligations .................... _ 7,660 — 7,660
Corporate obligations 4 w o s wrapsd@sadess@soow: 2aad 65 12,989 140 13,194
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ............. - 3,911 — 3,911
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ......... — 1,015 — 1,015
Total debt securities — available-for-sale ................ 2,493 25,791 140 28,424
EqUityI SECUBRITISS) "3 o 65 et bon ion oo, s5519 8 o) o ¥l o o el Lo o o 1,784 - 14 194 1,992
Assets under management . ......... ... 1,117 1,984 — 3,101
Total assets at fair value ........... e e T S T T S 17012 $ 28,052 $ 334 $45,498
Percentage of total assets at fair value ................... 38% 61% 1% 100%

The following table presents a summary of fair value measurements by level and carrying values for certain

financial instruments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:
Quoted Prices Other

in Active Observable Unobservable Total Total
: Markets Inputs Inputs Fair Carrying

(in millions) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Value Value
December 31, 2018 ‘
Debt securities — held-to-maturity ......... $ 260 $ 65 § 295 $ 620 $ 621
Long-term debt and other financing

OBITEAONS) Lons s SN S Soac 0o E At $ — $ 37944 $ — $37944 $§ 36,554
December 31, 2017
Debt securities — held-to-maturity ......... $ 267 $ 4 3 265 $ 536 % 536
Long-term debt and other financing

CEIITACHS) Frettep sashIgan bksEmon urekd s $ $ 34,504 $ $34504 $ 31,512

The carrying amounts reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for other current financial assets and

liabilities approximate fair value because of their short-term nature. These assets and liabilities are not listed in

the table above.
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5. - Property, Equipment and Capitalized Software

A summary of property, equipment and capitalized software is as follows:

December 31, December 31,

(in millions) 2018 2017
LLandyand;iMpPTOVEMEntS s ruia om b b s a s s B e @ - 6700 G e 2 46 il & B rmaE s e ikl - $ 566 $ 405
Buildings andjiMPrOVEMENtS) s o @t mem <o st @ § 59503 60 bolt 5 s iy o £ e s o 5s o s 4,470 3,664
(EOMPULERETUIPMENT & s gimy tm s 5t Brd M2 eas A L éims b E: eosnsE o eaes 4 Do itds 1,984 - 1,829
RO CUTCH AN KEIEES 2 i s b 1 ol ey T el o T 0 S 5500 B G @ B2 B ') e 1,525 1,208
Less accumulated depreciation .............. .. ... it 2,787) (2,488)
Property and eqUIPMENt, NEL . .. ...ttt e 5,758 4,618
Capital iZ6d ISOTEWRATES & L, Lot it T0 i ol o 5 s e b ot o 1 o S £ o o oo 4,054 3,601
Less accumulated amortization . ............. .. it (1,354) (1,206)
Capitalized Softwaresnet oz g mimr@ im0 fm3:aIras @7 mIsE B a3 T BE PO G ¢ 2,700 2,395
Total property, equipment and capitalized software,net . ....................... $§ 8458 $ 7,013

Depreciation expense for property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was
$924 million, $799 million and $698 million, respectively. Amortization expense for capitalized software for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $606 million, $550 million and $475 million, respectively.

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by reportable segment, were as follows:

(in millions) UnitedHealthcare OptumHealth OptumlInsight OptumRx Consolidated
Balance at January 1,2017 ............ $ 23854 $ 6,322 $ 4449 $12959 $ 47,584
Acquisitions ............ ..., 690 5,189 1,221 — 7,100
Foreign currency effects and adjustments,

T o A (60) (23) 4 (49) (128)
Balance at December 31,2017 .. ....... 24,484 11,488 5,674 12,910 54,556
ACHMISTEOMS! i« (v 508 2 i v 1 5t 2 2 e 2,728 471 106 1,881 5,181
Foreign currency effects and adjustments,

(S HEPET R o o) o A vyt i Sy (807) 12y 8) — (827)
Balance at December 31,2018 ... ...... $ 26400 $ 11,947 $ 5772 $14,791 $ 58,910

The gross carrying value, accumulated amortization and net carrying value of other intangible assets were as
follows: g

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(in millions) Value Amortization Value Value Amortization Value
Customercrelated| . s: o+ doms it e L. $11622  $ (3908) $7,714 $10.832 § (3,743) $7,089
Trademarks and technology ........... 1,122 (512) 610 1,054 . (432) 622
Trademarks and other indefinite-lived ... 745 — 745 561 — 561
OWER Teine e Sl n i 5 2 Sl i et 428 (172) 256 351 (134) 217
o) )| S . L $13917 $ (4,592) $9,325 $12,798 $ (4,309) $8,489 -
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The acquisition date fair values and weighted-average useful lives assigned to finite-lived intangible assets
acquired in business combinations consisted of the following by year of acquisition:

2018 2017
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Fair Useful Fair Useful

(in millions, except years) Value Life Value Life
EstomerTelated]... .o imayia s I T RADT A ET DOOE O G 4 D B FHkdE O Eal $1,355 17 years $324 13 years
Trademarks)and.technology & 1as 3omaeroe 0 Tmoe 68 o 6 S Bae o0 HE 6o s 122 4 years 367 11 years
OFRET 505 cismr Damrss s 15883 AT 1@ SOT I TR P98 5992 FTTTATIIBTE 3 8 97 9 years 82 6 years
Total acquired finite-lived intangible assets ....................... $1,574 16 years $773 11 years

Estimated full year amortization expense relating to intangible assets for each of the next five years ending
December 31 is as follows:

(in millions)

2000 araTodnn s 8 18 12900 HEH CETERE 8795 B GEan Hod 3AE 16 I00CDeN0E IO DAT DI A INTITCATAL T $889
DR 035050000 1,00 1 o 2 g e, e e T i R U @ ST O D S AR T S W 795
2000 ¢ mrnoerFran 00 0: 900 VIO OO0 THEE BEOIE IRy TO0E S0 OO I D S DR O TG D 3 MM s 724
2 o o N 5 TN O T B S R e € 3 T e oy S TR s o N T B T TN P 632
D D e TN Tk TR R BTN R W h i RN T EME MM o A TN T A M S MR BRI T 593

Amortization expense relating to intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was
$898 million, $896 miilion and $8%2 million, respectively.

7. Medical Costs Payable

The following table shows the components of the change in medical costs payable for the years ended
December 31:

(in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Medical costs payable, beginning of period .. ........ .. ... ... .. $ 17,871 §$ 16,391 $ 14,330
ACquisitionst «,54.55 54 5 15583555553 L 8068 LG T are B oE S 20 g AT 0d 339 83 —
Reported medical costs:

CUITCNIYCAT 44 3B Sy et s foh s 3opaded bl & bl T AT 3 bty 145,723 130,726 117,238

RILOTEANS) orat’s a3 Snd 206 0 3 200 GOE e 5 0 & B 0 S CaN ) B (320) (690) (220)
TotalifepOrted MEAICAL COSES] | o s o onmmossuetiossben s oweromen s 4 o 6h 3 msmin s e 145,403 130,036 117,038
Medical payments:

Payments for current year ............ ...t (127,155) (113,811) (101,696)

Payments for prioryears ............. ... (16,567) (14,828) (13,281)
Totalimedicallpayments o s ibanstnian t ieuss md8 5s sobe gam e g and (143,722) (128,639) (114,977)
Medical costs payable, end of period ............. ... ... .. ... $ 19,891 $ 17,871 $ 16,391

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2016, no individual factors significantly impacted medical cost
reserve development. For the year ended December 31, 2017, medical cost reserve development was primarily
driven by lower than expected health system utilization levels.
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Medical costs payable included IBNR of $13.2 billion and $12.3 billion at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Substantially all of the IBNR balance as of December 31, 2018 relates to the current year. The
following is information about incurred and paid medical cost development as of December 31, 2018:

Net Incurred Medical Costs

(in millions) For the Years ended December 31,

Year 2017 2018

DO s e 655 1 oemero 1 o s e o e B R Bt o e e e e o v e $ 130,726 $ 130,441
D ey At o e S et e S T S o M R S, e o 145,723
TROTALL ) ke e R e Ko AR A= R R ER A o e e el MR ) [N e e R $ 276,164

Net Cumulative Medical Payments

(in millions) For the Years ended December 31,

Year 2017 2018
P20 205 sdmbastmad e E o orsa e pesin I En An LA s Lol ae s ahiEns v ag s $ (113811) $  (129,778)
RONIBY: o cvomars m 6y 5 i iy smene 0.8 ki 8 o i o, SHor T o) g oo )tk 9 RO 65 R (127,155)
TORAY iy e il ettt vy S e 0 5 o £ S 0 B T B @D B g (256,933)
Net remaining outstanding liabilities prior to 2017 ........... ... ... ... .. 660
Tiotal medical, COSIS PAVADIEH :auy e iomesonenisTome soh o 1omsnsasins b IS HENE (5 3 5 MM $ 19,891
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8. Commercial Paper and Long-Term Debt

Commercial paper and senior unsecured long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

Par Carrying Fair Par Carrying Fair

(in millions, except percentages) Value Value Value Value Value Value

Commercial PAPEF aa s o g tars i o Sacaams o $8 — 8 — — § 150 $ 150 $ 150
6.000% notes due February 2018 ............. — — — 1,100 1,101 1,106
1.900% notes due July 2018 ................. — — - 1,500 1,499 1,501
1.700% notes due February 2019 ............. 750 750 749 750 749 747
1.625% notes due March 2019 ............... 500 500 499 500 501 497
2.300% notes due December 2019 ............ 500 494 497 500 495 501
2.700% notes due July 2020 ................. 1,500 1,498 1,494 1,500 1,496 1,517
Floating rate notes due October 2020 .......... 300 299 298 300 299 300
3.875% notes due October 2020 ... ........... 450 443 456 450 446 467
1.950% notes due October 2020 .............. 900 897 884 900 895 892
4.700% notes due February 2021 ............. 400 398 412 400 403 425
2.125% notes due March 2021 ............... 750 747, , 734 750 746 744
Floating rate notes due June 2021 ............. 350 349 347 — — —
3.150% notes due June 2021 ................. 400 399 400 — — -
3.375% notes due November 2021 ............ 500 489 503 500 493 516
2.875% notes due December 2021 ... ........ 750 735 748 750 741 760
2.875% notes due March 2022 ............... 1,100 1,051 1,091 1,100 1,054 1,114
3.350% notes due July 2022 ......... S e 1,000 997 1,005 1,000 996 1,033
2.375% notes due October 2022 .. ............ 900 894 872 900 893 891
0.000% notes due November 2022 ............ 15 19 18 15 12 12
2.750% notes due February 2023 ............. 625 602 611 625 606 626
2.875% notes due March 2023 ............... 750 750 739 750 762 759
31500% motes dueiJane; 2023] . s cimae s 5o s 750 746 756 - — -
3.500% notes due February 2024 ............. 750 745 755 -— — —
3.750% notes due July 2025 ................. 2,000 1,989 2,025 2,000 1,987 2,108
3.700% notes due December 2025 ............ 300 298 303 — — —
3.100% notes due March 2026 ............... 1,000 995 965 1,000 995 1,007
3.450% notes due January 2027 .............. 750 746 742 750 745 776
3.375% notes due April 2027 ................ 625 619 611 625 618 642
2.950% notes due October 2027 .............. 950 938 898 950 937 947
3.850% notes due June 2028 .. ............... 1,150 1,142 1,163 —- — —
3.875% notes due December 2028 ............ 850 842 861 - - -
4.625% notes due July 2035 ................. 1,000 992 1,060 1,000 991 1,165
5.800% notes due March 2036 ............... 850 838 1,003 850 837 1,105
6.500% notes due June 2037 . ................ 500 492 638 500 491 698
6.625% notes due November 2037 ............ 650 641 841 650 641 923
6.875% notes due February 2038 ............. 1,100 1,076 1,437 1,100 1,075 1,596
5.700% notes due October 2040 .............. 300 296 355 300 296 389
5.950% notes due February 2041 ............. 350 345 426 350 345 466
4.625% notes due November 2041 ............ 600 588 627 600 588 685
4.375% notes due March 2042 ............... 502 484 503 502 483 555
3.950% notes due October2042 . ............. 625 607 596 625 607 650
4.250% notes due March 2043 .. ............. 750 734 744 750 734 822
4.750% notes due July 2045 ................. 2,000 1,973 2,116 2,000 1,972 2,362
4.200% notes due January 2047 .............. 750 738 745 750 738 808
4.250% notes due April 2047 ................ TS 717 719 725 Vby/ 798
3.750% notes due October 2047 .............. 950 933 869 950 933 969
4.250% notes due June 2048 ... .............. 1,350 1,329 1,349 — — —
4.450% notes due December 2048 ............ 1,100 1,087 1,182 S— — —
Total commercial paper and long-term debt . . . . . $35,667 $35,234 $36,591 $31,417 $31,067 $34,029
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The Company’s long-term debt obligations also included $1.3 billion and $625 million of other financing
obligations, of which $229 million and $107 million were current as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. 3

Maturities of long-term debt for the years ending December 31 are as follows:

(in millions)

209 . 455 oits ey st T S o T M 5 0 o s o e v @ A S A 0 B e T ) S I S (S e $ 1,973
PO20) s s ire s e o Y IR O S B kS D i i Bt 1 A B 1 5 5 A s 3 B s B e A S 3 3,350
02| Som o i T oAy T R S Ear TS 3 5 A Y R O oy PR O e s s S B 3,350
D002, N T S SRR G NN A L L, & K e L Sty e g ary s W o NP0 SSAGP rUi snOLy h oy £l S iy 8,215
N e omd o o s X A Mo o s AT Rt S e A P T B A A A oy ALy ek A1, A el 8, 5 2,325
IS TR 1S AN P Py sy e e ey I SN (A L, el L Lt PN T 22,705,

Commercial Paper and Revolving Bank Credit Facilities

Commercial paper consists of short-duration, senior unsecured debt privately placed on a discount basis through
broker-dealers.

The Company has $3.5 billion five-year, $3.5 billion three-year and $3.0 billion 364-day revolving bank credit
facilities with 26 banks, which mature in December 2023, December 2021 and December 2019, respectively.
These facilities provide liquidity support for the Company’s commercial paper program and are available for
general corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2018, no amounts had been drawn on any of the bank credit
facilities. The annual interest rates, which are variable based on term, are calculated based on the London
Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a credit spread based on the Company’s senior unsecured credit ratings. If
amounts had been drawn on the bank credit facilities as of December 31, 2018, annual interest rates would have
ranged from 3.2% to 3.6%.

Debt Covenants

The Company’s bank credit facilities contain various covenants, including requiring the Company to maintain a
debt to debt-plus-shareholders’ equity ratio of not more than 60%. The Company was in compliance with its debt
covenants as of December 31, 2018.

9. Income Taxes

The current income tax provision reflects the tax consequences of revenues and expenses currently taxable or
deductible on various income tax returns for the year reported. The deferred income tax provision or benefit
generally reflects the net change in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, excluding any
deferred income tax assets and liabilities of acquired businesses. The components of the provision for income
taxes for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

(in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Current Provision:
Federal ... ...t e $2,897 $3,597 $4,302
Stateand local ........ ... ... e 219 314 312
ROICIZN! iy o D T B 68 B T T G o g 1k RS AL it SRS 5 8. 404 254 95
ReRICITEntPRNMISION oepie fureni s aita sxin s ik isn b b aN dadodt audt B g% 3,520 4,165 4,709
Deferred provision (benefit) . . . . .. ¢ B S0 S MRRIEIAL B saats e etk AR dey s 42 (965) 81
Toral PIovISIONOMINCOME MAKES) o o (s mip ot §15 o G s 6 LMY TE 5o 0.6 8 Jha B $3,562  $3,200 $4,790




The reconciliation of the tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory rate to the provision for income taxes and the
effective tax rate for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

(in millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016

Tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory rate .......... $3,348 21.0% $4,908 35.0% $4,152 35.0%
(Changer i) A TaWr a3 3@ vad s o An 265 bt ErE: B S e b — —  (1,199) (8.6) — —
State income taxes, net of federal benefit . .............. 168 1.0 197 1.4 205 Il
Share-based awards — excess tax benefit .............. (161) (1.0) GB19) 2.3) (158) (1.3)
Non-deductible compensation . . ...................... 117 0.7 175 1.3 128 1531
Health insurance induStry ta% se. s simamss gems o otk s 552 35 — — 645 54
Foteigi Tate) difteRemtiall . u i sws oo o maveme. Soiron st o fomsss fsho (208) (l.3) (282) (2.0 (105) (0.9)
(OTITET FITE B iy sty Sy Momeyen i A D X s W o S NN (259) (l1.6) (280) (2.0 a7  (0.6)
Provision for income taxes . ............oviuiinran.nn $3,562 223% $3,200 22.8% $4,790 40.4%

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the differences between the financial and income tax
reporting bases of assets and liabilities based on enacted tax rates and laws. The components of deferred income
tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are as follows:

(in millions) 2018 2017
Deferred income tax assets:
ACETUEd EXPENSESFANGLATOMTAMCESE stk o £ ot s omsn o 8l oL b e 6 11 e 6 et $ 551 $ 544
U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards .......... ... ... ....... 190 216
Shrare-basedl COmMPEN SATONL . lueu.kiieidior ke feicnahinss s GhLeb gl i) eacman 8 £ 058 23 45 a5 9] 97
Nondeduchbleliabilifies) fa s s aani b taci s g s IO T mas st 30 B 3 It as o s i) e 184 169
Non=U-S; taxi loss! cartyforwands) . soee i s e oo o 0 s f o see Soma 2a 96y @i 9 426 445
Other=domestier s us s i 1 marr in AT e o e s e s S o s E s el A e as 306 167
O N SN Sk S A R A O ek e SR e € R Rt o ey st o S 337 198
Subtotal ............. ... ... ... L 2,085 1,836
Less: valuation allowances . ... ... ... ittt it e (84) (64)
Tofaldefefticd IMcOME) AR ASSRISE = i « io) tuek 5 51 21 okl foriosesrms, 575 mle oo efinie S o oo Bois o e ok S g, ol e 2,001 §159/7/0)
Deferred income tax liabilities:
U.S. federaltand stafe intangiblejassels) soasaaticasgsassoan: oo mse s 83T 2 3 (2,131)  (1,998)
Non-W.St, poodivill iand intangiblerassets) :a e : seco oo s aes 6 8 96uEe inaE @ s £ ie (709) (602)
@apitalizedySofiWAeY w3 aaveer 1w o 000 Eo s e T e o B E e O e G T T (603) (530)
Bepreciation and; AMOKHBAUON ; oz @z e s 3005 66 g 5 0160 Gk 505 ) G Y e Gl ) s e (266) (236)
PepaldI CRDENSES) ey o0y 20 v e @ b 555 Do 10 5.1 Py 5100 G RGN SR (152) (223)
Outside basIS N DARTETSNIDT w2 v oo 5160 5025105510505 3N MY G 0 3 (300) 279)
Other-non-U. S, . .. e e (314) (86)
Total.deferied Ancome; taxt ITABITEES) «. oo« oo s « 5 wiiaushn s o & & o 5 & 5 ) o0 el e, ook 3 4,475) (3,954)
Netdetetred incomes tart TabMITIES: .. m . oo oo sene o o amonon o oo sach ooy e ok ol iebie oo o e $(2,474) $(2,182)

Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The valuation allowances primarily relate to future tax benefits on certain federal, state and non-U.S. net
operating loss carryforwards. Federal net operating loss carryforwards of $99 million expire beginning in 2022
through 2037 and $17 million have an indefinite carryforward period; state net operating loss carryforwards
expire beginning in 2019 through 2038. Substantially all of the non-U.S. tax loss carryforwards have indetinite
carryforward periods. '
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As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s undistributed earnings from non-U.S. subsidiaries are intended to be
indefinitely reinvested in non-U.S. operations, and therefore no U.S. deferred taxes have been recorded. Taxes
payable on the remittance of such earnings would be minimal.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 is as
follows:

(in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Gross unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of period ............... ey oy A $ 598 $ 263 § 224
Gross increases: ;
CurreniyycanTaxiBOSITIONS' 5 ami £l e Sers Sl ol onte dusus eoms kg b (e s Bl 487 356 S
Brioryean A POSITIONS] isas samsds gmme o St M o & 320 5 s ne R ke o toxsmens 87 40 24
Gross decreases:
EriO el % POSIHOTSIL o o a1 3 @y Ol A0 e s - A0y Py B 6 ' (84) (33) (C))]
SEHICITIENIS} " s e Har o 6 bt 68 S b o i v Tl A i o 5 e (20) (24) 6)
Statute of limitations lapses ........... e | T e 5 O e S e G (12) “4) (12)
Grossiunrecognized tax benefits;€nd of period: wemmm ssmimsmn s swos s os peen $1,056 $ 598 $ 263

The Company believes it is reasonably possible that its liability for unrecognized tax benefits will decrease in the
next twelve months by $118 million as a result of audit settlements and the expiration of statutes of limitations.

The Company classifies interest and penalties associated with uncertain income tax positions as income taxes
within its Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
the Company recognized $6 million, $14 million and $11 million of interest and penalties, respectively. The
Company had $95 million and $84 million of accrued interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. These amounts are not included in the reconciliation above. As of
December 31, 2018, there were $716 million of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the
effective tax rate.

The Company currently files income tax returns in the United States, various states and localities and non-U.S.
jurisdictions. The U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has completed exams on the consolidated income tax
returns for fiscal years 2016 and prior. The Company’s 2018 and 2017 tax years are under review by the IRS
under its Compliance Assurance Program. With the exception of a few states, the Company is no longer subject
to income tax examinations prior to the 2012 tax year. In general, the Company is subject to examination in
non-U.S. jurisdictions for years 2013 and forward.

10. Shareholders’ Equity
Regulatory Capital and Dividend Restrictions

The Company’s regulated insurance and HMO subsidiaries in the United States are subject to regulations and
standards in their respective jurisdictions. These standards, among other things, require these subsidiaries to
maintain specified levels of statutory capital, as defined by each jurisdiction, and restrict the timing and amount
of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their parent companies. In the United States, most of
these regulations and standards are generally consistent with model regulations established by the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners. These standards generally permit dividends to be paid from statutory
unassigned surplus of the regulated subsidiary and are limited based on the regulated subsidiary’s level of
statutory net income and statutory capital and surplus. These dividends are referred to as “ordinary dividends”
and generally may be paid without prior regulatory approval. If the dividend, together with other dividends paid
within the preceding twelve months, exceeds a specified statutory limit or is paid from sources other than earned
surplus, it is generally considered an “extraordinary dividend” and must receive prior regulatory approval.
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For both the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s regulated subsidiaries paid their parent
companies dividends of $3.7 billion, including $1.1 billion of extraordinary dividends.

The Company’s regulated subsidiaries had estimated aggregate statutory capital and surplus of $23.7 billion as of
December 31, 2018. The estimated statutory capital and surplus necessary to satisfy regulatory requirements of
the Company’s regulated subsidiaries was approximately $10.3 billion as of December 31, 2018.

Optum Bank must meet minimum capital requirements of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) to
be considered “Well Capitalized” under the capital adequacy rules to which it is subject. At December 31, 2018,
the Company believes that Optum Bank met the FDIC requirements to be considered “Well Capitalized.”

Share Repurchase Program

Under its Board of Directors’ authorization, the Company maintains a share repurchase program. The objectives
of the share repurchase program are to optimize the Company’s capital structure and cost of capital, thereby
improving returns to shareholders, as well as to offset the dilutive impact of share-based awards. Repurchases
may be made from time to time in open market purchases or other types of transactions (including prepaid or
structured share repurchase programs), subject to certain Board restrictions. In June 2018, the Board renewed the
Company’s share repurchase program with an authorization to repurchase up to 100 million shares of its common
stock.

A summary of common share repurchases for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2018 2017
Common share repurchases, shares . ........ ... .. .. ... ... 19 9
Common share repurchases, average price pershare .. ............. ... .......... $236.72  $173.54
Common share repurchases, aggregate cost . ............. 160t 8l aabrai ok arag aes $ 4,500 $ 1,500
Boeardiauthonized, shares rerainiig: .. osuieall - nipitaits avdare fasas o790 des s ges 94 42

Dividends

In June 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors increased the Company’s annual dividend rate to shareholders
to $3.60 per share compared to $3.00 per share, which the Company had paid since June 2017. Declaration and
payment of future quarterly dividends is at the discretion of the Board and may be adjusted as business needs or
market conditions change. :

11. Share-Based Compensation

The Company’s outstanding share-based awards consist mainly of non-qualified stock options, SARs and
restricted shares. As of December 31, 2018, the Company had 42 million shares available for future grants of
share-based awards under the Plan. As of December 31, 2018, there were also 7 million shares of common stock
available for issuance under the ESPP.
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Stock Options and SARs

Stock option and SAR activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is summarized in the table below:

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Shares Price Contractual Life Intrinsic Value
(in millions) (in years) (in millions)

Outstanding at beginning of period . ................. 37 § 102
(AT oo = ot bl 8 5 e B B el W oo e L il 229
EXETCISEA\ S wapons I /e s s o b i e o A ) 78
RORIETE] | S st md e B B o i e ) e 1) 162
Outstanding atend of period ....................... 35 131 65 $ 4,114
Exercisable atend of period ....................... 16 87 5.0 2,560

Vested and expected to vest, end of period . ........... 34 129 6.5 4,072

Restricted Shares
Restricted share activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is summarized in the table below:

Weighted-Average

Grant Date

Fair Value
(shares in millions) Shares per Share
Nonvested atbegiMNTNEACTPEIAOA! ou. o inisononsnosoms s o1k omoki s (.6 45k e Honel el s ome oo ook 7§ 128
Grantedhasn saeang St e e s e b iis e i e o e L SR e R i ) 229
WVested) s Gaaan sralle it S oot 0 Tade @A mibas eherth & hsath o8 6 6L b i HoL A MR oA kKR 3 119
Nenvestediatiend; CFPERO@: :.q 53619 0umocs 68 68 § 8 55 50 G015 8 SEns B0 264 s s iz s 6 163
Other Share-Based Compensation Data

For the Years Ended
December 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) ; 2018 2017 2016
Stock Options and SARs
Weighted-average grant date fair value of shares granted, per share ................ $ 43§ 29 $20
Total intrinsic value of stock options and SARs exercised ... ..................... 1,431 1,473 595
Restricted Shares
Weighted-average grant date fair value of shares granted, per share ................ 229 163 TS
“Total fairvalue:efirestricted Sares VESIEd, e oo s s w9 L ms e Songe 58 28 8§ 98 =G $ 521 $ 460 $274
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
NumbeRoRShates; PURENASEd, o e ¢ viag gocslom s chm e G § G O a9 6 I ey ST o 2 2 2
Share-Based Compensation Items .
Share-based compensation expense, beforetax ............... ... ... ..., $ 638 $ 597 $485
Share-based compensation expense, net of tax effects . .......................... 587 531 417
Income tax benefit realized from share-based award exercises .................... 239 431 236
(in millions, except years) ) December 31, 2018
Unrecognized compensation expense related to share awards ............... .. ...oonn. .. $ 628
Weighted-average years to recognize COmpensation €Xpense . ............eeeeuneeenn..n. 13
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Share-Based Compensation Recognition and Estimates

The principal assumptions the Company used in calculating grant-date fair value for stock options and SARs
were as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
RISKSITCCAMEETES T TATEE 215 1t otowiswones o 21551608 N 1 For o N EHERC s 1 2.6%-3.1% 1.9% -2.1% 1.2% - 1.4%
Bpected Volatility] o emmsmem o m s s m o saske 1o s s 0 ma va 1l 187% -193% 185% -20.7% 20.8% -22.5%
Expected dividend yield ................... ... ...... 1.3% - 1.5% 14% - 1.6% 1.8% -
Forfeiturerate . ..........0 vttt 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%
Expected life in YEars) ... iu: e vmanes amimme o meme s m o ol 5.6 SET 56-59

Risk-free interest rates are based on U.S. Treasury yields in effect at the time of grant. Expected volatilities are
based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock and the implied volatility from exchange-
traded options on the Company’s common stock. Expected dividend yields are based on the per share cash
dividend paid by the Company. The Company uses historical data to estimate option and SAR exercises and
forfeitures within the valuation model. The expected lives of options and SARs granted represents the period of
time that the awards granted are expected to be outstanding based on historical exercise patterns.

Other Employcc Bencfit Plans

The Company offers a 401(k) plan for its employees. Compensation expense related to this plan was not material
for 2018, 2017 and 2016.

In addition, the Company maintains non-qualified, deferred compensation plans, which allow certain members of
senior management and executives to defer portions of their salary or bonus and receive certain Company
contributions on such deferrals, subject to plan limitations. The deferrals are recorded within long-term
investments with an approximately equal amount in other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The total
deferrals are distributable based upon termination of employment or other periods, as elected under each plan and
were $988 million and $865 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases facilities and equipment under long-term operating leases that are non-cancelable and
expire on various dates. Rent expense under all operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016 was $751 million, $710 million and $608 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2018, future minimum annual lease payments, net of sublease income, under all
non-cancelable operating leases were as follows:

Future Minimum

(in millions) Lease Payments
D OO 25 vy Wi e ome) Gt T SN R e R e P T M o T R I e S S $ 669
D= e At e RO R ARl KR R R e A A et R s D s A S i e et m ey k- e 592
ORI 2o b e R O kA R A 2 11 L e B S B (5 L S A A it T Bt B Sil,1
U o e B b s m o LTI 3 S & B T S EX B T MO Al e A SIS T S 2 O L RS 423
ROPBE = oS 5D AN I DG E TS O HA gD S AR I 300 00 A% LA A A AT A SOdE AR TR M ks 338
TheTEafleT, st e s oo xan s Bl 0% O HI o CE bl o o O 3 10 LI B 5 003 CHey O EHE oy iy w1 g 1,343

‘I'he Company provides guarantees related to its service level under certain contracts. If minimum standards are
not met, the Company may be financially at risk up to a stated percentage of the contracted fee or a stated dollar
amount. None of the amounts accrued, paid or charged to income for service level guarantees were material as of
December 31, 2018, 2017 or 2016.
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As of December 31, 2018, the Company had outstanding, undrawn letters of credit with financial institutions of
$83 million and surety bonds outstanding with insurance companies of $1.3 billion, primarily to bond contractual
performance.

Pending Acquisition

In December 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire a company in the health care sector for a
total of approximately $4.3 billion.

Legal Matters

Because of the nature of its businesses, the Company is frequently made party to a variety of legal actions and
regulatory inquiries, including class actions and suits brought by members, care providers, consumer advocacy
organizations, customers and regulators, relating to the Company’s businesses, including management and
administration of health benefit plans and other services. These matters include medical malpractice,
employment, intellectual property, antitrust, privacy and contract claims and claims related to health care benefits
coverage and other business practices.

The Company records liabilities for its estimates of probable costs resulting from these matters where
appropriate. Estimates of costs resulting from legal and regulatory matters involving the Company are inherently
difficult to predict, particularly where the matters: involve indeterminate claims for monetary damages or may
involve fines, penalties or punitive damages; present novel legal theories or represent a shift in regulatory policy;
involve a large number of claimants or regulatory bodies; are in the early stages of the proceedings; or could
result in a change in business practices. Accordingly, the Company is often unable to estimate the losses or
ranges of losses for those matters where there is a reasonable possibility or it is probable that a loss may be
incurred.

Government Investigations, Audits and Reviews

The Company has been involved or is currently involved in various governmental investigations, audits and
reviews. These include routine, regular and special investigations, audits and reviews by CMS, state insurance
and health and welfare departments, state attorneys general, the Office of the Inspector General, the Office of
Personnel Management, the Office of Civil Rights, the Government Accountability Office, the Federal Trade
Commission, U.S. Congressional committees, the U.S. Department of Justice, the SEC, the Internal Revenue
Service, the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration, the U.S. Department of Labor, the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation, the Defense Contract Audit Agency and other governmental authorities. Similarly, our
international businesses are also subject to investigations, audits and reviews by applicable foreign governments,
including South American and other non-U.S. governmental authorities. Certain of the Company’s businesses
have been reviewed or are currently under review, including for, among other matters, compliance with coding
and other requirements under the Medicare risk-adjustment model. CMS has selected certain of the Company’s
local plans for risk adjustment data validation (RADV) audits to validate the coding practices of and supporting
documentation maintained by health care providers and such audits may result in retrospective adjustments to
payments made to the Company’s health plans.

On February 14, 2017, the Department of Justice (DOJ) announced its decision to pursue certain claims within a
lawsuit initially asserted against the Company and filed under seal by a whistleblower in 2011. The
whistleblower’s complaint, which was unsealed on February 15, 2017, alleges that the Company made improper
risk adjustment submissions and violated the False Claims Act. On February 12, 2018, the court granted in part
and denied in part the Company’s motion to dismiss. In May 2018, DOJ moved to dismiss the Company’s
counterclaims, which were filed in March 2018, and moved for partial summary judgment. Those motions were
argued in September 2018. The Company cannot reasonably estimate the outcome that may result from this
matter given its procedural status.
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13. Segment Financial Information

Factors used to determine the Company’s reportable segments include the nature of operating activities,
economic characteristics, existence of separate senior management teams and the type of information used by the
Company’s chief operating decision maker to evaluate its results of operations. Reportable segments with similar
economic characteristics, products and services, customers, distribution methods and operational processes that
operate in a similar regulatory environment are combined.

The following is a description of the types of products and services from which each of the Company’s four
reportable segments derives its revenues: '

*  UnitedHealthcare includes the combined results of operations of UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual,
UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement, UnitedHealthcare Community & State and UnitedHealthcare
Global. The U.S. businesses share significant common assets, including a contracted network of physicians,
health care professionals, hospitals and other facilities, information technology and consumer engagement
infrastructure and other resources. UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual offers an array of consumer-
oriented health benefit plans and services for large national employers, public sector employers, mid-sized
employers, small businesses and individuals nationwide. UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement provides
health care coverage and health and well-being services to individuals age 50 and older, addressing their
unique needs for preventive and acute health care services as well as services dealing with chronic disease
and other specialized issues for older individuals. UnitedHealthcare Community & State’s primary
customers oversee Medicaid plans, the Children’s Health Insurance Program and other federal, state and
community health care programs. UnitedHealthcare Global is a diversified global health services business
with a variety of offerings, including international commercial health and dental benefits and health care
delivery.

*  OptumHealth focuses on care delivery, care management, wellness and consumer engagement, and health
financial services. OptumHealth serves the physical, emotional and health-related financial needs of
individuals, enabling population health through programs offered by employers, payers, government entities
and directly with the care delivery system. OptumHealth offers access to networks of care provider
specialists, health management services, care delivery, consumer engagement and financial services.

*  Optumlinsight provides services, technology and health care expertise to major participants in the health care
industry. Hospital systems, physicians, health plans, governments, life sciences companies and other
organizations that comprise the health care industry depend on Optuminsight to help them improve
performance, achieve efficiency, reduce costs, meet compliance mandates and modernize their core
operating systems to meet the changing needs of the health system.

*  OptumRx offers pharmacy care services and programs, including retail network contracting, home delivery,
specialty and compounding pharmacy services, purchasing and clinical capabilities, and develops programs
in areas such as step therapy, formulary management, drug adherence and disease/drug therapy
management.

The Company’s accounting policies for reportable segment operations are consistent with those described in the
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (see Note 2). Transactions between reportable segments principally
consist of sales of pharmacy care products and services to UnitedHealthcare customers by OptumRx, certain
product offerings and care management and local care delivery services sold to UnitedHealthcare by
OptumHealth, and health information and technology solutions, consulting and other services sold to
UnitedHealthcare by OptumlInsight. These transactions are recorded at management’s estimate of fair value.
Intersegment transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Assets and liabilities that are jointly used are assigned
to each reportable segment using estimates of pro-rata usage. Cash and investments are assigned such that each
reportable segment has working capital and/or at least minimum specified levels of regulatory capital.
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As a percentage of the Company’s total consolidated revenues, premium revenues from CMS were 30%, 28%
and 25% for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, most of which were generated by UnitedHealthcare Medicare &
Retirement and included in the UnitedHealthcare segment. U.S. customer revenue represented approximately
96%, 96% and 97% of consolidated total revenues for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Long-lived fixed assets
located in the United States represented approximately 76% and 77% of the total long-lived fixed assets as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The non-U.S. revenues and fixed assets are primarily related to

UnitedHealthcare Global.
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The following table presents the reportable segment financial inform

(in millions)

ation:
Optum

pt
UnitedHealthcare OptumHealth OptumInsight OptumRx Elimin

um
ations Optum

Corporate and
Eliminations Consolidated

2018
Revenues — unaffiliated
customers:
37111111 ] (T SRR ——————
Brodets: £ & ; - 45 gogespswrges:
T ——

Total revenues — unaffiliated
CUSLOMELS .. ...\ vvveennn.

Total revenues — affiliated
CUSIOMETS . .. ..vovvvnnnnn
Investment and other income . . ...

Total revenues . ...............

Eamnings from operations ........
Interestexpense ...............

Earnings before income taxes . . ...

Totalassets ...................

Purchases of property, equipment
and capitalized software . ... ...

Depreciation and amortization . . . .

2017

~ Revenues — unaffiliated

customers:
Premiums ................
Products .................
SEHEE. ... ... el

Total revenues — unaffiliated
CUSTOMETS o Mo pam s 2335373

Total revenues — affiliated
CUSOMETS: #g Fp irg i a1973 398 as
Investment and other income . .. ..

Total revenues ................

Eamings from operations ........
Inferéstexpénse ...............

Earnings before income taxes . . . ..

Totdlsassets o serergrsgnaggas

Purchases of property, equipment
and capitalized software . ... ...

Depreciation and amortization .. ..

2016
Revenues — unaffiliated
CusStoniers:
Premiums) q«c oo qngas
Propee® wovs s pravranmans
SV saiciatnieTedanis

Total revenues — unaffiliated
CUStOMErS ..................

Total revenues — affiliated
CUSTOTIIESSH et v 2 v v s v v
Investment and other income . . ...

Total revenues ................

Earnings from operations ........
Interest expense ...............

Earnings before income taxes . . . ..

TTRLtEl GSSES! rmmememcmer: s = 512 m o

Purchases of property, equipment
and capitalized software .. ... ..

Depreciation and amortization . . ..

174,282 3,805 = — § — $ 178,087
= 52 111 29,438 - 29,601
8,366 4925 3,280 612 s 17,183
182,648 8,782 3391 30,050 - 224,871
— 14,882 5596 39,440 (58,509) =
828 481 21 46 = 1,376
183,476 24,145 9,008 $ 69,536 (1,409) $101,280 (58,509) § 226,247
9,113 2,430 2243 § 3558 — $ 17344
e iy s = (1,400) (1,400)
9,113 2,430 2243 § 3558 (1,400) $ 15944
82,938 29,837 11,039 § 33912 (5505 $ 152,221
761 593 517 192 — 2,063
845 439 654 490 — 2,428
154,709 3744 o = — $ 158453
== 44 106 26216 = 26,366
7,890 4,013 2,849 565 — 15,317
162,599 7.801 2955 26781 2 200,136
= 12,429 5127 36954 (53.283) =
658 340 s 20 = 1,023
163,257 20,570 8,087 $ 63,755 (1227)$ 91,185 $  (53283)$ 201,159
8,498 $ 1,823 1,770 $ 3,118 — $ 15209
= E et oa (1,186) (1,186)
8,498 1,823 1770 $ 3,118 (1,186) $ 14,023
76,676 26,931 11273 $ 29,551 (5.373) $ 139,058
737 510 588 188 — 2,023
758 380 614 493 — 2,245
140,455 3,663 = = — $ 144118
1 48 103 26,506 — 26,658
7,514 2,498 2,670 554 = 13,236
147,970 6,209 2773 27,060 = 184,012
- 10,491 4559 33372 (1,088) 47,334 (47,334) —
611 208 1 8 o 217 — 828
148,581 $ 16,908 7333 $ 60,440 (1,088) $ 83,593 (47334)$ 184,840
7307 $ 1,428 1,513 § 2,682 — % 12930
e e = Er, (1,067 (1,067)
7,307 1,428 1513 § 2,682 (1,067)$ 11,863
70,505 18,656 9,017 $ 29,066 (4434)$ 122,810
640 345 s71 149 = 1,705
724 297 559 475 — 2,055



14. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Selected quarterly financial information for all quarters of 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

For the Quarter Ended

(in millions, except per share data) March 31 June 30 September 30  December 31
2018
RIS ENVIEEM, o B3 B oD et Bl sackel P ol Ao wA e Ty b S $ 55,188 $ 56,086 $ 56,556 $ 58417
OPEralN S| GOSN 80 s AT S0 S @ S5 bl 5a5 ik dioned Sobesdokahs S 185 51,882 51,966 53,920
Eatningsifiom, 0Perations: : s« sm s s aes o5 Hos 8 f6J b 4,053 4,204 4,590 4,497
NEECAMINGDE, @04 : & 7 500 CATEE 6 11 HEE CO G Ha 5056k 2 2,924 3,010 3,284 3,164
Net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group

COMMON, SHATCINOLABES oriurieh 11s 6/ 10164 Ll s 10 5K 9 el 2,836 2,922 3,188 3,040
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms; and (ii) accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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In connection with the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, management evaluated, under the supervision
and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2018. Based upon that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2018.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.

82



Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2018

Management of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Subsidiaries (the Company) is responsible for establishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control system is designed to provide
reasonable assurance to our management and board of directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide )
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of
the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2018. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based
on our assessment and the COSO criteria, we believe that, as of December 31, 2018, the Company maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm has audited the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, as stated in the Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm, appearing under Item 9A.

83



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Subsidiaries:

Opinior on Internal Control over Financial Reporting .

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and
Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018,
of the Company and our report dated February 12, 2019, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial
statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Report of Management ou Inteinal Coutrol Over Fuiancial Repotting as of December 31, 2018. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective intemal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/  DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 12, 2019
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

DIRECTORS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following sets forth certain information regarding our directors as of February 12, 2019, including their
name and principal occupation or employment:

William C. Ballard, Jr. F. William McNabb III

Former Of Counsel Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Bingham Greenebaum Doll LLP The Vanguard Group, Inc.
Richard T. Burke Valerie Montgomery Rice, M.D
Lead Independent Director President and Dean

UnitedHealth Group Morehouse School of Medicine
Timothy P. Flynn Glenn M. Renwick

Retired Chair Chair

KPMG International Fiserv, Inc.

Stephen J. Hemsley David S. Wichmann

Executive Chair Chief Executive Officer
UnitedHealth Group UnitedHealth Group

Michele J. Hooper Gail R. Wilensky, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Fellow

The Directors’ Council Project HOPE

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K and Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K,
information regarding our executive officers is provided in Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

We have adopted a code of ethics applicable to our principal executive officer and other senior financial officers,
who include our principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller and persons performing
similar functions. The code of ethics, entitled Code of Conduct: Our Principles of Ethics and Integrity, is posted
on our website at www.unitedhealthgroup.com. For information about how to obtain the Code of Conduct, see
Part I, Item 1, “Business.” We intend to satisfy the SEC’s disclosure requirements regarding amendments to, or
waivers of, the code of ethics for our senior financial officers by posting such information on our website
indicated above.

The remaining information required by Items 401, 405, 406 and 407(c)(3), (d)(4) and (d)(5) of Regulation S-K
will be included under the headings “Corporate Governance,” “Proposal 1-Election of Directors” and

“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Items 402, 407(e)(4) and (e)(5) of Regulation S-K will be included under the
headings “Executive Compensation,” “Director Compensation,” “Corporate Governance—Risk Oversight” and
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“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth certain information, as of December 31, 2018, concerning shares of common stock
authorized for issuance under all of our equity compensation plans:

(©)

(a) (b) Number of securities
Number of securities Weighted-average remaining available for
to be issued upon exercise future issuance under
exercise of price of equity compensation
outstanding . outstanding plans (excluding
options, warrants options, warrants securities reflected in
Plan category and rights and rights column (2))
(in millions) (in millions)

Equity compensation plans approved by

sharcheldens/Wher: of: & agrit @sod om ol e C B Lo 8 3 38 3 135 - 49
Equity compensation plans not approved by

ShatehOIdERS D ez orson 9oy s5ms | 3 pies o e ja s @ e — - —

Ot U e o e o S ew T (3 P R s T R R G o RTEHR ] 38 § 135 49

(1) Consists of the UnitedHealth Group Incorporated 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and the
UnitedHealth Group 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended.

(2) Excludes 1,676,000 shares underlying stock options assumed by us in connection with acquisitions. These

© options have a weighted-average exercise price of $59 and an average remaining term of approximately
5 years. These options are administered pursuant to the terms of the plans under which the options originally
were granted. No future awards will be granted under these acquired plans.

(3) Includes 7 million shares of common stock available for future issuance under the 1993 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan as of December 31, 2018, and 42 million shares available under the 2011 Stock Incentive
Plan as of December 31, 2018. Shares available under the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan may become the
subject of future awards in the form of stock options, SARs, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
performance awards and other stock-based awards.

The information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K will be included under the heading “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Items 404 and 407(a) of Regulation S-K will be included under the headings
“Certain Relationships and Transactions” and “Corporate Governance” in our definitive proxy statement for our
2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 9(e) of Schedule 14A will be included under the heading “Disclosure of Fees
Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2019 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(@) L. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements are included under Item 8 of this report:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and
2016.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and
2016.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule of the Company is included in Item 15(c):

* Schedule I—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Parent Company Only).

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC-are not
required under the related instructions, are inapplicable, or the required informationis included in the
consolidated financial statements, and therefore have been omitted.

(b) The following exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference herein in response to Item 601 of Regulation
S-K. The Company files Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current
Reports on Form 8-K pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 under Commission File No. 1-10864.

EXHIBIT INDEX**

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

Certificate of Incorporation of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.1 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A, Commission File
No. 1-10864, filed on July 1, 2015)

Bylaws of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, effective August 15, 2017 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 16,
2017)

Senior Indenture, dated as of November 15, 1998, between United HealthCare Corporation and The
Bank of New York (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s
Registration Statement on Form S-3/A, SEC File Number 333-66013, filed on January 11, 1999)

Amendment, dated as of November 6, 2000, to Senior Indenture, dated as of November 15, 1998,
between the UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and The Bank of New York (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2001)
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43

4.4

*10.1
*10.2

=103

*10.4

*10.5

*10.6

*10.7

*10.8

£10.9

*10.10

*10.11

Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance of Trustee, dated January §, 2007, pursuant
to the Senior Indenture, dated as of November 15, 1988, amended as of November 6, 2000, among
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, The Bank of New York and Wilmington Trust Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007)

Indenture, dated as of February 4, 2008, between UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and U.S. Bank
National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s
Registration Statement on Form S-3, SEC File Number 333-149031, filed on February 4, 2008)

UnitedHealth Group Incorporated 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated in 2018

Amendment to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Right
Awards, effective November 6, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to UnitedHealth
Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014)

Form of Agreement for Non-Qualified Stock Option Award to Executives under UnitedHealth Group
Incorporated’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated in 2015, for awards made after
January 1, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015)

Form of Agreement for Non-Qualified Stock Option Award for International Participants under
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013)

Form of Addendum for Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement for International Participants
under UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.37 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2012)

Form of Agreement for Restricted Stock Unit Award to Executives under UnitedHealth Group
Incorporated’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated in 2015, for awards made after
January 1, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015)

Form of Agreement for Restricted Stock Award to Executives under UnitedHealth Group
Incorporated’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to UnitedHealth
Group Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 27, 2011)

Form of Agreement for Stock Appreciation Rights Award to Executives under UnitedHealth Group
Incorporated’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to UnitedHealth
Group Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 27, 2011)

Form of Agreement for Performance-based Restricted Stock Unit Award to Executives under
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated in 2015, for
awards made after January 1, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to UnitedHealth Group
Incorporated’s Quarterly Report-on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015)

Form of Agreement for Initial Deferred Stock Unit Award to Non-Employee Directors under
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.7 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 27, 2011)

Form of Agreement for Deferred Stock Unit Award to Non-Employee Directors under TnitedHealth
Group Incorporated’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 27, 2011)
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*10.20
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*10.22
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Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to UnitedHealth
Group Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 1, 2015)

Amended and Restated UnitedHealth Group Incorporated Executive Incentive Plan (2009 Statement),
effective as of December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to UnitedHealth
Group Incorporated’s Annual Report ont Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008)

Amended and Restated UnitedHealth Group Incorporated 2008 Executive Incentive Plan, effective as
of December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to UnitedHealth Group
Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008)

Amendment, dated as of December 21, 2012, of Amended and Restated UnitedHealth Group
Incorporated 2008 Executive Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2012)

Second Amendment, dated as of November 5, 2015, of Amended and Restated UnitedHealth Group
Incorporated 2008 Executive Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2015)

UnitedHealth Group Executive Savings Plan (2004 Statement) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(e) of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003)

First Amendment to UnitedHealth Group Executive Savings Plan (2004 Statement) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 3, 2006)

Second Amendment to UnitedHealth Group Executive Savings Plan (2004 Statement) (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2007)

Third Amendment to UnitedHealth Group Executive Savings Plan (2004 Statement) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.17 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2008)

Fourth Amendment to UnitedHealth Group Executive Savings Plan (2004 Statement) (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2010)

Fifth Amendment to UnitedHealth Group Executive Savings Plan (2004 Statement) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2014)

Sixth Amendment to UnitedHealth Group Executive Savings Plan (2004 Statement) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2015)

Seventh Amendment to UnitedHealth Group Executive Savings Plan (2004 Statement) (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2016)

Eighth Amendment to UnitedHealth Group Executive Savings Plan (2004 Statement) (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form
S-8, SEC File Number 333-224254, filed on April 12, 2018)

Summary of Non-Management Director Compensation, effective as of October 1, 2018
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*10.27

*10.28

*10.29

*10.30

*10.31

*10.32

0:33

*10.34

*10.35

*10.36

1037

*10.38

*10.39

*10.40

UnitedHealth Group Directors’ Compensation Deferral Plan (2009 Statement) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.18 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2008)

Amendment to the UnitedHealth Group Directors’ Compensation Deferral Plan, effective as of
January 1, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009)

First Amendment to UnitedHealth Group Directors’ Compensation Deferral Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2010)

Catamaran Corporation Third Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8, SEC File Number 333-205824, filed on July 23, 2015)

Catalyst Health Solutions, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, SEC File
Number 333-205824, filed on July 23, 2015)

Audax Health Solutions, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration
Statement on Form S-8, SEC File Number 333-205826, filed on February 15, 2017)

Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form S-8 to
Registration Statement on Form S-4, SEC File Number 333-216153, filed on March 27, 2017)

Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. 2013 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form S-8 to
Registration Statement on Form S-4, SEC File Number 333-216153, filed on March 27, 2017)

Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. Management Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.5 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form S-8 to
Registration Statement on Form S-4, SEC File Number 333-216153, filed on March 27, 2017)

Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. Direcfors and Consultants Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.6 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 on
Form S-8 to Registration Statement on Form S-4, SEC File Number 333-216153, filed on March 27,
2017)

The Advisory Board Company Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to The Advisory Board Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
June 15, 2015)

The Advisory Board Company 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to The Advisory Board Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 17, 2005)

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 7, 2006, between UnitedHealth Group Incorporated
and Stephen J. Hemsley (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to UnitedHealth Group
Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 8, 2006)

Agreement for Supplemental Executive Retirement Pay, effective April 1, 2004, between
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Stephen J. Hemsley (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10(b) to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quatter
ended March 31, 2004)
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*10.47

*10.48

*10.49

*10.50
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24.1
31.1

Amendment to Agreement for Supplemental Executive Retirement Pay, dated as of November 7,
2006, between UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Stephen J. Hemsley (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit A to Exhibit 10.1 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on November 8, 2006)

Amendment to Employment Agreement and Agreement for Supplemental Executive Retirement Pay,
effective as of December 31, 2008, between United HealthCare Services, Inc. and Stephen J.
Hemsley (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008)

Amendment to Agreement for Supplemental Executive Retirement Pay, dated as of June 7, 2016,
between UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Stephen J. Hemsley (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2016)

Letter Agreement, effective as of February 19, 2008, by and between UnitedHealth Group
Incorporated and Stephen J. Hemsley (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to UnitedHealth
Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007)

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 14, 2010, between UnitedHealth
Group Incorporated and Stephen J. Hemsley (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2010)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective as of December 1, 2014, between United
HealthCare Services, Inc. and David Wichmann (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2015) '

Amendment to Employment Agreement, effective as of August 16, 2017, between United HealthCare
Services, Inc. and David Wichmann (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to UnitedHealth
Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2017)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of June 7, 2016, between United
HealthCare Services, Inc. and John Rex (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to UnitedHealth
Group Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quartér ended June 30, 2016)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective as of March 24, 2015, between United
HealthCare Services, Inc. and Steven H. Nelson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2017)

Employment Agreement, effective as of June 3, 2018, between United HealthCare Services, Inc. and
Andrew Witty

Statement regarding computation of per share earnings (incorporated by reference to the information
contained under the heading “Net Earnings Per Common Share” in Note 2 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data”)

Subsidiaries of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Power of Attorney

Certifications pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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321 Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following materials from UnitedHealth Group Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2018, filed on February 12, 2019, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible
Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of
Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) Consolidated Statements of
Changes in Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

*  Denotes management contracts and compensation plans in which certain directors and named executive
officers participate and which are being filed pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K.

**  Pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K, copies of instruments defining the rights of certain
holders of long-term debt are not filed. The Company will furnish copies thereof to the SEC upon request.

(c) Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule [—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Parent Company Only).
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Schedule I
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Subsidiaries:

Opinion on the Financial Statement Schedule

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 2018, and the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, and
have issued our reports thereon dated February 12, 2019; such reports are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Our audits also included the financial statement schedule of the Company listed in the Index at Item 15. This
financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s financial statement schedule based on our audits. In our opinion, the financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/  DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 12, 2019
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Schedule I

Condensed Financial Information of Registrant
(Parent Company Only)
UnitedHealth Group
Condensed Balance Sheets

December 31, December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2018 2017
Assets
Current assets:
Cashandjcashiequivalents aoe s salee o iodtn: Aedcnt s ook b dodbonds 350 $ 434§ 359
OheZcuntenasselS) s it 1o atre N e b 6 & 3 s B G O e e s 197 575
Totallcumentassels) frmaa-s oo Fara 1 e Eaos SRS DEE GO I IORED SO T 3 iwdn 631 934
Equity/innetiassets) o SUBSIAIARES] . s m 5o mrr i 56rm @ 510155516 5 w6, 7 01600 v e 83,244 76,231
Long-term notes receivable from subsidiaries ................ sy 8 oA 0 PN 4,461 4,278
ONETPASSELS! ey s o5 5001150:5 55160 5 55 b4 e = 53 ok 5 o1 oo 5 W81 5o ot .51 e i 972 839
TOLAIASTELS) el ormsimsenmir it otome A Lo S e Lo el ook o) (Lo B e v A S el $ 89308 $ 82,282

Liabilitics and sharcholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accountspayable and/acerued 1iabilities) s s s sasmuse s sew 000 nee e s oo $ 618 § 502
Current portion of notes payable to subsidiaries ........................ 714 466
Commercial paper and current maturities of long-termdebt ............... 1,744 2,749
Total current Habilities .. ... ... .. i e e 3,076 3,717
Long-term debt, less current maturities ............. ..o eiiiiiiiiiin. 33,490 28,318
Long-term notes payable to subsidiaries ............ .. .. .. . i i 560 1,518
Other HaDUIIES! . . . . ovie ce v ve et e et e et e ot e se e see oiee e s ae mene e e e 486 953
MotalMabilities) oo as s s st dy m s adtn A0 S LAt A da i Tod et 0 S C Oaa 37,612 34,506

Commitments and contingencies (Note 4)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value -10 shares authorized; no shares issued or

outstanding ............. Ao 5 5 050 P e S B st B 3 — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value — 3,000 shares authorized; 960 and 969 .
issued and outstanding . ..................... o e e 10 10
Additional paid-incapital ......... ... . — 1,703
Retained €arnings .. ........ oottt e 55,846 48,730
Accumulated other comprehensiveloss ............. ... .. ... ... ... (4,160) (2,667)
Total UnitedHealth Group shareholders’ equity .............. ... .. ... ...... 51,696 47,776
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .. .............................. $ 89308 $ 82,282

See Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements of Registrant

94



Schedule I

Condensed Financial Information of Registrant
(Parent Company Only)
UnitedHealth Group
Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Revenues:

Investment and Other INCOME . . . .. oo oottt e e e $ 194 § 527 §$ 522
T OTAlLIEVEeNVES: | miehil Brms Ot tag bl s @ S e o B s 8 S loaSins 5 i ohe t1(6het S0k ol 194 527 522
Operating costs:

OPTANGEESH) co:d:grme oI EE IT000: BOEIT P 2008 I THID I BIALEDE 35 — 22)

Interest EXPENSe : gra: supmzasm: 9 memmmes @595 P EIE D IBIEEEE IO E 1,285 1,114 995
IOLal OPETAtMETCOSIS = s » fuct owere i 1 e vy B ooy e ot oy 10 6 £ ) G 0 0 1,320 1,114 973
Loss beforeincome taxes ... .................... i, (1,126) (587) 451)
Benefit for income taxes R o et e e = R e A R e 251 214 165
Loss of parent company .............. ... ... ... . ... ... ... (875) (373) (286)
Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries ........................... 12,861 10,931 7,303
N et CarmINgs) <6 o o L s 5 eare S ey s tad S SER A TS £ 1 LA e 7. St o L B4 & 11,986 10,558 7,017
Other comprehensiVe: (1088) INCOMIE) 5650 swemims o 5 s 0 ibrs ol suis 5 5 Ers e im (1,517) 14 653
Comprehensive income . .............. ... ... ... $10,469 $10,572 $7,670

See Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements of Registrant
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Schedule I

Condensed Financial Information of Registrant
(Parent Company Only)

UnitedHeal
Condensed Stateme

th Group
nts of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2018 2017 2016
Operating activities

Cash floWs fTom operating ACHVATIES) s s o o/ oshe sussioser .5 e Brarior st abatorie o shr 1l omg o o1t $6,099 $ 2,021 $4,294
Investing activities

Issuances of notes to SUbSIdIaries ... .......ovurnine et (1,420) — (824)
Repayments of notes to subsidiaries . .............. .o i, 1,419 2,071 -
EashypaiforracqUISTIIONS me - o o e o Soehis 8.6 58 5T Brb s s 6 & 5 s T (4,066) (2,313) (2,292)
Return of capital to parent company . .. ............veuieinenneinennnenns. 4,196 33175 2,143
Capitalcontributions fo subsidiaries sswsgrarush 19Tnasesd 1R 588 o6 S0 b ardimmes (1,259) (959) (765)
@therrnClmr st 50 560 156 53 385 aa morad Sok i ad Saetr ST A TIEE @ SE e 4 — 168
Cash flows (used for) from investing activities ................ ... ... ..... (1,126) 2,174  (1,570)
Financing activities )
Common StOCK TEPUIChASES .. ... ..ottt i e, (4,500)  (1,500) (1,280)
Proceeds from common stock iSsuances . .. ... . 838 688 429
Cashdividends paid ......... ... ... it (3,320) (2,773) (2,261)
Repayments of commercial paper,net ......... ... ... .. i, (201) (3,508) (382)
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt ......... ... ... .. . .. .. 6,935 5,291 3,968
Repaymentsiof'long=term debli ;s 53 amssacmnnsames s vwmsoe =@ sas oo ok 5 &3 (2,600) (3,472) (2,596)
(Repayments) proceeds of notes from subsidiary ... ....................... (1,127) 1,704 30)
O O T T B e Bt e e (923) (446) 421)
Cash flows used for financing activities ............. .. ... .. ..c........ (4,898) 4,016) (2,573)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents . .. ......... ... ... ... ........ 75 179 151
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period . .................... ... 359 180 29
Cash and cash equivalents,end of period . ... ........... .. ............. $ 434 $ 359 §$ 180
Supplemental cash flow disclosures

@ashpaidSforinterest om ot w5 i@ o006 B aacd Eatkn e rood: s6 rat g Ty s TEE 3dg s $1,294 $ 1,062 $ 974
Gashipaid forNeoOMETAXES) +.q o res b2 g ey & HE S 56 L Fae i p e st 2,379 3,455 4,557
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities

Common stock issued for acquisitions ... ...........c.ooiuviniiiienaeen.. g — $ 2164 $ —
Conversion of note receivable from subsidiaries toequity . .. ................ — 4,378 —-

See Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements of Registrant
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Schedule I

Condensed Financial Information of Registrant
(Parent Company Only)
UnitedHealth Group
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements

1. Basis of Presentation

UnitedHealth Group’s parent company financial information has been derived from its consolidated financial
statements and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements included in this

Form 10-K. The accounting policies for the registrant are the same as those described in Note 2 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

2. Subsidiary Transactions

Investment in Subsidiaries. UnitedHealth Group’s investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost plus equity in
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries.

Dividends and Capital Distributions. Cash dividends received from subsidiaries and included in Cash Flows
from Operating Activities in the Condensed Statements of Cash Flows were $5.6 billion, $3.4 billion and

$3.7 billion in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Additionally, $4.2 billion, $3.4 billion and $2.1 billion in cash
were received as a return of capital to the parent company during 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

3. Commercial Paper and Long-Term Debt

Discussion of commercial paper and long-term debt can be found in Note 8 of Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Part II, Item §, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” Long-term
debt obligations of the parent company do not include other financing obligations at subsidiaries that totaled
$1.3 billion and $625 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Maturities of commercial paper and long-term debt for the years ending December 31 are as follows:

(in millions)

2009} = e o ke o P17 e Rl A e £ Y S B & 8 o 1 e i ot o P e O 4 ey P 5 o ) e $ 1,750
2020) 7 o 5 A3 1 3 Er ] o il o A W S Sy M e T B R el i B A S S A e Ay A A e iR 3,150
2025 5 Yoo 0 Ak & B M T e R b St ) e e e R i et il BT SR A 1 T O e e h -3 e o 3,150
D A B en o e i o e 3 S S b L B S B O e B OE Sre & Eht” Py et EYE LI o o S ST e 1 Sk i 3,015
) ] e e R e T i e 5 TG B o A e S ey v B B v B B3 SE o e T e e L 2 o 2AN2S
A TR ot o e TR om0 75 on o 1 3 ol LSl i e A s L s 22,477

4. Commitments and Contingencies

For a summary of commitments and contingencies, see Note 12 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: February 12, 2019

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INCORPORATED

By /s/ DAVID S. WICHMANN

David S. Wichmann
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

Title

Date

/s/ DAVID S. WICHMANN

David S. Wichmann

/s/ JOHN I'. REX

John F. Rex

/s/ THomAs E. Roos

Thomas E. Roos

%

William C. Ballard, Jr.
*

Richard T. Burke

®

Timothy P. Flynn

%

Stephen J. Hemsley

*

Michele J. Hooper

*

F. William McNabb III

*

Valerie Montgomery Rice
%

Glenn M. Renwick
*

Gail R. Wilensky

*By /s/  MARIANNE D. SHORT

Marianne D. Short,
As Attorney-in-Fact

Director and
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Lixecutive Vice I'resident and
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer
(principal accounting officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Exhibit 9-B: Annual Report on Form 10-K of UHG for the year
ended December 31, 2017, filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission (includes audited financial statements for 2017 and
2016)
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PARTI

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
INTRODUCTION
Overview

UnitedHealth Group is a diversified health care company dedicated to helping people live healthier lives and
helping make the health system work better for everyone. The terms “we,” “our,” “us,” “its,” “UnitedHealth
Group,” or the “Company” used in this report refer to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and its subsidiaries.

Through our diversified family of businesses, we leverage core competencies in data and health information;
advanced technology; and clinical expertise to help meet the demands of the health system. These core
competencies are deployed within our two distinct, but strategically aligned, business platforms: health benefits
operating under UnitedHealthcare and health services operating under Optum.

UnitedHealthcare provides health care benefits to an array of customers and markets. UnitedHealthcare
Employer & Individual serves employers ranging from sole proprietorships to large, multi-site and national
employers, public sector employers and other individuals. UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement delivers
health and well-being benefits for Medicare beneficiaries and retirees. UnitedHealthcare Community & State
manages health care benefit programs on behalf of state Medicaid and community programs and their
participants. UnitedHealthcare Global includes the provision of health and dental benefits and hospital and
clinical services to employer groups and individuals in Brazil, and other diversified global health businesses.

Optum is a health services business serving the broad health care marketplace, including payers, care providers,
employers, governments, life sciences companies and consumers, through its OptumHealth, OptumInsight and
OptumRx businesses. These businesses have dedicated units that help improve overall health system
performance through optimizing care quality, reducing costs and improving consumer experience and care
provider performance, leveraging distinctive capabilities in data and analytics, pharmacy care services,
population health, health care delivery and health care operations.

Through UnitedHealthcare and Optum, in 2017, we processed nearly three-quarters of a trillion dollars in gross
billed charges and we managed nearly $250 billion in aggregate health care spending on behalf of the customers
and consumers we serve. Our revenues are derived from premiums on risk-based products; fees from
management, administrative, technology and consulting services; sales of a wide variety of products and services
related to the broad health care industry; and investment and other income. Our two business platforms have four
reportable segments: :
. UnitedHealthcare, which includes UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual, UnitedHealthcare Medicare &
Retirement, UnitedHealthcare Community & State and UnitedHealthcare Global;

. OptumHealth;
e Optumlnsight; and
*  OptumRx.

For our financial results and the presentation of certain other financial information by segment, including
revenues and long-lived fixed assets by geographic source, see Note 13 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements.”

UnitedHealthcare

Through its health benefits offerings, UnitedHealthcare is enabling better health, helping to control rising health
care costs and creating a better health care experience for its customers. UnitedHealthcare’s market position is

built on:

*  strong local market relationships;



*  the breadth of product offerings, which are responsive to many distinct market segments in health care;
* service and advanced technology;

e competitive medical and operating cost positions;

» effective clinical engagement;

. extensive expertise in distinct market segments; and

*  innovation for customers and consumers.

UnitedHealthcare utilizes Optum’s capabilities to help coordinate patient care, improve affordability of medical
care, analyze cost trends, manage pharmacy benefits, work with care providers more effectively and create a
simpler consumer experience.

In the United States, UnitedHealthcare arranges for discounted access to care through networks that include
1.2 million physicians and other health care professionals and approximately 6,500 hospitals and other facilities.

UnitedHealthcare is subject to extensive government regulation. See further discussion of our regulatory
environment below under “Government Regulation” and in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual

UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual ofters an array of consumer-oriented health benefit plans and services
nationwide for large national employers, public sector euployers, wid-sized enployers, small businesses, and
individuals. UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual provides access to medical services for over 27 million
people on behalf of our customers and alliance partners. This includes more than 230,000 employer customers
serving people across all 50 states, the District of Columbia and most U.S. territories. Products are offered
through affiliates that are licensed as insurance companies, health maintenance organizations (HMOs), or third-
party administrators (TPAs). Large employer groups typically use self-funded arrangements where
UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual earns a service fee. Smaller employer groups and individuals are more
likely to purchase risk-based products because they are less willing or unable to bear a greater potential liability
for health care expenditures.

Through its risk-based produci offerings, UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual assumes the risk of both
medical and administrative costs for its customers in return for a monthly premium, which is typically a fixed
rate per individual served for a one-year period. When providing administrative and other management services
to customers that elect to self-fund the health care costs of their employees and employees’ dependents,
UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual receives a fixed monthly service fee per individual served. These
customers retain the risk of financing medical benefits for their employees and employees’ dependents, while
UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual provides services such as coordination and facilitation of medical and
related services to customers, consumers and health care professionals, administration of transaction processing
and access to a contracted network of physicians, hospitals and other health care professionals, including dental
and vision.

The consolidated purchasing capacity represented by the individuals served by UnitedHealth Group makes it
possible for UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual to contract for cost-effective access to a large number of
conveniently located care professionals and facilities. UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual has relationships
with network care providers that integrate data and analytics, implement value-based payments and care
management programs, and enable us to jointly better manage health care and improve quality across
populations.

UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual typically distributes its products through consultants or direct sales in
the larger employer and public sector segments. In the smaller group segment of the commercial marketplace,
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UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual’s distribution system consists primarily of direct sales and sales
through collaboration with brokers and agents. UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual also distributes
products through wholesale agents or agencies that contract with health insurance carriers to distribute individual
or group benefits and provide other related services to their customers. In addition, UnitedHealthcare

Employer & Individual distributes its products through professional employer organizations, associations and
through both multi-carrier and its own proprietary private exchange marketplaces.

UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual’s diverse product portfolio offers employers a continuum of benefit
designs, price points and approaches to consumer engagement, which provides the flexibility to meet a full
spectrum of their coverage needs.

UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual’s major product families include:

Traditional Products. Traditional products include a full range of medical benefits and network options from
managed plans, such as Choice and Options PPO, to more traditional indemnity products. The plans offer a full
spectrum of covered services, including preventive care, direct access to specialists and catastrophic protection.

Consumer Engagement Products. Consumer engagement products couple plan design with financial accounts to
increase individuals’ responsibility for their health and well-being. This suite of products includes high-
deductible consumer-driven benefit plans, which include health reimbursement accounts (HRAs), health savings
accounts (HSAs) and consumer engagement services such as personalized behavioral incentive programs and
consumer education. During 2017, more than 50,000 employer-sponsored benefit plans, including nearly 400
employers in the large group self-funded market, purchased HRA or HSA health benefit products from us.

Clinical and Pharmacy Products. UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual offers a comprehensive suite of
clinical and pharmacy care services products, which complement its service offerings by improving quality of
care, engaging members and providing cost-saving options. All UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual
members are provided access to clinical products that help them make better health care decisions and better use
of their medical benefits, which contribute to improved health and lowered medical expenses.

Each medical plan has a core set of clinical programs embedded in the offering, with additional services available
depending on offering type (risk-based or self-funded), line of business (e.g., small business, key accounts,
public sector, national accounts or individuals) and clinical need. UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual’s
clinical programs include:

*  wellness programs;

. decision support;

. utilization management;

e case and disease management;

e complex condition management;

*  on-site programs, including biometrics and flu shots;

*  incentives to reinforce positive behavior change;

* mental health/substance use disorder management; and

*  employee assistance programs.

UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual’s comprehensive and integrated pharmaceutical care services promote
lower costs by using formulary programs to produce better unit costs, encouraging consumers to use drugs that

“offer improved value and outcomes, helping consumers take actions to improve their health and supporting the
appropriate use of drugs based on clinical evidence through physician and consumer education programs.
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Specialty Offerings. UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual also delivers dental, vision, life, critical illness and
disability product offerings through an integrated approach, using its network of more than 22,000 vision offices
and more than 85,000 dental offices, in private and retail settings.

UnitedHealthcare Military & Veterans. UnitedHealthcare Military & Veterans was the provider of health care
services for nearly 3 million active duty and retired military service members and their families under the
Department of Defense’s (DoD) TRICARE Managed Care Support contract that concluded on January 1, 2018.

UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement

UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement provides health and well-being services to individuals age 50 and
older, addressing their unique needs for preventive and acute health care services, as well as services dealing
with chronic disease and other specialized issues common among older individuals. UnitedHealthcare

Medicare & Retirement is fully dedicated to serving this growing senior market segment, providing products and
services in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and most U.S. territories. UnitedHealthcare Medicare &
Retirement has distinct pricing, underwriting, clinical program management and marketing capabilities dedicated
to health products and services in this market.

UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement offers a selection of products that allow people to obtain the health
coverage and services they need as their circumstances change. UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement is
positioned to serve seniors who find that affordable, network-based care provided through Medicare Advantage
plans meets their unique health care needs. For those who prefer traditional fee-for-service Medicare,
UnitedIlealthcare Medicare & Retircment offcrs both Mcdicarc Supplement and Medicarc Prescription Drug
Benefit (Medicare Part D) prescription drug programs that supplement their government-sponsored Medicare by
providing additional benefits and coverage options. Beneficiaries with special needs are served through
UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement Dual, Chronic and Institutional Special Needs Plans (SNPs) in many
markets. UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement services include care management and clinical management
programs, a nurse health line service, 24-hour access to health care information, access to discounted health
services from a network of care providers and administrative services.

UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement has extensive distribution capabilities and experience, including direct
marketing to consumers on behalf of its key clients: AARP, the nation’s largest membership organization
dedicated to the needs of people age 50 and over, and state and U.S. government agencies. Products are alsc
offered through employer groups and agent channels.

UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement’s major product categories include:

Medicare Advantage. UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement provides health care coverage for seniors and
other eligible Medicare beneficiaries primarily through the Medicare Advantage program administered by the
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), including Medicare Advantage HMO plans, preferred
provider organization (PPO) plans, Point-of-Service plans, Private-Fee-for-Service plans and SNPs. Under the
Medicare Advantage program, UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement provides health insurance coverage in
exchange for a fixed monthly premium per member from CMS plus, in some cases, monthly consumer
premiums. Premium amounts received from CMS vary based on the geographic areas in which members reside;
demographic factors such as age, gender and institutionalized status; and the health status of the individual.
Medicare Advantage plans are designed to compete at the local level, taking into account member and care
provider preferences, competitor offerings, our quality and cost initiatives, our historical financial results and the
long-term payment rate outlook for each geographic area. UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement served

4.4 million people through its Medicare Advantage products as of December 31, 2017.

Built on more than 20 years of experience, UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement’s senior-focused care
management model operates at a medical cost level below that of traditional Medicare, while helping seniors live
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healthier lives. Through UnitedHealth Group’s HouseCalls program, nurse practitioners performed nearly

1.3 million in-home preventive care visits in 2017 to address unmet-care opportunities and close gaps in care. For
high-risk patients in certain care settings and programs, UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement uses
proprietary, automated medical record software that enables clinical care teams to capture and track patient data
and clinical encounters, creating a comprehensive set of care information that bridges across home, hospital and
nursing home care settings. Proprietary predictive modeling tools help identify people at high risk and allow care
managers to create individualized care plans that help them obtain the right care, in the right place, at the right
time.

Medicare Part D. UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement provides Medicare Part D benefits to beneficiaries
throughout the United States and its territories through its Medicare Advantage and stand-alone Medicare Part D
plans. The stand-alone Medicare Part D plans address a large spectrum of beneficiaries’ needs and preferences
for their prescription drug coverage, including low cost prescription options. Each of the plans includes the
majority of the drugs covered by Medicare and provides varying levels of coverage to meet the diverse needs of
Medicare beneficiaries. As of December 31, 2017, UnitedHealthcare enrolled 8.9 million people in the Medicare
Part D programs, including 4.9 million individuals in the stand-alone Medicare Part D plans with the remainder
in Medicare Advantage plans incorporating Medicare Part D coverage.

Medicare Supplement. UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement is currently serving 4.9 million seniors
nationwide through various Medicare Supplement products in association with AARP. UnitedHealthcare
Medicare & Retirement offers a full range of supplemental products at a diversity of price points. These products
cover various levels of coinsurance and deductible gaps that seniors are exposed to in the traditional Medicare
program.

Premium revenues from CMS represented 28% of UnitedHealth Group’s total consolidated revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2017, most of which were generated by UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement.

UnitedHealthcare Community & State

UnitedHealthcare Community & State is dedicated to serving state programs that care for the economically
disadvantaged, the medically underserved and those without the benefit of employer-funded health care
coverage, in exchange for a monthly premium per member from the state program. In some cases, these
premiums are subject to experience or risk adjustments. UnitedHealthcare Community & State’s primary
customers oversee Medicaid plans, Children’s Health Insurance Programs (CHIP), SNPs, integrated Medicare-
Medicaid plans (MMP) and other federal, state and community health care programs. As of December 31, 2017,
UnitedHealthcare Community & State participated in programs in 28 states and the District of Columbia, and
served 6.7 million beneficiaries; including more than 1.1 million people through Medicaid expansion programs in
16 states under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA).

States using managed care services for Medicaid beneficiaries select health plans by using a formal bid process
or by awarding individual contracts. A number of factors are considered by UnitedHealthcare Community &
State when choosing programs for participation, including the state’s commitment and consistency of support for
its Medicaid managed care program in terms of service, innovation and funding; the eligible population base,
both immediate and long term; and the structure of the projected program. UnitedHealthcare Community & State
works with its state customers to advocate for actuarially sound rates, commensurate with medical cost trends.

The primary categories of eligibility for the programs served by UnitedHealthcare Community & State and its
participation are:

»  Temporary Assistance to Needy Families, primarily women and children — 26 markets;

¢ CHIP - 25 markets;

. Aged, Blind and Disabled — 22 markets;



*  SNP - 20 markets;

. Medicaid Expansion — 16 markets;

*  Long-Term Services and Supports — 14 markets;
*  MMP - 2 markets; and

e other programs (e.g., administrative services, childless adults, developmentally disabled) — 9 markets.

These health plans and care programs offered are designed to address the complex needs of the populations they
serve, including the chronically ill, those with disabilities and people with a higher risk of medical, behavioral
and social conditions. UnitedHealthcare Community & State administers benefits for the unique needs of
children, pregnant women, adults, seniors and those who are institutionalized or are nursing home eligible. These
individuals often live in areas that are medically underserved and are less likely to have a consistent relationship
with the medical community or a care provider. These individuals also tend to face significant social and
economic challenges.

UnitedHealthcare Community & State leverages the national capabilities of UnitedHealth Group locally,
supporting effective care management, strong regulatory partnerships, greater administrative efficiency,
improved clinical outcomes and the ability to adapt to a changing national and local market environment.
UnitedHealthcare Community & State coordinates resources among family, physicians, other health care
providers, and government and community-based agencies and organizations to facilitate continuous and
effective care and often addresses other social determinants that can impact people’s health status and health
syslein usage.

Approximately 75% of the people in state Medicaid programs are served by managed care, but this population
represents only 40% of total Medicaid spending. UnitedHealthcare Community & State’s business development
opportunities include entering fee-for-service markets converting to managed care, which represents a population
of nearly 8 million people; and growing in existing managed care markets, including state expansions to
populations with more complex needs requiring.more sophisticated models of care. This expansion includes
integrated management of physical, behavioral, long-term care services and supports, and social services by
applying strong data analytics and community-based collaboration.

UniiedHealihcare Community & State continues to evolve its clinical mode! to cnhance quality and the clinical
experience for the people it serves. The model allows UnitedHealthcare Community & State to quickly identify
the people who could benefit most from more highly coordinated care; typlcally, the 5% of members who are
most at risk and drive over 50% of states’ medical costs.

UnitedHealthcare Global

UnitedHealthcare Global serves more than 4 million people with medical benefits and 2 million with dental
benefits, residing principally in Brazil, but also in more than 130 other countries. UnitedHealthcare Global owns
and operates nearly 150 hospitals, specialty centers, primary care and emergency services clinics in Brazil and
Portugal. UnitedHealthcare Global provides a comprehensive range of health and mobilization capabilities and
supports the health systems of individual nations with support for improving health care financing and delivery.
Clients include multi-national and local businesses, governments and individuals around the world.

Global Markets. UnitedHealthcare Global serves local populations in select markets around the world, primarily
in Brazil and Portugal, by touching nearly every aspect of health care and leveraging expertise in clinical care

management and health care data to improve outcomes, raise quality and constrain costs.

In Brazil, Amil provides health benefits to 4 million people through a broad network of owned and affiliated
clinics, hospitals and care providers. Dental benefits are also provided to 2 million people. Amil’s members have
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access to both an owned care delivery system, as well as a contracted provider network of nearly 21,000
physicians and other health care professionals, approximately 1,800 hospitals and nearly 7,000 laboratories and
diagnostic imaging centers. Americas Servigcos Médicos offers health care delivery in Brazil through hospitals,
ambulatory clinics and surgery centers to Amil members and the external payer market.

Lusiadas Saiide provides clinical services in Portugal through an owned network of hospitals and outpatient
clinics.

Global Solutions. UnitedHealthcare Global includes other diversified global health services with a variety of
offerings for international customers, including:

¢ Global Insurance, which offers expatriate insurance solution for globally mobile employees and their
families;
*  Assistance and Risk provides a global medical network and evacuation services;

*  Global Medical provides remote medical services, telemedicine, supplies and equipment, and end-to-end
remote medical services; and

e U.S. Networks assists foreign insurers and employers navigating the U.S. health care system.

Optum
Optum is a health services business serving the broad health care marketplace, including:

»  Those who need care: the consumers who need the right support, information, resources and products to
achieve their health goals.

*  Those who provide care: pharmacies, hospitals, physicians, practices and other health care facilities seeking
to modernize the health system and support the best possible patient care and experiences.

*  Those who pay for care: employers, health plans, and state, federal and municipal agencies devoted to
ensuring the populations they sponsor receive high-quality care, administered and delivered efficiently and
effectively.

»  Those who innovate for care: global life sciences organizations dedicated to developing more effective
approaches to care, enabling technologies and medicines that improve care delivery and health outcomes.

Optum operates three business segments leveraging distinctive capabilities in data and analytics, pharmacy care
services, population health, health care delivery and health care operations:

e OptumHealth focuses on care delivery, care management, wellness and consumer engagement, and health
financial services; v

*  OptumlInsight specializes in data and analytics and other health care information technology services, and
delivers operational services and support; and

e  OptumRx provides pharmacy care services.

OptumHealth

OptumHealth is a diversified health and wellness business serving the physical, emotional and health-related
financial needs of 91 million unique individuals. OptumHealth enables population health management through
programs offered by employers, payers, government entities and directly with the care delivery system.
OptumHealth products and services deliver value by improving quality and patient satisfaction while lowering
cost. OptumHealth builds high-performing networks and centers of excellence across the care continuum, by
working directly with physicians to advance population health management and by coordinating care for the most
medically complex patients.



OptumHealth serves patients and care providers through its local ambulatory care services business and delivers
care through a physician-led, patient-centric and data-driven organization comprised of more than 30,000
employed, managed and contracted physicians. OptumHealth also enables care providers’ transition from
traditional, fee-for-service care delivery to performance-based delivery and payment models that put patient
health and outcomes first, such as those emerging through accountable care organizations (ACOs) and local care
provider partnerships. Through strategic partnerships, alliances and ownership arrangements OptumHealth helps
care providers adopt new approaches and technologies that improve the coordination of care across all providers
involved in patient care. MedExpress’ over 240 neighborhood care centers provide urgent and walk-in care
services with a consumer-friendly approach and Surgical Care Affiliates” 200 independent ambulatory surgical
centers and surgical hospitals provide high-value surgical services at a lower cost than a traditional in-patient
hospital setting.

OptumHealth’s mobile care delivery business delivers occupational health and medical services to government
customers, with a particular focus on the U.S. military.

OptumHealth serves people through population health management services that meet both the preventive care
and health intervention needs of consumers across the care continuum—ophysical health and wellness, mental
health, complex medical conditions, disease management, hospitalization and post-acute care. This includes
offering access to proprietary networks of provider specialists in many clinical specialties, including behavioral
health, organ transplant, chiropractic and physical therapy. OptumHealth engages consumers in managing their
health, including guidance, tools and programs that help them achieve their health goals and maintain healthy
lifestyles.

Optum Financial Services, through Optum Bank, a wholly-owned subsidiary, serves consumers through

4.8 million health savings and other accounts with over $8 billion in assets under management as of

December 31, 2017. During 2017, Optum Bank processed nearly $150 billion in medical payments to physicians
and other health care providers. Organizations across the health system rely on Optum to manage and improve
payment flows through its highly automated, scalable, electronic payment systems.

OptumHealth offers its products on a risk basis, where it assumes responsibility for health care costs in exchange
for a monthly premium per individual served, on an administrative fee basis, under which it manages or
administers delivery of the products or services in exchange for a fixed monthly fee per individual served, or on a
fee-for-service basis, where it delivers medical services to patients in exchange for a contracted fee. For its
financial services offerings, OptumHealth charges fees and earns investment income on managed funds.

OptumHealth sells its products primarily through its direct sales force, strategic collaborations and external
producers in three markets: employers (which includes the sub-markets of large, mid-sized and small employers),
payers (which includes the sub-markets of health plans, TPAs, underwriter/stop-loss carriers and individual
market intermediaries) and government entities (which includes states, CMS, DoD, the Veterans Administration
and other federal procurement agencies).

OptumlInsight

OptumInsight provides services, technology and health care expertise to major participants in the health care
industry. OptumlInsight’s capabilities are focused on data and analytics, technology and information that help
improve the quality of care and drive greater efficiency in the health care system. Hospital systems, physicians,
health plans, governments, life sciences companies and other organizations that comprise the health care industry
depend on OptumInsight to help them improve performance, achieve efficiency, reduce costs, advance quality,
meet compliance mandates and modernize their core operating systems to meet the changing needs of the health
system.

Many of OptumInsight’s software and information products and professional services are delivered over
extended periods, often several years. OptumlInsight maintains an order backlog to track unearned revenues under
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these long-term arrangements. The backlog consists of estimated revenue from signed contracts, other legally
binding agreements and anticipated contract renewals based on historical experience with OptumInsight’s
customers. OptumlInsight’s aggregate backlog at December 31, 2017, was $15.0 billion, of which $8.3 billion is
expected to be realized within the next 12 months. This includes $5.4 billion related to intersegment agreements,
all of which are in the current portion of the backlog. OptumInsight’s aggregate backlog at December 31, 2016,
was $12.6 billion. OptumInsight cannot provide any assurance that it will be able to realize all of the revenues
included in the backlog due to uncertainties with regard to the timing and scope of services and the potential for
cancellation, non-renewal or early termination of service arrangements.

OptumlInsight’s products and services are sold primarily through a direct sales force. OptumInsight’s products
are also supported and distributed through an array of alliances and business partnerships with other technology
vendors, who integrate and interface OptumInsight’s products with their applications.

Optumlnsight believes it is well positioned to address the needs of four primary market segments: care providers
(e.g., physicians and hospital systems), health plans, governments and life sciences companies.

Care Providers. Serving more than four out of five U.S. hospitals and more than 100,000 physicians,
OptumInsight assists care providers in meeting their challenge to improve patient outcomes and care amid
changing payment models and pressures. OptumInsight brings a broad array of solutions to help care providers
meet these challenges, with particular focus on clinical performance and quality improvement, population health
management, data management and analytics, revenue management, cost containment, compliance, cloud-
enabled collaboration and consumer engagement.

Health Plans. OptumInsight serves approximately 300 health plans through cost-effective, technology-enabled
solutions that help them improve efficiency, understand and optimize growth while managing risk, deliver on
clinical performance and compliance goals, and build and manage strong networks of care.

Governments. OptumlInsight provides services tailored to government payers, including data and analytics
technology, claims management and payment accuracy services, and strategic consulting.

Life Sciences. OptumlInsight provides services to global life sciences companies. These companies look to
OptumInsight for data, analytics and expertise in core areas of health economics and outcomes research, market
access consulting, integrated clinical and health care claims data and informatics services, epidemiology and drug
safety, and patient reported outcomes.

OptumRx

OptumRx provides a full spectrum of pharmacy care services to more than 65 million people in the United States
through its network of more than 67,000 retail pharmacies, multiple home delivery and specialty pharmacies and
through the provision of home infusion services. OptumRx’s comprehensive whole-person approach to pharmacy
care services integrates demographic, medical, laboratory, pharmaceutical and other clinical data and applies
analytics to drive clinical care insight to support care treatments and compliance, benefiting clients and
individuals through enhanced services, elevated clinical quality and cost trend management.

In 2017, OptumRx managed approximately $85 billion in pharmaceutical spending, including $35 billion in
specialty pharmaceutical spending.

OptumRx provides pharmacy care services to a number of health plans, including a substantial majority of
UnitedHealthcare members, large national employer plans, unions and trusts and government entities.
OptumRx’s distribution system consists primarily of health insurance brokers and other health care consultants

and direct sales.



As of December 31, 2017, OptumRx operated four home delivery pharmacies in the United States, which
provides patients with access to maintenance medications and enables OptumRx to manage clients’ drug costs
through operating efficiencies and economies of scale. As of December 31, 2017, OptumRx’s specialty pharmacy
operations included 16 specialty mail order pharmacies located throughout the United States that are used for
delivery of advanced medications to individuals with chronic or genetic diseases and disorders.

OptumRx offers multiple clinical programs and services to help clients manage overall pharmacy and heailth care
costs in a clinically appropriate manner, which are designed to promote good health outcomes, and to help target
inappropriate utilization and non-adherence to medication, each of which may result in adverse medical events
that negatively impact member health and client pharmacy and medical spend. OptumRx provides various
utilization management, medication management, quality assurance, adherence and counseling programs to
complement the client’s plan design and clinical strategies. OptumRx offers a distinctive approach to integrating
the management of medical and pharmaceutical care, using data and advanced analytics to help improve
comprehensive decision-making, elevate quality, close gaps in care and reduce costs for customers and members.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

Most of our businesses are subject to comprehensive federal, state and international laws and regulations. We are
regulated by federal, state and international regulatory agencies that generally have discretion to issue regulations
and interpret and enforce laws and rules. The regulations can vary significantly from jurisdiction to jurisdiction
and the interpretation of existing laws and rules also may change periodically. Domestic and international
governments continue to enact and consider various legislative and regulatory proposals that could materially
impact certain aspects of the health care system. New laws, regulations and rules, or changes in the interpretation
of existing laws, regulations and rules, including as a result of changes in the political climate, could adversely
affect our business.

If we fail to comply with, or fail to respond quickly and appropriately to changes in, applicable laws, regulations
and rules, our business, results of operations, financial position and cash flows could be materially and adversely
affected. See Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” for a discussion of the risks related to our compliance with federal,
state and international laws and regulations.

Federal Laws and Regulation

We are subject to various levels of U.S. federal regulation. For example, when we contract with the federal
government, we are subject to federal laws and regulations relating to the award, administration and performance
of U.S. government contracts. CMS regulates our UnitedHealthcare businesses and certain aspects of our Optum
businesses. Payments by CMS to our businesses are subject to regulations, including those governing
fee-for-service and the submission of information relating to the health status of enrollees for purposes of
determining the amounts of certain payments to us. CMS also has the right to audit our performance to determine
our compliance with CMS contracts and regulations and the quality of care we provide to Medicare beneficiaries.
Our commercial business is further subject to CMS audits related to medical loss ratios (MLRs) and risk
adjustment data.

UnitedHealthcare Community & State has Medicaid and CHIP contracts that are subject to federal regulations
regarding services to be provided to Medicaid enrollees, payment for those services and other aspects of these
programs. There are many regulations affecting Medicare and Medicaid compliance and the regulatory
environment with respect to these programs is complex. We are also subject to federal law and regulations
relating to the administration of contracts with federal agencies. In addition, our business is subject to laws and
regulations relating to consumer protection, anti-fraud and abuse, anti-kickbacks, false claims, prohibited
referrals, inappropriately reducing or limiting health care services, anti-money laundering, securities and
antitrust.
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The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. On December 22, 2017, the U.S. federal government enacted a tax bill (Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act or Tax Reform). The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act changed existing United States tax law and includes
numerous provisions that will affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows. For instance,
Tax Reform reduced the U.S. corporate income tax rate and changed business-related exclusions and deductions
and credits.

Privacy, Security and Data Standards Regulation. The administrative simplification provisions of the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended (HIPAA), apply to both the group and
individual health insurance markets, including self-funded employee benefit plans. Federal regulations related to
HIPAA contain minimum standards for electronic transactions and code sets and for the privacy and security of
protected health information.

The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH) imposed requirements on
uses and disclosures of health information; included contracting requirements for HIPAA business associate
agreements; extended parts of HIPAA privacy and security provisions to business associates; added federal data
breach notification requirements for covered entities and business associates and reporting requirements to the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) and the Federal Trade Commission and, in some cases, to
the local media; strengthened enforcement and imposed higher financial penalties for HIPAA violations and, in
certain cases, imposed criminal penalties for individuals, including employees. In the conduct of our business,
depending on the circumstances, we may act as either a covered entity or a business associate. Federal consumer
protection laws may also apply in some instances to privacy and security practices related to personally
identifiable information.

The use and disclosure of individually identifiable health data by our businesses is also regulated in some
instances by other federal laws, including the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (GLBA) or state statutes implementing
GLBA. These federal laws and state statutes generally require insurers to provide customers with notice
regarding how their non-public personal health and financial information is used and the opportunity to “opt out”
of certain disclosures before the insurer shares such information with a third party, and generally require
safeguards for the protection of personal information. Neither the GLBA nor HIPAA privacy regulations preempt
more stringent state laws and regulations that may apply to us, as discussed below.

ERISA. The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA), regulates how our
services are provided to or through certain types of employer-sponsored health benefit plans. ERISA is a set of
laws and regulations that is subject to periodic interpretation by the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) as well as
the federal courts. ERISA sets forth standards on how our business units may do business with employers who
sponsor employee health benefit plans, particularly those that maintain self-funded plans. Regulations established
by the DOL subject us to additional requirements for administration of benefits, claims payment and member
appeals under health care plans governed by ERISA.

State Laws and Regulation

Health Care Regulation. Our insurance and HMO subsidiaries must be licensed by the jurisdictions in which
they conduct business. All of the states in which our subsidiaries offer insurance and HMO products regulate
those products and operations. The states require periodic financial reports and establish minimum capital or
restricted cash reserve requirements. The National Association of Insurance Commissioners has adopted model
regulations that, where adopted by states, require expanded governance practices and risk and solvency
assessment reporting.- Most states have adopted these or similar measures to expand the scope of regulations
relating to corporate governance and internal control activities of HMOs and insurance companies. We are
required to maintain a risk management framework and file a confidential self-assessment report with state
insurance regulators. Reports are filed annually with Connecticut, our lead regulator, and with New York, as
required by that state’s regulation. Certain states have also adopted their own regulations for minimum MLRs
with which health plans must comply. In addition, a number of state legislatures have enacted or are
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contemplating significant reforms of their health insurance markets, either independent of or to comply with or
be eligible for grants or other incentives in connection with the ACA, which may affect our operations and our
financial results.

Health plans and insurance companies are regulated under state insurance holding company regulations. Such
regulations generally require registration with applicable state departments of insurance and the filing of reports
that describe capital structure, ownership, financial condition, certain intercompany transactions and general
business operations. Most state insurance holding company laws and regulations require prior regulatory
approval of acquisitions and material intercompany transfers of assets, as well as transactions between the
regulated companies and their parent holding companies or affiliates. These laws may restrict the ability of our
regulated subsidiaries to pay dividends to our holding companies.

Some of our business activity is subject to other health care-related regulations and requirements, including PPO,
Managed Care Organization (MCO), utilization review (UR), TPA, pharmacy care services, durable medical
equipment or care provider-related regulations and licensure requirements. These regulations differ from state to
state and may contain network, contracting, product and rate, licensing and financial and reporting requirements.
There are laws and regulations that set specific standards for delivery of services, appeals, grievances and
payment of claims, adequacy of health care professional networks, fraud prevention, protection of consumer
health information, pricing and underwriting practices and covered benefits and services. State health care anti-
fraud and abuse prohibitions encompass a wide range of activities, including kickbacks for referral of members,
billing for unnecessary medical services and improper marketing. Certain of our businesses are subject to state
general agent, broker and sales distributions laws and regulations. UnitedHealthcare Community & State and
cetlain of vur Oplum businesses are subject to regulation by statc Mcdicaid agencics that oversee the provision of
benefits to our Medicaid and CHIP beneficiaries and to our dually eligible (for Medicare and Medicaid)
beneficiaries. We also contract with state governmental entities and are subject to state laws and regulations
relating to the award, administration and performance of state government contracts.

State Privacy and Security Regulations. A number of states have adopted laws and regulations that may affect
our privacy and security practices, such as state laws that govern the use, disclosure and protection of social
security numbers and protected health information or that are designed to implement GLBA or protect credit card
account data. State and local authorities increasingly focus on the importance of protecting individuals from
identity theft, with a significant number of states enacting laws requiring businesses to meet minimum cyber-
security standards and notify individuals of security breaches involving personal information. Statc consumer
protection laws may also apply to privacy and security practices related to personally identifiable information,
including information related to consumers and care providers. Different approaches to state privacy and
insurance regulation and varying enforcement philosophies in the different states may materially and adversely
affect our ability to standardize our products and services across state lines. See Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors”
for a discussion of the risks related to compliance with state privacy and security regulations.

Corporate Practice of Medicine and Fee-Splitting Laws. Certain of our businesses function as direct medical
service providers and, as such, are subject to additional laws and regulations. Some states have corporate practice
of medicine laws that prohibit specific types of entities from practicing medicine or employing physicians to
practice medicine. Moreover, some states prohibit certain entities from sharing in the fees or revenues of a
professional practice (fee-splitting). These prohibitions may be statutory or regulatory, or may be imposed
through judicial or regulatory interpretation. The laws, regulations and interpretations in certain states have been
subject to limited judicial and regulatory interpretation and are subject to change.

Pharmacy and PBM Regulations

OptumRx’s businesses include home delivery and specialty pharmacies that must be licensed as pharmacies in
the states in which they are located. Certain of our home delivery and specialty pharmacies must also register
with the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) and individual state controlled substance authorities to
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dispense controlled substances. In addition to the laws and regulations in the states where our home delivery and
specialty pharmacies are located, laws and regulations in non-resident states where we deliver pharmaceuticals
may also apply, including those requiring us to register with the board of pharmacy in the non-resident state.
These non-resident states generally expect our home delivery and specialty pharmacies to follow the laws of the
state in which the pharmacies are located, but some states also require us to comply with the laws of that
non-resident state when pharmaceuticals are delivered there. As certain of our home delivery and specialty
pharmacies maintain eligibility as Medicare and state Medicaid providers, their participation in the programs
requires them to comply with the applicable Medicare and Medicaid provider rules and regulations. Other laws
and regulations affecting our home delivery and specialty pharmacies include federal and state statutes and
regulations governing the labeling, packaging, advertising and adulteration of prescription drugs and dispensing
of controlled substances. See Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” for a discussion of the risks related to our pharmacy
care services businesses.

Legislation seeking to regulate PBM activities introduced or enacted in a number of states could impact our
business practices. Additionally, organizations like the National Association of Insurance Commissioners
periodically issue model regulations and credentialing organizations, like the National Committee for Quality
Assurance (NCQA) and the Utilization Review Accreditation Commission (URAC), may establish standards that
impact PBM, mail or specialty pharmacy activities. While these model regulations and standards do not have the
force of law, they may influence states to adopt their recommendations and impact the services we deliver to our
clients. There is both federal and state legislation affecting the ability to limit access to a pharmacy provider
network or remove network providers. Additionally, many states limit our ability to manage and establish
maximum allowable costs for generic prescription drugs. With respect to formulary services, a number of
government entities, including CMS, HHS and state departments of insurance, regulate the administration of
prescription drug benefits offered through federal or state exchanges. Many states also regulate the scope of
prescription drug coverage, as well as the delivery channels to receive such prescriptions, for insurers, MCOs and
Medicaid managed care plans. These regulations could limit or preclude (i) certain plan designs, (ii) limited
networks, (iii) requirements to use particular care providers or distribution channel, (iv) copayment differentials
among providers and (v) formulary tiering practices.

Consumer Protection Laws

Certain of our businesses participate in direct-to-consumer activities and are subject to regulations applicable to
on-line communications and other general consumer protection laws and regulations such as the Federal Tort
Claims Act, the Federal Postal Service Act and the Federal Trade Commission‘s (FTC) Telemarketing Sales
Rule. Most states also have similar consumer protection laws.

Certain laws, such as the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, give the FTC, Federal Communications
Commission (“FCC”) and state attorneys general the ability to regulate, and bring enforcement actions relating
to, telemarketing practices and certain automated outbound contacts such as phone calls, texts or emails. Under
certain circumstances, these laws may provide consumers with a private right of action. Violations of these laws
could result in substantial statutory penalties and other sanctions.

Banking Regulation

Optum Bank is subject to regulation by federal banking regulators, including the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, which performs annual examinations to ensure that the bank is operating in accordance with federal
safety and soundness requirements, and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, which may perform periodic
examinations to ensure that the bank is in compliance with applicable consumer protection statutes, regulations
and agency guidelines. Optum Bank is also subject to supervision and regulation by the Utah State Department of
Financial Institutions, which carries out annual examinations to ensure that the bank is operating in accordance
with state safety and soundness requirements and performs periodic examinations of the bank’s compliance with
applicable state banking statutes, regulations and agency guidelines. In the event of unfavorable examination
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results from any of these agencies, the bank could become subject to increased operational expenses and capital
requirements, enhanced governmental oversight and monetary penalties.

International Regulation

Certain of our businesses operate internationally and are subject to regulation in the jurisdictions in which they
are organized or conduct business. These regulatory regimes vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. In addition,
our non-U.S. businesses and operations are subject to U.S. laws that regulate the conduct and activities of U.S.-
based businesses operating abroad, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), which prohibits offering,
promising, providing or authorizing others to give anything of value to a foreign government official to obtain or
retain business or otherwise secure a business advantage.

COMPETITION

As a diversified health care company, we operate in highly competitive markets. Our competitors include
managed health care companies, insurance companies, HMOs, TPAs, PBMs and business services outsourcing
companies, health care professionals that have formed networks to contract directly with employers or with
CMS, specialty benefit providers, government entities, population health management companies and various
health information and consulting companies. For our UnitedHealthcare businesses, our competitors include
Aetna Inc., Anthem, Inc., Centene Corporation, Cigna Corporation, Humana Inc., Kaiser Permanente, numerous
for-profit and not-for-profit organizations operating under licenses from the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association
and, with respect to our Brazilian operations, several established competitors in Brazi! and other enterprises that
serve more limited geographic areas. For our OplumRx businesses, vur coupetitors include CVS Ilealth
Corporation, Express Scripts, Inc. and Prime Therapeutics LLC. New entrants into the markets in which we
compete, as well as consolidation within these markets, also contribute to a competitive environment. We
compete on the basis of the sales, marketing and pricing of our products and services; product innovation;
consumer engagement and satisfaction; the level and quality of products and services; care delivery; network and
clinical management capabilities; market share; product distribution systems; efficiency of administration
operations; financial strength; and marketplace reputation. If we fail to compete effectively to maintain or
increase our market share, including by maintaining or increasing enrollments in businesses providing health
benefits, our results of operations, financial position and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.
See Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” for additional discussion of our risks related to competition.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

We have obtained trademark registration for the UnitedHealth Group, UnitedHealthcare and Optum names and
logos. We own registrations for certain of our other trademarks in the United States and abroad. We hold a
portfolio of patents and have patent applications pending from time to time. We are not substantially dependent
on any single patent or group of related patents.

Unless otherwise noted, trademarks appearing in this report are trademarks owned by us. We disclaim any
proprietary interest in the marks and names of others.

EMPLOYEES
As of December 31, 2017, we employed 260,000 individuals.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following sets forth certain information regarding our executive officers as of February 13, 2018, including
the business experience of each executive officer during the past five years:

Name ﬁ Position
Stephen, JHEMSIEY, . ae vans @ orse pia smnim e suty e 65 Executive Chair of the Board
| DY/ 10 SRR/ (cloinncs ol o R R 55 Chief Executive Officer
StevenH.Nelson ............................. 58 Executive Vice President; Chief Executive Officer

of UnitedHealthcare

LAtLy? G RENTLO) 4. asistem o enermionsion onah 5e 5 Emensamme-ons o Hion B 64 Vice Chairman; Chief Executive Officer of Optum
JONAES RGN & ok o 0 e O 550 5 50 e on o 81 o e e 55 Executive Vice President; Chief Financial Officer
Thomas{E;s RO0s| corstmimrse meatsa s masmue @t 45  Senior Vice President; Chief Accounting Officer
MARIANNEADE SNOK 1 s oo s & s 2w A o o8 weiyirgr o e 66 Executive Vice President; Chief Legal Officer
DEENeh WIlSEM 5 s as A tere: Bracoecet 356964 o2 60 Executive Vice President, Human Capital

Our Board of Directors elects executive officers annually. Our executive officers serve until their successors are
duly elected and qualified, or until their earlier death, resignation, removal or disqualification.

Mr. Hemsley is Executive Chair of the Board of UnitedHealth Group and has served in that capacity since
September 2017. Mr. Hemsley previously served as Chief Executive Officer from 2006 to August 2017. He has
been a member of the Board of Directors since 2000.

Mr. Wichmann is Chief Executive Officer of UnitedHealth Group and a member of the Board of Directors and
has served in that capacity since September 2017. Mr. Wichmann previously served as President of UnitedHealth
Group from November 2014 to August 2017. Mr. Wichmann also served as Chief Financial Officer of
UnitedHealth Group from January 2011 to June 2016. From April 2008 to November 2014, Mr. Wichmann
served as Executive Vice President of UnitedHealth Group and President of UnitedHealth Group Operations.

Mr. Nelson is Executive Vice President of UnitedHealth Group and Chief Executive Officer of UnitedHealthcare
and has served in that capacity since August 2017. Mr. Nelson served as Chief Executive Officer of
UnitedHealthcare’s Medicare & Retirement, from March 2014 to August 2017. He served as Chief Executive
Officer of UnitedHealthcare Community & State from August 2012 to March 2014. From January 2008 to July
2012 he served as President of UnitedHealthcare Community & State and then Chief Executive Officer of
UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual’s West Region business.

Mr. Renfro is Vice Chairman of UnitedHealth Group and Chief Executive Officer of Optum. Mr. Renfro has
served as Vice Chairman of UnitedHealth Group since November 2014 and Chief Executive Officer of Optum
since July 2011. From January 2011 to July 2011, Mr. Renfro served as Executive Vice President of
UnitedHealth Group.

Mr. Rex is Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of UnitedHealth Group and has served in that
capacity since June 2016. From March 2012 to June 2016, Mr. Rex served as Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Optum. Prior to joining Optum in 2012, Mr. Rex spent over a decade at JP Morgan, a global
financial services firm, and its predecessors, concluding his tenure as a Managing Director.

Mr. Roos is Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of UnitedHealth Group and has served in that
capacity since August 2015. Prior to joining UnitedHealth Group, Mr. Roos was a Partner at Deloitte & Touche
LLP, an independent registered accounting firm, from September 2007 to August 2015.

Ms. Short is Executive Vice President and Chief Legal Officer of UnitedHealth Group and has served in that
capacity since January 2013. Prior to joining UnitedHealth Group, Ms. Short served as the Managing Partner at
Dorsey & Whitney LLP, an international law firm, from January 2007 to December 2012.
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Ms. Wilson is Executive Vice President, Human Capital of UnitedHealth Group and has served in that capacity
since June 2013. From January 2012 to May 2013, Ms. Wilson served as Chief Administrative Officer of Optum.
Prior to joining Optum, Ms. Wilson served for 17 years at Fidelity Investments, concluding her tenure there as
head of Human Resources.

Additional Information

UnitedHealth Group Incorporated was incorporated in January 1977 in Minnesota. On July 1, 2015,
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated changed its state of incorporation from Minnesota to Delaware pursuant to a
plan of conversion. Our executive offices are located at UnitedHealth Group Center, 9900 Bren Road East,
Minnetonka, Minnesota 55343; our telephone number is (952) 936-1300.

You can access our website at www.unitedhealthgroup.com to learn more about our company. From that site, you
can download and print copies of our annual reports to shareholders, annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, along with amendments to those reports. You can also
download from our website our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and corporate governance policies, including
our Principles of Governance, Board of Directors Committee Charters and Code of Conduct. We make periodic
reports and amendments available, free of charge, on our website, as soon as reasonably practicable after we file
or furnish these reports to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). We will also provide a copy of any of
our corporate governance policies published on our website free of charge, upon request. To request a copy of
any of these documents, please submit your request to: UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, 9900 Bren Road East,
Minnetonka, MN 55343, Attn: Corporate Secretary. Information on or linked to our website is neither part of nor
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any other SEC filings. :

Our transfer agent, Wells Fargo Shareowner Services, can help you with a variety of shareholder-related services,
including change of address, lost stock certificates, transfer of stock to another person and other administrative
services. You can write to our transfer agent at: Wells Fargo Shareowner Services, P.O. Box 64854, St. Paul,
Minnesota 55164-0854, email stocktransfer @wellsfargo.com, or telephone (800) 468-9716 or (651) 450-4064.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS

The statements, estimates, projections or outlook contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include forward-
looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (PSLRA). When
used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in future filings by us with the SEC, in our news releases,
presentations to securities analysts or investors, and in oral statements made by or with the approval of one of our
executive officers, the words “believe,” “expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “forecast,” “outlook,”
“plan,” “project,” “should” or similar words or phrases are intended to identify such forward-looking statements.
These statements are intended to take advantage of the “safe harbor” provisions of the PSLRA. These forward-
looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the
expectations expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statement in this
report speaks only as of the date of this report and, except as required by law; we undertake no obligation to
update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances, including unanticipated events, after the
date of this report.

9 <, 2%

The following discussion contains cautionary statements regarding our business that investors and others should
consider. We do not undertake to address in future filings or communications regarding our business or results of
operations how any of these factors may have caused our results to differ from discussions or information
contained in previous filings or communications. In addition, any of the matters discussed below may have
affected past, as well as current, forward-looking statements about future results. Any or all forward-looking
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in any other public filings or statements we make may turn
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out to be wrong. Our forward-looking statements can be affected by inaccurate assumptions we might make or by
known or unknown risks and uncertainties. Many factors discussed below will be important in determining our
future results. By their nature, forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance or results and
are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict or quantify.

If we fail to estimate, price for and manage our medical costs in an effective manner, the profitability of
our risk-based products and services could decline and could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

Through our risk-based benefit products, we assume the risk of both medical and administrative costs for our
customers in return for monthly premiums. Premium revenues from risk-based benefits products comprise nearly
80% of our total consolidated revenues. We generally use approximately 80% to 85% of our premium revenues
to pay the costs of health care services delivered to these customers. The profitability of our products depends in
large part on our ability to predict, price for and effectively manage medical costs. In this regard, federal and
state regulatory requirements obligate our commercial, Medicare Advantage and certain state-based Medicaid
health plans to maintain minimum MLRs, which could make it more difficult for us to obtain price increases for
our products. In addition, our OptumHealth business negotiates capitation arrangements with commercial third-
party payers. Under the typical capitation arrangement, the health care provider receives a fixed percentage of a
third-party payer’s premiums to cover all or a defined portion of the medical costs provided to the capitated
member. If we fail to predict accurately, price for or manage the costs of providing care to our capitated
members, our results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We manage medical costs through underwriting criteria, product design, negotiation of favorable provider
contracts and care management programs. Total medical costs are affected by the number of individual services
rendered, the cost of each service and the type of service rendered. Our premium revenue on commercial policies
and Medicaid contracts are typically based on a fixed monthly rate per individual served for a 12-month period
and is generally priced one to six months before the contract commences. Our revenue on Medicare policies is
based on bids submitted to CMS in June the year before the contract year. Although we base the commercial and
Medicaid premiums we charge and our Medicare bids on our estimates of future medical costs over the fixed
contract period, many factors may cause actual costs to exceed those estimated and reflected in premiums or
bids. These factors may include medical cost inflation, increased use of services, increased cost of individual
services, natural catastrophes or other large-scale medical emergencies, epidemics, the introduction of new or
costly drugs, treatments and technology, new treatment guidelines, new mandated benefits (such as the expansion
of essential benefits coverage) or other regulatory changes and insured population characteristics. Relatively
small differences between predicted and actual medical costs or utilization rates as a percentage of revenues can
result in significant changes in our financial results. For example, if our 2017 medical costs for commercial
insured products were 1% higher, without proportionally higher revenues from such products, our annual net
earnings for 2017 would have been reduced by approximately $235 million, excluding any offsetting impact
from risk adjustment or from reduced premium rebates due to minimum MLRs.

In addition, the financial results we report for any particular period include estimates of costs that have been
incurred for which claims are still outstanding. These estimates involve an extensive degree of judgment. If these
estimates prove inaccurate, our results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Our business activities are highly regulated and new laws or regulations or changes in existing laws or
regulations or their enforcement or application could materially and adversely affect our business.

We are regulated by federal, state and local governments in the United States and other countries where we do
business. Our insurance and HMO subsidiaries must be licensed by and are subject to regulation in the
jurisdictions in which they conduct business. For example, states require periodic financial reports and enforce
minimum capital or restricted cash reserve requirements. Health plans and insurance companies are also
regulated under state insurance holding company regulations and some of our activities may be subject to other
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health care-related regulations and requirements, including those relating to PPOs, MCOs, UR and TPA-related
regulations and licensure requirements. Some of our UnitedHealthcare and Optum businesses hold government
contracts or provide services related to government contracts and are subject to U.S. federal and state and
non-U.S. self-referral, anti-kickback, medical necessity, risk adjustment, false claims and other laws and
regulations governing government contractors and the use of government funds. In addition, under state guaranty
association laws, certain insurance companies can be assessed (up to prescribed limits) for certain obligations to
the policyholders and claimants of impaired or insolvent insurance companies that write the same line or similar
lines of business. Some states have similar laws relating to HMOs and other payers such as consumer operated
and oriented plans (co-ops) established under the ACA. Any such assessment could expose our insurance entities
and other insurers to the risk of paying a portion of an impaired or insolvent insurance company’s claims through
state guaranty associations.

Certain of our businesses provide products or services to various government agencies. Our relationships with
these government agencies are subject to the terms of contracts that we hold with the agencies and to laws and
regulations regarding government contracts. Among others, certain laws and regulations restrict or prohibit
companies from performing work for government agencies that might be viewed as an actual or potential conflict
of interest. These laws may limit our ability to pursue and perform certain types of work, thereby materially and
adversely affecting our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Certain of our Optum businesses are also subject to regulations that are distinct from those faced by our
insurance and HMO subsidiaries, including, for example, state telemedicine regulations; debt collection laws;
banking regulations; distributor and producer licensing requirements; state corporate practice of medicine
doctrines; [ee-splitting rules; aud health care facilily licensure and certificate of need requirements, some of
which could impact our relationships with physicians, hospitals and customers. These risks and uncertainties may
materially and adversely affect our ability to market or provide our products and services, or to do so at targeted
operating margins, or may increase the regulatory burdens under which we operate.

The laws and rules governing our businesses and interpretations of those laws and rules are subject to frequent
change. For example, legislative, administrative and public policy changes to the ACA are being debated, and we
cannot predict if the ACA will be further modified or repealed or replaced. Additionally, the integration into our
businesses of entities that we acquire may affect the way in which existing laws and rules apply to us, including
subjecting us to laws and rules that did not previously apply to us. The broad latitude given to the agencies
administering, inlerpreling and enforcing curreni and future regulations governing our businesses could force us
to change how we do business, restrict revenue and enrollment growth, increase our health care and
administrative costs and capital requirements, or expose us to increased liability in courts for coverage
determinations, contract interpretation and other actions.

We also must obtain and maintain regulatory approvals to market many of our products and services, increase
prices for certain regulated products and services and complete certain acquisitions and dispositions or integrate
certain acquisitions. For example, premium rates for our health insurance and managed care products are subject
to regulatory review or approval in many states and by the federal government. Additionally, we must submit
data on all proposed rate increases on many of our products to HHS for monitoring purposes. Geographic and
product expansions may be subject to state and federal regulatory approvals. Delays in obtaining necessary
approvals or our failure to obtain or maintain adequate approvals could materially and adversely affect our results
of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Certain of our businesses operate internationally and are subject to regulation in the jurisdictions in which they
are organized or conduct business. These regulatory regimes encompass, among other matters, local and cross-
border taxation, licensing, tariffs, intellectual property, investment, capital (including minimum solvency margin
and reserve requirements), management control, labor, anti-fraud, anti-corruption and privacy and data protection
regulations (including requirements for cross-border data transfers) that vary by jurisdiction. We currently
operate outside of the United States and in the future may acquire or commence additional businesses based
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outside of the United States, increasing our exposure to non-U.S. regulatory regimes. For example, our
UnitedHealthcare Brazil business subjects us to Brazilian laws and regulations affecting hospitals, managed care
and insurance industries and to regulation by Brazilian regulators, including the national regulatory agency for
private health insurance and plans, the Agéncia Nacional de Saide Suplementar, whose approach to the-
interpretation, implementation and enforcement of industry regulations could differ from the approach taken by
U.S. regulators. In addition, our non-U.S. businesses and operations are subject to U.S. laws that regulate the
conduct and activities of U.S.-based businesses operating abroad, such as the FCPA, which prohibits offering,
promising, providing or authorizing others to give anything of value to a foreign government official to obtain or
retain business or otherwise secure a business advantage. Our failure to comply with U.S. or non-U.S. laws and
regulations governing our conduct outside the United States or to establish constructive relations with non-U.S.
regulators could adversely affect our ability to market our products and services, or to do so at targeted operating
margins, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The health care industry is also regularly subject to negative publicity, including as a result of governmental
investigations, adverse media coverage and political debate surrounding industry regulation. Negative publicity
may adversely affect our stock price and damage our reputation in various markets.

As a result of our participation in various government health care programs, both as a payer and as a
service provider to payers, we are exposed to additional risks associated with program funding,
enrollments, payment adjustments, audits and government investigations that could materially and
adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

We participate in various federal, state and local government health care benefit programs, including as a payer
in Medicare Advantage, Medicare Part D, various Medicaid programs and CHIP, and receive substantial
revenues from these programs. Certain of our Optum businesses also provide services to payers participating in
government health care programs. A reduction or less than expected increase, or a protracted delay, in
government funding for these programs or change in allocation methodologies, or, as is a typical feature of many
government contracts, termination of the contract at the option of the government, may materially and adversely
affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

The government health care programs in which we participate generally are subject to frequent changes,
including changes that may reduce the number of persons enrolled or eligible for coverage, reduce the amount of
reimbursement or payment levels, reduce our participation in certain service areas or markets, or increase our
administrative or medical costs under such programs. Revenues for these programs depend on periodic funding
from the federal government or applicable state governments and allocation of the funding through various
payment mechanisms. Funding for these government programs depends on many factors outside of our control,
including general economic conditions and budgetary constraints at the federal or applicable state level. For
example CMS has in the past reduced or frozen Medicare Advantage benchmarks, and additional cuts to
Medicare Advantage benchmarks are possible. In addition, from time to time, CMS makes changes to the way it
calculates Medicare Advantage risk adjustment payments. Although we have adjusted members’ benefits and
premiums on a selective basis, ceased to offer benefit plans in certain counties, and intensified both our medical
and operating cost management in response to the benchmark reductions and other funding pressures, these or
other strategies may not fully address the funding pressures in the Medicare Advantage program. In addition,
payers in the Medicare Advantage program may be subject to reductions in payments from CMS as a result of
decreased funding or recoupment pursuant to government audit.

Under the Medicaid managed care program, state Medicaid agencies seek bids from eligible health plans to
continue their participation in the acute care Medicaid health programs. If we are not successful in obtaining
renewals of state Medicaid managed care contracts, we risk losing the members that were enrolled in those
Medicaid plans. Under the Medicare Part D program, to qualify for automatic enroliment of low income
members, our bids must result in an enrollee premium below a regional benchmark, which is calculated by the
government after all regional bids are submitted. If the enrollee premium is not below the government
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benchmark, we risk losing the members who were auto-assigned to us and will not have additional members
auto-assigned to us. In general, our bids are based upon certain assumptions regarding enrollment, utilization,
medical costs and other factors. If any of these assumptions is materially incorrect, either as a result of
unforeseen changes to the programs on which we bid, or submission by our competitors at lower rates than our
bids, our results of operations, financial position and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

Many of the government health care coverage programs in which we participate are subject to the prior
satisfaction of certain conditions or performance standards or benchmarks. For example, as part of the ACA,
CMS has a system that provides various quality bonus payments to Medicare Advantage plans that meet certain
quality star ratings at the local plan level. The star rating system considers various measures adopted by CMS,
including, among others, quality of care, preventive services, chronic illness management and customer
satisfaction. Plans must have a rating of four stars or higher to qualify for bonus payments. If we do not maintain
or continue to improve our star ratings, our plans may not be eligible for quality bonuses and we may experience
a negative impact on our revenues and the benefits that our plans can offer, which could materially and adversely
affect the marketability of our plans, our membership levels, results of operations, financial position and cash
flows. Any changes in standards or care delivery models that apply to government health care programs,
including Medicare and Medicaid, or our inability to improve our quality scores and star ratings to meet
government performance requirements or to match the performance of our competitors could result in limitations
to our participation in or exclusion from these or other government programs, which in turn could materially and
adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

CMS uses various payment mechanisms to allocate funding for Medicare programs, including adjustment of
monthly capitation payments to Medicare Advantage plans and Medicare Part D plans according to the predicted
health status of each beneficiary as supported by data from health care providers for Medicare Advantage plans,
as well as, for Medicare Part D plans, risk-sharing provisions based on a comparison of costs predicted in our
annual bids to actual prescription drug costs. Some state Medicaid programs utilize a similar process. For
example, our UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement and UnitedHealthcare Community & State businesses
submit information relating to the health status of enrollees to CMS or state agencies for purposes of determining
the amount of certain payments to us. CMS and the Office of Inspector General for HHS periodically perform
risk adjustment data validation (RADV) audits of selected Medicare health plans to validate the coding practices
of and supporting documentation maintained by health care providers. Certain of our local plans have been
selected for such audits, which have in the past resulted and could in the future result in retrospective adjustments
to payments made to our health plans, fines, corrective action plans or other adverse action by CMS.

We have been and may in the future become involved in routine, regular and special governmental
investigations, audits, reviews and assessments. For example, various governmental agencies have conducted
investigations.into certain PBM practices, which have resulted in other PBMs agreeing to civil penalties,
including the payment of money and corporate integrity agreements. Additionally, such investigations, audits or
reviews sometimes arise out of or prompt claims by private litigants or whistleblowers that, among other
allegations, we failed to disclose certain business practices or, as a government contractor, submitted false or
erroneous claims to the government. Governmental investigations, audits, reviews and assessments could lead to
government actions, which could result in adverse publicity, the assessment of damages, civil or criminal fines or
penalties, or other sanctions, including restrictions or changes in the way we conduct business, loss of licensure
or exclusion from participation in government programs, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

If we sustain cyber-attacks or other privacy or data security incidents that result in security breaches that
disrupt our operations or result in the unintended dissemination of protected personal information or
proprietary or confidential information, we could suffer a loss of revenue and increased costs, exposure to
significant liability, reputational harm and other serious negative consequences.

We routinely process, store and transmit large amounts of data in our operations, including protected personal
information as well as proprietary or confidential information relating to our business or third-parties. Some .of
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the data we process, store and transmit may be outside of the United States due to our information technology
systems and international business operations. We are regularly the target of attempted cyber-attacks and other
security threats and may be subject to breaches of the information technology systems we use. We have programs
in place to detect, contain and respond to data security incidents and provide employee awareness training around
phishing, malware and other cyber risks to protect, to the greatest extent possible, against cyber risks and security
breaches. However, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or
sabotage systems change frequently and may be difficult to detect for long periods of time, we may be unable to
anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventive measures. Experienced computer programmers and
hackers may be able to penetrate our layered security controls and misappropriate or compromise protected
personal information or proprietary or confidential information or that of third-parties, create system disruptions
or cause system shutdowns. They also may be able to develop and deploy viruses, worms and other malicious
software programs that attack our systems or otherwise exploit any security vulnerabilities. Hardware, software,
or applications we develop or procure from third parties may contain defects in design or manufacture or other
problems that could unexpectedly compromise information security. Our facilities may also be vulnerable to
security incidents or security attacks; acts of vandalism or theft; coordinated attacks by activist entities;
misplaced or lost data; human errors; or other similar events that could negatively affect our systems and our
customer’s data.

The costs to eliminate or address the foregoing security threats and vulnerabilities before or after a cyber-incident
could be material. Our remediation efforts may not be successful and could result in interruptions, delays, or
cessation of service and loss of existing or potential customers. In addition, breaches of our security measures
and the unauthorized dissemination of sensitive personal information, proprietary information or confidential
information about us or our customers or other third-parties, could expose our customers’ private information and
our customers to the risk of financial or medical identity theft, or expose us or other third-parties to a risk of loss
or misuse of this information, result in litigation and potential liability for us, damage our brand and reputation,
or otherwise harm our business.

If we fail to comply with applicable privacy, security and data laws, regulations and standards, including
-with respect to third-party service providers that utilize protected personal information on our behalf, our
business, reputation, results of operations, financial position and cash flows could be materially and
adversely affected.

The collection, maintenance, protection, use, transmission, disclosure and disposal of protected personal
information are regulated at the federal, state, international and industry levels and requirements are imposed on
us by contracts with customers. These laws, rules and requirements are subject to change. Compliance with new
privacy and security laws, regulations and requirements may result in increased operating costs, and may
constrain or require us to alter our-business model or operations. For example, the HITECH amendments to
HIPAA imposed further restrictions on our ability to collect, disclose and use protected personal information and
imposed additional compliance requirements on our business.

Internationally, many of the jurisdictions in which we operate have established their own data security and
privacy legal framework with which we or our customers must comply. We expect that there will continue to be
new proposed laws, regulations and industry standards concerning privacy, data protection and information
security in the European Union and other jurisdictions, and we cannot yet determine the impacts such future
laws, regulations and standards may have on our businesses or the businesses of our customers. For example, in
May 2018, the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation will overhaul data protection laws in the
European Union. The new regulation will supersede current European Union data protection legislation, may
impose more stringent European Union data protection requirements on us or our customers, and may prescribe
greater penalties for noncompliance.

Many of our businesses are also subject to the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, which is a
multifaceted security standard that is designed to protect credit card account data as mandated by payment card
industry entities.
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HIPAA requires business associates as well as covered entities to comply with certain privacy and security
requirements. While we provide for appropriate protections through our contracts with our third-party service
providers and in certain cases assess their security controls, we have limited oversight or control over their
actions and practices. Several of our businesses act as business associates to their covered entity customers and,
as a result, collect, use, disclose and maintain protected personal information in order to provide services to these
customers. HHS has announced that it will continue its audit program to assess HIPAA compliance efforts by
covered entities and expand it to include business associates. An audit resulting in findings or allegations of
noncompliance could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position and cash
flows.

Through our Optum businesses, including our Optum Labs business, we maintain a database of administrative
and clinical data that is statistically de-identified in accordance with HIPAA standards. Noncompliance or
findings of noncompliance with applicable laws, regulations or requirements, or the occurrence of any privacy or
security breach involving the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized disclosure of protected personal
information, whether by us or by one of our third-party service providers, could have a material adverse effect on
our reputation and business, including mandatory disclosure to the media, loss of existing or new customers,
significant increases in the cost of managing and remediating privacy or security incidents and material fines,
penalties and litigation awards, among other consequences, any of which could have a material and adverse
effect on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Our businesses providing pharmacy care services face regulatory and operational risks and uncertainties
that may differ from the risks of our other businesses.

We provide pharmacy care services through our OptumRx and UnitedHealthcare businesses. Each business is
subject to federal and state anti-kickback beneficiary inducement and other laws that govern the relationships of
the business with pharmaceutical manufacturers, physicians, pharmacies, customers and consumers. As a
provider of pharmacy benefit management services, OptumRx is also subject to an increasing number of
licensure, registration and other laws and accreditation standards that impact the business practices of a pharmacy
benefit manager. OptumRx also conducts business through home delivery, specialty pharmacies and home
infusion, which subjects it to extensive federal, state and local laws and regulations, including those of the DEA
and individual state controlled substance authorities, the FDA and Boards of Pharmacy. In addition, federal and
state legislatures regularly consider new regulations for the industry that could materially and adversely affect
current industry practices, including potential new legislation and regulations regarding the receipt or disclosure
of rebates and other fees from pharmaceutical companies, the development and use of formularies and other
utilization management tools, the use of average wholesale prices or other pricing benchmarks, pricing for
specialty pharmaceuticals, limited access to networks and pharmacy network reimbursement methodologies.

We could face potential claims in connection with purported errors by our home delivery or specialty pharmacies
or the provision of home infusion services, including in connection with the risks inherent in the packaging and
distribution of pharmaceuticals and other health care products. Disruptions from any of our home delivery,
specialty pharmacy or home infusion services could materially and adversely affect our results of operations,
financial position and cash flows.

In addition, our pharmacy care services businesses provide services to sponsors of health benefit plans that are
subject to ERISA. A private party or the DOL, which is the agency that enforces ERISA, could assert that the
fiduciary obligations imposed by the statute apply to some or all of the services provided by our pharmacy care
services businesses even where our pharmacy care services businesses are not contractually obligated to assume
fiduciary obligations. If a court were to determine that fiduciary obligations apply to our pharmacy care services
businesses in connection with services for which our pharmacy care services businesses are not contractually
obligated to assume fiduciary obligations, we could be subject to claims for breaches of fiduciary obligations or
claims that we entered into certain prohibited transactions.
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If we fail to compete effectively to maintain or increase our market share, including maintaining or
increasing enrollments in businesses providing health benefits, our results of operations, financial position
and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

Our businesses compete throughout the United States, South America and other foreign markets and face
significant competition in all of the geographic markets in which we operate. In particular markets, our
competitors, compared to us, may have greater capabilities, resources or market share; a more established
reputation; superior supplier or health care professional arrangements; better existing business relationships;
lower profit margin or financial return expectations; or other factors that give such competitors a competitive
advantage. Our competitive position may also be adversely affected by significant merger and acquisition
activity that has occurred in the industries in which we operate, both among our competitors and suppliers
(including hospitals, physician groups and other health care professionals). Consolidation may make it more
difficult for us to retain or increase our customer base, improve the terms on which we do business with our
suppliers, or maintain or increase profitability. In addition, new direct-to-consumer business models from
competing businesses may make it more difficult for us to directly engage consumers in the selection and
management of their health care benefits and health care usage, and we may face challenges from new
technologies and market entrants that could disrupt our existing relationship with health plan enrollees in these
areas. Our business, results of operations, financial position and cash flows could be materially and adversely
affected if we do not compete effectively in our markets, if we set rates too high or too low in highly competitive
markets, if we do not design and price our products properly and competitively, if we are unable to innovate and
deliver products and services that demonstrate value to our customers, if we do not provide a satisfactory level of
services, if membership or demand for other services does not increase as we expect or declines, or if we lose
accounts with more profitable products while retaining or increasing membership in accounts with less profitable
products. ‘

If we fail to develop and maintain satisfactory relationships with physicians, hospitals and other service
providers, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

Our results of operations and prospects are substantially dependent on our continued ability to contract with
physicians, hospitals, pharmaceutical benefit service providers, pharmaceutical manufacturers and other service
providers at competitive prices. Any failure by us to develop and maintain satisfactory relationships with health
care providers, whether in-network or out-of-network, could materially and adversely affect our business, results
of operations, financial position and cash flows. In addition, certain activities related to network design, provider
participation in networks and provider payments could result in disputes that may be costly, divert management’s
attention from our operations and result in negative publicity.

In any particular market, physicians and health care providers could refuse to contract, demand higher payments,
or take other actions that could result in higher medical costs, less desirable products for customers or difficulty
meeting regulatory or accreditation requirements. In some markets, certain health care providers, particularly
hospitals, physician/hospital organizations or multi-specialty physician groups, may have significant market
positions or near monopolies that could result in diminished bargaining power on our part. In addition,
accountable care organizations; practice management companies (which aggregate physician practices for
administrative efficiency) and other organizational structures that physicians, hospitals and other care providers
choose may change the way in which these providers do business with us and may change the competitive
landscape. Such organizations or groups of physicians may compete directly with us, which could adversely
affect our operations, and our results of operations, financial position and cash flows by impacting our
relationships with these providers or affecting the way that we price our products and estimate our costs, which
might require us to incur costs to change our operations. In addition, if these providers refuse to contract with us,
use their market position to negotiate favorable contracts or place us at a competitive disadvantage, our ability to
market products or to be profitable in those areas could be materially and adversely affected.

We have capitation arrangements with some physicians, hospitals and other health care providers. Capitation
arrangements limit our exposure to the risk of increasing medical costs, but expose us to risk related to the
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adequacy of the financial and medical care resources of the health care provider. To the extent that a capitated
health care provider organization faces financial difficulties or otherwise is unable to perform its obligations
under the capitation arrangement, we may be held responsible for unpaid health care claims that should have
been the responsibility of the capitated health care provider and for which we have already paid the provider,
under the capitation arrangement. Further, payment or other disputes between a primary care provider and
specialists with whom the primary care provider contracts could result in a disruption in the provision of services
to our members or a reduction in the services available to our members. Health care providers with which we
contract may not properly manage the costs of services, maintain financial solvency or avoid disputes with other
providers. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on the provision of services to our members
and our operations.

Some providers that render services to our members do not have contracts with us. In those cases, we do not have
a pre-established understanding about the amount of compensation that is due to the provider for services
rendered to our members. In some states, the amount of compensation due to these out-of-network providers is
defined by law or regulation, but in most instances the amount is either not defined or is established by a standard
that does not clearly specify dollar terms. In some instances, providers may believe that they are underpaid for
their services and may either litigate or arbitrate their dispute with us or try to recover from our members the
difference between what we have paid them and the amount they charged us.

The success of some of our businesses, including OptumHealth and UnitedHealthcare Brazil, depend on
maintaining satisfactory physician relationships as employees, independent contractors or joint venture partners.
The physicians that practice medicine or contract with our affiliated physician organizations could lerminale their
ptovider contracts or otherwisc bccome unable or unwilling to continuc practicing medicine or contracting with
us. There is and will likely be heightened competition in the markets where we operate to acquire or manage
physician practices or to employ or contract with individual physicians. If we are unable to maintain or grow
satisfactory relationships with physicians, or to acquire, recruit or, in some instances, employ physicians, or to
retain enrollees following the departure of a physician, our revenues could be materially and adversely affected.
In addition, our affiliated physician organizations contract with health insurance and HMO competitors of
UnitedHealthcare. Our businesses could suffer if our affiliated physician organizations fail to maintain
relationships with these health insurance or HMO companies, or fail to adequately price their contracts with these
third-party payers.

In addition, physicians, hospitals, pharmaceutical benefit service providers, pharmaceutical manufacturers and
certain health care providers are customers of our Optum businesses. Physicians also provide medical services at
facilities owned by our Optum businesses. Given the importance of health care providers and other constituents
to our businesses, failure to maintain satisfactory relationships with them could materially and adversely affect
our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

We are routinely subject to various litigation actions due to the nature of our business, which could
damage our reputation and, if resolved unfavorably, could result in substantial penalties or monetary
damages and materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

We are routinely made party to a variety of legal actions related to, among other matters, the design, management
and delivery of our product and service offerings. These matters have included or could in the future include
matters related to health care benefits coverage and payment claims (including disputes with enrollees, customers
and contracted and non-contracted physicians, hospitals and other health care professionals), tort claims
(including claims related to the delivery of health care services, such as medical malpractice by staff at our
affiliates’ facilities, or by health care practitioners who are employed by us, have contractual relationships with
us, or serve as providers to our managed care networks), whistleblower claims (including claims under the False
Claims Act or similar statutes), contract and labor disputes, tax claims and claims related to disclosure of certain
business practices. We are also party to certain class action lawsuits brought by health care professional groups
and consumers. In addition, we operate in jurisdictions outside of the United States, where contractual rights, tax

24



positions and applicable regulations may be subject to interpretation or uncertainty to a greater degree than in the
United States, and therefore subject to dispute by customers, government authorities or others. We are largely
self-insured with regard to litigation risks. While we maintain excess liability insurance with outside insurance
carriers for claims in excess of our self-insurance, certain types of damages, such as punitive damages in some
circumstances, are not covered by insurance. Although we record liabilities for our estimates of the probable
costs resulting from self-insured matters, it is possible that the level of actual losses will significantly exceed the
liabilities recorded.

We cannot predict the outcome of significant legal actions in which we are involved and are incurring expenses
in resolving these matters. The legal actions we face or may face in the future could further increase our cost of
doing business and materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows. In
addition, certain legal actions could result in adverse publicity, which could damage our reputation and
materially and adversely affect our ability to retain our current business or grow our market share in some
markets and businesses.

Any failure by us to manage successfully our strategic alliances or complete, manage or integrate
acquisitions and other significant strategic transactions or relationships domestically or outside the United
States could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, results of operations, financial
position and cash flows.

As part of our business strategy, we frequently engage in discussions with third parties regarding possible
investments, acquisitions, divestitures, strategic alliances, joint ventures and outsourcing transactions and often
enter into agreements relating to such transactions. For example, we have a strategic alliance with AARP under
which we provide AARP-branded Medicare Supplement insurance to AARP members and other AARP-branded
products and services to Medicare beneficiaries. If we fail to meet the needs of our alliance or joint venture
partners, including by developing additional products and services, providing high levels of service, pricing our
products and services competitively or responding effectively to applicable federal and state regulatory changes,
our alliances and joint ventures could be damaged or terminated, which in turn could adversely impact our
reputation, business and results of operations. Further, if we fail to identify and successfully complete
transactions that further our strategic objectives, we may be required to expend resources to develop products and
technology internally, we may be placed at a competitive disadvantage or we may be adversely affected by
negative market perceptions, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial position or cash flows.

Success in completing acquisitions is also dependent on efficiently integrating the acquired business into our
existing operations, including our internal control environment, or otherwise leveraging its operations, which
may present challenges that are different from those presented by organic growth and that may be difficult for us
to manage. If we cannot successfully integrate these acquisitions and realize contemplated revenue growth
opportunities and cost savings, our business, prospects, results of operations, financial position and cash flows
could be materially and adversely affected.

As we expand and operate our business outside of the United States, we are presented with challenges that differ
from those presented by acquisitions of domestic businesses, including challenges in adapting to new markets,
languages, business, labor and cultural practices and regulatory environments. Adapting to these challenges could
require us to devote significant senior management and other resources to the acquired businesses before we
realize anticipated synergies or other benefits from the acquired businesses. These challenges vary widely by
country and may include political instability, government intervention, discriminatory regulation and currency
exchange controls or other restrictions that could prevent us from transferring funds from these operations out of
the countries in which our acquired businesses operate or converting local currencies that we hold into U.S.
dollars or other currencies. If we are unable to manage successfully our non-U.S. acquisitions, our business,
prospects, results of operations and financial position could be materially and adversely affected.
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Foreign currency exchange rates and fluctuations may have an impact on our shareholders’ equity from period to
period, which could adversely affect our debt to debt-plus-equity ratio, and our future revenues, costs and.cash
flows from international operations. Any measures we may implement to reduce the effect of volatile currencies
may be costly or ineffective.

Our sales performance will suffer if we do not adequately attract, retain and provide support to a network
of independent producers and consultants.

Our products and services are sold in part through nonexclusive producers and consultants for whose services
and allegiance we must compete intensely. Our sales would be materially and adversely affected if we are unable
to attract, retain and support such independent producers and consultants or if our sales strategy is not
appropriately aligned across distribution channels. Our relationships with producers could be materially and
adversely impacted by changes in our business practices and the nature of our relationships to address these
pressures, including potential reductions in commission levels.

A number of investigations have been conducted regarding the marketing practices of producers selling health
care products and the payments they receive and have resulted in enforcement actions against companies in our
industry and producers marketing and selling those companies’ products. If we were subjected to similar
investigations and enforcement actions, such actions could result in penalties and the imposition of corrective
action plans, which could materially and adversely impact our ability to market our products.

Untavorable economic conditions could materially and adversely affect our revenues and our results of
operalions.

Unfavorable economic conditions may impact demand for certain of our products and services. For example,
high unemployment can cause lower enrollment or lower rates of renewal in our employer group plans.
Unfavorable economic conditions also have caused and could continue to cause employers to stop offering
certain health care coverage as an employee benefit or elect to offer this coverage on a voluntary, employee-
funded basis as a means to reduce their operating costs. In addition, unfavorable economic conditions could
adversely impact our ability to increase premiums or result in the cancellation by certain customers of our
products and services. These conditions could lead to a decrease in our membership levels and premium and fee
revenues and could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

During a prolonged unfavorable economic environment, state and federal budgets could be materially and
adversely affected, resulting in reduced reimbursements or payments in our federal and state government health
care coverage programs, including Medicare, Medicaid and CHIP. A reduction in state Medicaid reimbursement
rates could be implemented retrospectively to apply to payments already negotiated or received from the
government and could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
In addition, state and federal budgetary pressures could cause the affected governments to impose new or a
higher level of taxes or assessments for our commercial programs, such as premium taxes on insurance
companies and HMOs and surcharges or fees on select fee-for-service and capitated medical claims. Any of these
developments or actions could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and
cash flows.

A prolonged unfavorable economic environment also could adversely impact the financial position of hospitals
and other care providers, which could materially and adversely affect our contracted rates with these parties and
increase our medical costs or materially and adversely affect their ability to purchase our service offerings.
Further, unfavorable economic conditions could adversely impact the customers of our Optum businesses,
including health plans, HMOs, hospitals, care providers, employers and others, which could, in turn, materially
and adversely affect Optum’s financial results.
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Our investment portfolio may suffer losses, which could adversely affect our results of operations,
financial position and cash flows.

Market fluctuations could impair our profitability and capital position. Volatility in interest rates affects our
interest income and the market value of our investments in debt securities of varying maturities, which constitute
the vast majority of the fair value of our investments as of December 31, 2017. Relatively low interest rates on
investments, such as those experienced during recent years, have adversely impacted our investment income, and
the continuation of the current low interest rate environment could further adversely affect our investment
income. In addition, a delay in payment of principal or interest by issuers, or defaults by issuers (primarily
issuers of our investments in corporate and municipal bonds), could reduce our investment income and require us
to write down the value of our investments, which could adversely affect our profitability and equity.

There can be no assurance that our investments will produce total positive returns or that we will not sell
investments at prices that are less than their carrying values. Changes in the value of our investment assets, as a
result of interest rate fluctuations, changes in issuer financial conditions, illiquidity or otherwise, could have an
adverse effect on our equity. In addition, if it became necessary for us to liquidate our investment portfolio on an
accelerated basis, such an action could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and the capital position
of regulated subsidiaries.

If the value of our intangible assets is materially impaired, our results of operations, equity and credit
ratings could be materially and adversely affected.

As of December 31, 2017, goodwill and other intangible assets had a carrying value of $63 billion, representing
45% of our total consolidated assets. We periodically evaluate our goodwill and other intangible assets to
determine whether all or a portion of their carrying values may be impaired, in which case a charge to earnings
may be necessary. The value of our goodwill may be materially and adversely impacted if businesses that we
acquire perform in a manner that is inconsistent with our assumptions. In addition, from time to time we divest
businesses, and any such divestiture could result in significant asset impairment and disposition charges,
including those related to goodwill and other intangible assets. Any future evaluations requiring an impairment of
our goodwill and other intangible assets could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and equity
in the period in which the impairment occurs. A material decrease in equity could, in turn, adversely impact our
credit ratings and potentially impact our compliance with the covenants in our bank credit facilities.

If we fail to maintain properly the integrity or availability of our data or successfully consolidate,
integrate, upgrade or expand our existing information systems, or if our technology products do not
operate as intended, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

Our ability to price adequately our products and services, to provide effective service to our customers in an
efficient and uninterrupted fashion, and to report accurately our results of operations depends on the integrity of
the data in our information systems. We periodically consolidate, integrate, upgrade and expand our information
systems capabilities as a result of technology initiatives and recently enacted regulations, changes in our system
platforms and integration of new business acquisitions. In addition, recent trends toward greater consumer
engagement in health care require new and enhanced technologies, including more sophisticated applications for
mobile devices. Our information systems require an ongoing commitment of significant resources to maintain,
protect and enhance existing systems and develop new systems to keep pace with continuing changes in
information processing technology, evolving systems and regulatory standards and changing customer
preferences. If the information we rely upon to run our businesses is found to be inaccurate or unreliable or if we
fail to maintain or protect our information systems and data integrity effectively, we could lose existing
customers, have difficulty attracting new customers, experience problems in determining medical cost estimates
and establishing appropriate pricing, have difficulty preventing, detecting and controlling fraud, have disputes
with customers, physicians and other health care professionals, become subject to regulatory sanctions or
penalties, incur increases in operating expenses or suffer other adverse consequences. Our process of
consolidating the number of systems we operate, upgrading and expanding our information systems capabilities,
enhancing our systems and developing new systems to keep pace with continuing changes in information
processing technology may not be successful. Failure to protect, consolidate and integrate our systems
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successfully could result in higher than expected costs and diversion of management’s time and energy, which
could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Certain of our businesses sell and install software products that may contain unexpected design defects or may
encounter unexpected complications during installation or when used with other technologies utilized by the
customer. Connectivity among competing technologies is becoming increasingly important in the health care
industry. A failure of our technology products to operate as intended and in a seamless fashion with other
products could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Uncertain and rapidly evolving U.S. federal and state, non-U.S. and international laws and regulations related to
the health information technology market may present compliance challenges and could materially and adversely
affect the configuration of our information systems and platforms, and our ability to compete in this market.

If we are not able to protect our proprietary rights to our databases, software and related products, our
ability to market our knowledge and information-related businesses could be hindered and our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

We rely on our agreements with customers, confidentiality agreements with employees and third parties, and our
trademarks, trade secrets, copyrights and patents to protect our proprietary rights. These legal protections and
precautions may not prevent misappropriation of our proprietary information. In addition, substantial litigation
regarding intellectual property rights exists in the software industry, and we expect software products to be
increasingly subject to third-party infringement claims as the number of products and competitors in this industry
segment grows. Such litigation and misappropriation of vur proprietary inforiation could hinder vur ability to
market and sell products and serviees and our results of operations, financial position and cash flows could be
materially and adversely affected.

Restrictions on our ability to obtain funds from our regulated subsidiaries could materially and adversely
affect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Because we operate as a holding company, we are dependent on dividends and administrative expense
reimbursements from our subsidiaries to fund our obligations. Many of these subsidiaries are regulated by
departments of insurance or similar regulatory authorities. We are also required by law or regulation to maintain
specific prescribed minimum amounts of capital in these subsidiaries. The levels of capitalization required
depend primarily on the volume of premium revenues generated by the applicable subsidiary. In most states, we
are required to seek approval by state regulatory authorities before we transfer money or pay dividends from our
regulated subsidiaries that exceed specified amounts. An inability of our regulated subsidiaries to pay dividends
to their parent companies in the desired amounts or at the time of our choosing could adversely affect our ability
to reinvest in our business through capital expenditures or business acquisitions, as well as our ability to maintain
our corporate quarterly dividend payment, repurchase shares of our common stock and repay our debt. If we are
unable to obtain sufficient funds from our subsidiaries to fund our obligations, our results of operations, financial
position and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

Any downgrades in our credit ratings could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Claims paying ability, financial strength and debt ratings by Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating
Organizations are important factors in establishing the competitive position of insurance companies. Ratings
information is broadly disseminated and generally used by customers and creditors. We believe our claims
paying ability and financial strength ratings are important factors in marketing our products to certain of our
customers. Our credit ratings impact both the cost and availability of future borrowings. Each of the credit rating
agencies reviews its ratings periodically. Our ratings reflect each credit rating agency’s opinion of our financial
strength, operating performance and ability to meet our debt obligations or obligations to policyholders. There
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can be no assurance that our current credit ratings will be maintained in the future. Any downgrades in our credit
ratings could materially increase our costs of or ability to access funds in the debt capital markets and otherwise
materially increase our operating costs.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

To support our business operations in the United States and other countries we own and lease real properties. Our
various reportable segments use these facilities for their respective business purposes, and we believe these
current facilities are suitable for their respective uses and are adequate for our anticipated future needs.

ITEM3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information required by this Item 3 is incorporated herein by reference to the information set forth under the
captions “Legal Matters” and “Governmental Investigations, Audits and Reviews” in Note 12 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements.”

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

MARKET PRICES AND HOLDERS

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol UNH. On January 31,
2018, there were 12,418 registered holders of record of our common stock. The high and low per share common
stock sales prices reported by the NYSE and cash dividends declared for our last two fiscal years were as
follows: ' :

Cash
Dividends

High Low Declared
2017
EITSHGQUATIER gl o m Amrse a4 B el 06/ . e N AN LRt e $172.14 $156.09 $0.625
SECOTANGUATIET et o mwevmes i o ey 8 B i . e . o s P $188.66 $164.25 $0.750
T T ] AL T o o M e XN kB M e m MR 0 S ek s e B S $200.76 $183.86 $0.750
ROUMhGUATIET (1 5 vens ahe @5 @i m g i ccis S a s oAt ds 80T s B aman s da s e $231.77 $186.00 $0.750
2016
Eirsiiquatien s3 shin v ian it ga i i A SR Cae Aot S ot b Sk o e S s $131.10 $107.51 $0.500
Secondiquarier yiasanasoms a0 1570 raiootso Jaug 1o die s dcats iy do it $141.31 $12526 $0.625
BhifdiqUatiel aoifineg s ades oo ) A d s GhEE g o e e e 2 e ' A6 A o fuors $144.48 $132.39 $0.625
RET R TATUETY 22 gerch o o o e SN W M KNSR S B P o b $164.00 $133.03 $0.625
DIVIDEND POLICY

In June 2017, our Board of Directors increased the Company’s quarterly cash dividend to shareholders to an
annual dividend rate of $3.00 per share compared to the annual dividend rate of $2.50 per share, which the
Company had paid since June 2016. Declaration and payment of future quarterly dividends is at the discretion of
the Board and may be adjusted as business needs or market conditions change.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

In November 1997, our Board of Directors adopted a share repurchase program, which the Board evaluates
periodically. There is no established expiration date for the program. During the fourth quarter 2017, we
repurchased 1.6 million shares at an average price of $210.97 per share. As of December 31, 2017, we had Board
authorization to purchase up to 42 million shares of our common stock.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following performance graph compares the cumulative five-year total return to shareholders on our common
stock relative to the cumulative total returns of the S&P 500 index and a customized peer group of certain
Fortune 50 companies (the “Fortune 50 Group”) for the five-year period ended December 31, 2017. We are not
included in the Fortune 50 Group index. In calculating the cumulative total shareholder return of the indexes, the
shareholder returns of the Fortune 50 Group companies are weighted according to the stock market
capitalizations of the companies at January 1 of each year. The comparisons assume the investment of $100 on
December 31, 2012 in our common stock and in each index, and that dividends were reinvested when paid.
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The Fortune 50 Group consists of the following companies: American International Group, Inc., Berkshire
Hathaway Inc., Cardinal Health, Inc., Citigroup Inc., General Electric Company, International Business
Machines Corporation and Johnson & Johnson. Although there are differences among the companies in terms of
size and industry, like UnitedHealth Group, all of these companies are large multi-segment companies using a
well-defined operating model in one or more broad sectors of the economy.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among UnitedHealth Group, the S&P 500 Index,
and Fortune 50 Group

12/12 12/13 12114 12/15 12/16 12/17

——&8— UnitedHealth Group - = — S&P 500 ---©--- Fortune 50 Group
12/12 12/13 12/14 1215 12/16 12/17
UnitedHealthGroup ...................... $100.00 $141.03 $192.45 $227.59 $314.99 $440.44
SEPS00TNAEX! . i ooiopiuims o ey seysimes soes 100.00 132.39 150.51 152.59 170.84 208.14
Fortune50Group ........................ 100.00 127.82 134.63 139.01 157.63 161.63

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price
performance.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

For the Year Ended December 31,

(in millions, except percentages and per share data) 2017 (a) 2016 2015 (b) 2014 2013
Consolidated operating results
REVEIUES], ) 05050310 o omen s eponien im0 BT T ET S 0 8 $201,159 $184,840 $157,107 $130,474 $122,489
Earnings from operations . ...................... 15,209 12,930 11,021 10,274 9,623
Net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group

common shareholders . ....................... 10,558 7,017 5,813 5,619 5,625
REUTHIONIEGUILT(C): oxert koo denchisl & bbby e 53 1S 24.4% 19.4% 17.7% 17.3% 17.7%
Basic earnings per share attributable to UnitedHealth

Group common shareholders .................. S 1095 8 737 § 610 § S8 § 59
Diluted earnings per share attributable to

UnitedHealth Group common shareholders . ... ... 10.72 728 6.01 5.70 550
Cash dividends declared per common share ........ 2.8750 2.3750 1.8750 1.4050 1.0525
Consolidated cash flows from (used for)
Operating activities o6 3008 900 el sahas 87 b sas $ 13596 $ 9,795 $ 9,740 $ 8,051 $ 6,991
Investingractivities] <. q i wiarp s b oo G aaee o6 (8,599) (9,355) (18,395) (2,534) (3,089)
EinancingracliVities), o ofesic o s @i e moei @ & oasms os (3,441) (1,011) 12,239 (5,293) (4,946)
Consolidated financial condition
(as of December 31)
Cashandinvestments ......................c.... $ 43,831 $ 37,143 $ 31,703 $ 28,063 $ 28,818
TS RS TS e ionc i ome o s m e o o e s e RSP 139,058 122,810 111,254 86,300 81,800
Total commercial paper and long-termdebt ........ 31,692 32,970 31,965 17,324 16,778
Redeemable noncontrolling interests .............. 2,189 2,012 1,736 1,388 LS
Botallequityl i asuiracosdssd i eme adEas B2 a6 a I8 49,833 38,177 33,725 . 32,454 32,149

(a) Includes the impact of the revaluation of our net deferred tax liabilities due to Tax Reform enacted in

December 2017.

(b) Includes the effects of the July 2015 acquisition of Catamaran Corporation (Catamaran) and related debt

issuances.

(c) Return on equity is calculated as net earnings divided by average equity. Average equity is calculated using
the equity balance at the end of the preceding year and the equity balances at the end of each of the four

quarters of the year presented.

Financial Highlights should be read with the accompanying “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 and the Consolidated Financial Statements and
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements.”

ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read together with the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements thereto included in Item 8, “Financial Statements.” Readers are
cautioned that the statements, estimates, projections or outlook contained in this report, including discussions
regarding financial prospects, economic conditions, trends and uncertainties contained in this Item 7, may
constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the PSLRA. These forward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the expectations
expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements. A description of some of the risks and uncertainties can
be found further below in this Item 7 and in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”
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EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
General

UnitedHealth Group is a diversified health care company dedicated to helping people live healthier lives and
helping make the health system work better for everyone. Through our diversified family of businesses, we
leverage core competencies in advanced, enabling technology; health care data; information and intelligence; and
clinical care delivery, management and coordination to help meet the demands of the health system. These core
competencies are deployed within our two distinct, but strategically aligned, business platforms: health benefits
operating under UnitedHealthcare and health services operating under Optum.

We have four reportable segments across our two business platforms, UnitedHealthcare and Optum:

e UnitedHealthcare, which includes UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual, UnitedHealthcare Medicare &
Retirement, UnitedHealthcare Community & State and UnitedHealthcare Global;

. OptumHealth;
*  OptumlInsight; and
¢ OptumRx.

Further information on our business and reportable segments is presented in Part I, Item 1, “Business” and in
Note 13 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements.”

Business Trends

Our businesses participate in the United States, South America and certain other international health markets. In
the United States, health care spending has grown consistently for many years and comprises approximately 18%
of gross domestic product. We expect overall spending on health care to continue to grow in the future, due to
inflation, medical technology and pharmaceutical advancement, regulatory requirements, demographic trends in
the population and national interest in health and well-being. The rate of market growth may be affected by a
variety of factors, including macro-economic conditions and regulatory changes, which have impacted and could
further impact our results of operations.

Pricing Trends. To price our health care benefit products, we start with our view of expected future costs. We
frequently evaluate and adjust our approach in each of the local markets we serve, considering all relevant
factors, such as product positioning, price competitiveness and environmental, competitive, legislative and
regulatory considerations, including minimum MLR thresholds. We will continue seeking to balance growth and
profitability across all of these dimensions.

The commercial risk market remains highly competitive in both the small group and large group segments. We
expect broad-based competition to continue as the industry adapts to individual and employer needs amid reform
changes. The ACA included an annual, nondeductible insurance industry tax (Health Insurance Industry Tax) to
be levied proportionally across the insurance industry for risk-based health insurance products. A provision in the
2016 Federal Budget imposed a one year moratorium for 2017 on the collection of the Health Insurance Industry
Tax. Pricing for contracts that cover a portion of calendar year 2018 reflected the impact of the returning Health
Insurance Industry Tax. Conversely, the industry has continued to experience favorable medical cost trends due
to moderated utilization, which has impacted the competitive pricing environment.

Medicare Advantage funding continues to be pressured, as discussed below in “Regulatory Trends and
Uncertainties.”

We expect continued Medicaid revenue growth due to anticipated increases in the number of people we serve; we
also believe that the payment rate environment creates the risk of downward pressure on Medicaid margin
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percentages. We continue to take a prudent, market-sustainable posture for both new business and mainteniance
of existing relationships. We advocate for actuarially sound rates that are commensurate with our medical cost

trends and we remain dedicated to partnering with those states that are committed to the long-term viability of

their programs.

Medical Cost Trends. Our medical cost trends primarily relate to changes in unit costs, health system utilization
and prescription drug costs. We endeavor to mitigate those increases by engaging physicians and consumers with
information and helping them make clinically sound choices, with the objective of helping them achieve high
quality, affordable care.

Delivery System and Payment Modernization. The health care market continues to change based on
demographic shifts, new regulations, political forces and both payer and patient expectations. Health plans and
care providers are being called upon to work together to close gaps in care and improve overall care quality,
improve the health of populations and reduce costs. We continue to see a greater number of people enrolled in
plans with underlying incentive-based care provider payment models that reward high-quality, affordable care
and foster collaboration. We work together with clinicians to leverage our data and analytics to provide the
necessary information to close gaps in care and improve overall health outcomes for patients.

We are increasingly rewarding care providers for delivering improvements in quality and cost-efficiency. As of
December 31, 2017, we served nearly 16 million peaple through some form of aligned contractual arrangement,
including full-risk, shared-risk and bundled episode-of-care and performance incentive payment approaches. As
of December 31, 2017, our contracts with value-based elements total nearly $65 billion in annual spending.

This trend is creating needs for health management services that can coordinate care around the primary care
physician, including new primary care channels, and for investments in new clinical and administrative
information and management systems, which we believe provide growth opportunities for our Optum business
platform.

Regulatory Trends and Uncertainties

Following is a summary of management’s view of the trends and uncertainties related to some of the key
provisions of the ACA and other regulatory matters. For additional information regarding the ACA and -
regulatory trends and uncertainties, see Part I, Item 1 “Business — Government Regulation” and Item 1A, “Risk
Factors.”

Medicare Advantage Rates. Final 2018 Medicare Advantage rates resulted in an increase in industry base rates
of approximately 0.45%, well short of the industry forward medical cost trend of 3%, as well as the return of the
Health Insurance Industry Tax in 2018, described below, which creates continued pressure in the Medicare
Advantage program. The impact of this funding shortfall in. Medicare Advantage is partially mitigated by
reductions in provider payments for those care providers with rates indexed to Medicare Advantage revenues or
Medicare fee-for-service payment rates. These factors can affect our plan benefit designs, pricing, growth
prospects and earnings expectations for our Medicare Advantage plans.

The ongoing pressure on Medicare Advantage funding places continued importance on effective medical
management and ongoing improvements in administrative efficiency. There are a number of adjustments we
have made to partially offset these rate pressures and reductions. In some yedrs, these adjustments will impact the
majority of the seniors we serve through Medicare Advantage. For example, we seek to intensify our medical and
operating cost management, make changes to the size and composition of our care provider networks, and adjust
members’ benefits, implement or increase the member premiums that supplement the monthly payments we
receive from the government. Additionally, we decide annually on a county-by-county basis where we will offer
Medicare Advantage plans.
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As Medicare Advantage payments change, other products may become relatively more attractive to Medicare
beneficiaries and increase the demand for other senior health benefits products such as our market-leading
Medicare Supplement and stand-alone Medicare Part D insurance offerings.

Our Medicare Advantage rates are currently enhanced by CMS quality bonuses in certain counties based on our
local plans’ Star ratings. The level of Star ratings from CMS, based upon specified clinical and operational
performance standards, will impact future quality bonuses. In addition, Star ratings affect the amount of savings a
plan can use to offer supplemental benefits, which ultimately may affect the plan’s membership and revenue. For
the 2017 payment year, approximately 80% of our Medicare Advantage members were in plans rated four stars
or higher. We expect that at least 85% of our Medicare Advantage members will be in plans rated four stars or
higher for payment year 2018. We continue to dedicate substantial resources to advance our quality scores and
Star ratings to strengthen our local market programs and further improve our performance.

Tax Reform. Tax Reform was enacted by the U.S federal government in December 2017, changing existing
United States tax law including reducing the U.S. corporate income tax rate. The Company re-measured deferred
taxes as of the date of enactment, which resulted in a $1.2 billion reduction to the net deferred tax liability and
corresponding increase to earnings in 2017. With Tax Reform, we expect that our effective tax rate in 2018 will
be approximately 24%.

Health Insurance Industry Tax. A provision in the 2016 Federal Budget imposed a one year moratorium for
2017 on the collection of the Health Insurance Industry Tax. In 2018, the industry-wide amount of the Health
Insurance Industry Tax will be $14.3 billion and we expect our portion to be approximately $2.8 billion. A one
year moratorium on the collection of the Health Insurance Industry Tax will occur in 2019.
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RESULTS SUMMARY

The following table summarizes our consolidated results of operations and other financial information:

For the Years Ended December 31,

Change

Change

(in millions, except percentages and per share data) 2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015
Revénues:
PASTTING . vs1ron e sy o i s i s % $158,453 $144,118 $127,163 $14,335 10%$16,955 13%
R O TS o en et S ep s mek S m N 26,366 26,658 17,8112 (292) (1) 9346 54
SERVICES! mswitin Sert iR SN s B BTG 15,317 13,236 11,922 2,081 16 1,314 11
Investment and other income ......... 1,023 828 710 195 24 118 17
ROLA TEVENTES! .,.cwocro i S 584 B 5 @ % B T 201,159 184,840 157,107 16,319 9 27,733 18
Operating costs:
Medical COSIS o i el moe : framsd 4 e 130,036 117,038 103,875 12,998 11 13,163 13
Operating oSS we v - g odlm s @bt baibe 29,557 28,401 24,312 1,156 4 4,089 17
Costof productssold .. ................ 24,112 24,416 16,206 (304) (1) 8,210 51
Depreciation and amortization .......... 2,245 2,055 1,693 190 9 362 21
Total operating costs . ................... 185,950 171,910 146,086 14,040 8 25,824 18
Earnings from operations ................ 15,209 12,930 11,021 2279 18 1,909 17
IntereSHEXPENSElL iy v cios DS EEPBE0: A 25: Gy (1,186) (1,067) (790) (119) 11 277) 35
Earnings before income taxes ............. 14,023 11,863 10,231 2,160 18 1,632 16
Provision for income taxes ............... (3,200) (4,790) (4,363) 1,590 (33) 427) 10
NeEAmINGE Sheriaost 0ot a Do b0 res 10,823 7,073 5,868 3750« 58 1205 21
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling
THTCEHESTEN Bl e che hh B v T ehlr o oo s (265) (56) (55) (209) 373 @y 2
Net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth :
Group common shareholders ........... 10,558 § 7,017 $ 5813 §$ 3,541 50%$ 1,204 21%
Diluted earnings per share attributable to
UnitedHealth Group common
shareholderst i pois oamd e e s ad et : o 1072 § 725 $ 601 $ 347 48%$ 124 21%
Medical care ratio (@) « wep o - aromsosaass sas 82.1% 81.2% 81.7% 0.9% 0.5)%
Operating costratio . .............c.ovu.. 147 15.4 155 0.7 0.1
OPErAtNSIMATEIN oy e e s e s ey 9emese -6 7.0 7.0 0.6 -
VTR TEITER (o om0 2 -3 Y & 22.8 40.4 42.6 (17.6) (2.2)
Net earnings margin(b) ................. W 38 34 14 0.1
Returnonequity (c) .................... 24.4% 19.4% 17.7% 5.0% 1.7%

(a) Medical care ratio is calculated as medical costs divided by premium revenue.
(b) Net earnings margin attributable to UnitedHealth Group shareholders.
(c) Return on equity is calculated as annualized net earnings divided by average equity. Average equity is

calculated using the equity balance at the end of the preceding year and the equity balances at the end of
each of the four quarters in the year presented.

SELECTED OPERATING PERFORMANCE AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT ITEMS

The following represents a summary of select 2017 year-over-year operating comparisons to 2016 and other 2017
significant items.

. Consolidated revenues increased by 9%, UnitedHealthcare revenues increased 10% and Optum revenues
grew 9%.
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Reportable Segments

See Note 13 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial

Statements” for more information on our segments. The following table presents a summary of the reportable

segment financial information:

For the Years Ended December 31,

Change

Change

(in millions, except percentages) 2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015
Revenues
UnitedHealthcare ....................... $163,257 $148,581 $131,343 $14,676 10%$17,238 13%
OptumHealth ........................ 20,570 16,908 13,927 3,662 22 2,981 21
Optuminsight ........... ... ... ..., 8,087 7338 6,196 754 10 1,137 18
OPIUMBXT . . s pnp im0 emoiend cnnf G E 2B EAT 63,755 60,440 48,272 3,315 5 12,168 25
Optum eliminations s.q: g o matum:m: s (L227) (1,088) (791) (139) 13 (297) 38
Optum, . w4 smsms: Simd s sa T a0 o G : @ s 91,185 83,593 67,604 7,592 9 15,989 24
Elinations) oot ¢sa s e o s e o st & 0 : (53,283) (47,334) (41,840) (5,949) 13 (5,494) 13
Consolidated revenues ................... $201,159 $184,840 $157,107 $16,319 9%$27,733 18%
Earnings from operations
UnitedHealthcare ..............cccoo... $ 8498 $ 7307 $ 6,754 $ 1,191 16%$ 553 8%
OPLOTEIEALEN &% b ot oo okl oo i ks 1,823 1,428 1,240 395 28 188 15
Optuminsight 2/ ..l id. wisess a8 5s S eae 1,770 1,513 1,278 257 17 235 18
OptumRig /eyt &2 ot tatms 8 4hdsa d meee 3,118 2,682 1,749 436 16 933 53
OPtIM, ; &5y a5 5@: 3T @IHILMESE F 3BEEEFEE S 6,711 5,623 4,267 1,088 19 1,356 32
Consolidated earnings from operations ... ... $ 15209 $ 12930 $ 11,021 $ 2,279 18%$% 1909 17%
Operating margin
UnitedHealthcare ....................... 5.2% 4.9% 5.1% 0.3% (0.2)%
OptOMECALLNL .- creia i s 5wl e s s 8.9 8.4 8.9 0.5 0.5)
OpTUmINSIZRE &« e . erdie bl 8 e o lna siore s 21.9 20.6 20.6 1.3 - -
OPIMARY ot b d i B ot A 1 e ALy 2 BB 49 4.4 36 0.5 0.8
OpIuml. s 8 ot : Baes aader i 3 adedt 7.4 6.7 6.3 0.7 0.4
Consolidated operating margin ............ 7.6% 7.0% 7.0% 0.6% —%
UnitedHealthcare
The fo!lowing table summarizes UnitedHealthcare revenues by business:
For the Years Ended December 31, Change Change
(in millions, except percentages) 2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015
UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual ... $ 52,066 $ 53,084 §$ 47,194 $(1,018) (2)% $ 5.890 12%
UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement . . . 65,995 56,329 49,735 9,666 17 6,594 13
UnitedHealthcare Community & State . ..... 37,443 32,945 28911 4,498 14 4,034 14
UnitedHealthearel Global & sassms oz smsmans T3 6,223 5,503 1,530 25 720 13
Total UnitedHealthcare revenues ........ $163,257 $148,581 $131,343 $14,676 10% $17,238 13%
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The following table summarizes the number of individuals served by our UnitedHealthcare businesses, by major
market segment and funding arrangement:

December 31, Change Change

(in thousands, except percentages) 2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015
Commercial risk-based — group .................... 7,935 7,470 7,095 465 6% 375 5%
Commercial risk-based — individual ................. 485 1,350 1,190 (865) (64) 160 13
CommErIAl TEE-BASEH i..orenisisrss ol onohiomimsmonshon iuisms tomons 18,595 18,900 18,565 (305) (2) 335 2
ReerbasediITICARES . i bad boah i o i e sk 2,850 2,860 2,880 (10) — 20) (1)

Total COMMETCIAL % 5se o m wram s o oramor o1 omosios srorision o omons et 29,865 30,580 29,730 (715) (2) ﬂ =)
Medicare Advantage: socsds casma bl saan B iin a8 shatios e 4430 3,630 3,235 800 22 395 12
IMEdTCATH - Sea e b et bie.o T B A s Ak 6,705 5,890 5,305 815 14 585 1
Medicare Supplement (Standardized) . ................ 4,445 4,265 4,035 180 4 230 6

Totalipublicandisenion : oy iyt suaEaE d eese 56 o 19,980 13788~ 12:575 . 1.7498 18 1,210 1O

Total UnitedHealthcare — domestic medical ... ...... 45,445 44,365 42,305 1,080 2 2,060 5
INEEIMATIOIAL 5oy cxeeneronsmon: zooni omsmor il omek aeprfeh omiv ot mee s AL 4,080 4,220 4,090 (140) (3) ﬂ 3

Total UnitedHealthcare — medical ................ 49,525 48,585 46,395 940 2%2,190 5%
Supplemental Data:

MedicarePart D stand-alone ... . ....ccoveievnienns 4940 4930 5,060 10 —% (130) (3)%

In the commercial group market, broad-based growth was across group sizes and regions, led by gains in services
to small groups and resulted in the overall increase in people served through risk-based benefit plans. Fee-based
commercial group business declined due to the non-renewal of one public sector customer. Membership in
individual business decreased due to our reduced participation in ACA-compliant products in 2017. Medicare
Advantage increased year-over-year due to growth in people served through individual and employer-sponsored
group Medicare Advantage plans. Medicaid growth was driven by the combination of new state-based awards
and growth in established programs. Medicare Supplement growth reflected strong customer retention and new
sales.

UnitedHealthcare’s revenue increase was due to growth in the number of individuals served across its businesses
and price increases for underlying medical cost trends, which were partially offset by the reduction of people
served in ACA-compliant individual products and the impact of the Health Insurance Industry Tax moratorium.

The increase in UnitedHealthcare’s earnings from operations was led by diversified growth and increased
operating margin. The 2016 results included losses in ACA-complaint individual products and guaranty fund
assessments.

Optum

Total revenues and earnings from operations increased as each segment reported increased revenues and earnings
from operations as a result of the factors discussed below.

The results by segment were as follows:

OptumHealth

Revenue and earnings from operations increased at OptumHealth primarily due to organic and acquisition-related
growth in care delivery.
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OptumlInsight

Revenue and earnings from operations at OptumInsight increased primarily due to growth in revenue
management services and business process services.

OptumRx

Revenue and earnings from operations at OptumRx increased primarily due to client and consumer growth. In
2017, OptumRx fulfilled 1.3 billion adjusted scripts compared to 1.2 billion in 2016.

2016 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS COMPARED TO 2015 RESULTS

Our results of operations were affected by our acquisition of Catamaran in the third quarter of 2015.

Consolidated Financial Results
Revenues

The increases in revenues were primarily driven by organic growth in the number of individuals served across
our UnitedHealthcare benefits businesses and growth across all of our Optum services businesses.

Medical Costs

Medical costs increased due to risk-based membership growth and medical cost trends, partially offset by
medical management initiatives.

Income Tax Rate

Our effective tax rate decreased primarily due to the adoption of “Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic
718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting,” which we adopted in the first quarter of
2016.

Reportable Segments
UnitedHealthcare
UnitedHealthcare’s revenue growth was due to growth in the number of individuals served across its businesses

and price increases for underlying medical cost trends.

UnitedHealthcare’s operating earnings increased due to diversified growth, offset by guaranty fund assessments
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2016.

Optum
Total revenues and operating earnings increased as each reporting segment increased revenues and earnings from
operations by double-digit percentages as a result of the factors discussed below.

The results by segment were as follows:

OptumHealth

Revenue and earnings from operations increased at OptumHealth primarily due to growth in its health care
delivery businesses as well as expansion of behavioral services into new Medicaid markets. Strong performance
in business supporting UnitedHealthcare partially offset by investments in the health care delivery business drove
the increase in earnings from operations.
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OptumlInsight

Revenue and earnings from operations at OptumInsight increased primarily due to growth in revenue
management, business process outsourcing and technology services.

OptumRx

Revenue and earnings from operations at OptumRx increased primarily due to the full-year impact of Catamaran
and organic growth. In 2016, OptumRx fulfilled 1.2 billion adjusted scripts compared to 932 million in 2015.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL CONDITION AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity
Introduction

We manage our liquidity and financial position in the context of our overall business strategy. We continually
forecast and manage our cash, investments, working capital balances and capital structure to meet the short-term
and long-term obligations of our businesses while seeking to maintain liquidity and financial flexibility. Cash
flows generated from operating activities are principally from earnings before noncash expenses.

Our regulated subsidiaries generate significant cash flows from operations and are subject to financial regulations
and standards in their respective jurisdictions. These standards, among other things, require these subsidiaries to
maintain specified levels of statutory capital, as defined by each jurisdiction, and restrict the timing and amount
of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their parent companies.

In 2017, our U.S. regulated subsidiaries paid their parent companies dividends of $3.7 billion. For the year ended
December 31, 2016, our U.S. regulated subsidiaries paid their parent companies dividends of $3.9 billion. See
Note 10 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part IT, Item 8, “Financial Statements” for
further detail concerning our regulated subsidiary dividends.

Our nonregulated businesses also generate significant cash flows from operations that are available for general
corporate use. Cash flows generated by these entities, combined with dividends from our regulated entities and
financing through the issuance of long-term debt as well as issuance of commercial paper or the ability to draw
under our committed credit facilities, further strengthen our operating and financial flexibility. We use these cash
flows to expand our businesses through acquisitions, reinvest in our businesses through capital expenditures,
repay debt and return capital to our shareholders through shareholder dividends and/or repurchases of our
common stock, depending on market conditions.
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Summary of our Major Sources and Uses of Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the Years Ended December 31, Change Change
(in millions) 2017 2016 2015 2017 vs. 2016 2016 vs. 2015
Sources of cash:
Cash provided by operating activities ......... $1359 $9795 $9740 $ 3,801 $ 55
Issuances of long-term debt and commercial
paper, net of repayments ................. — 990 14,607 990) = (13,617)
Proceeds from common share issuances ....... 688 429 402 259 27
Customer funds administered ............... ) 1,692 768 1,480 924
(O (. PP RSO RSP, LYROROS — 257/ — 37 37
ot ISOnRCES IO CaSI o 4 5uel s o irima e sshie oo B AL 0 Al dnd 17,456 12,943 25,517
Uses of cash:
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash
ASSME) - 203 5 261 S0 00 DEED 2 ) S T 2 as (2,131)  (1,760) (16,164) 371) 14,404
Cash dividends paid .................... .. (2,773) (2,261) (1,786) (512) (475)
Common share repurchases . . ............... (1,500) (1,280) (1,200) (220) (80)
Repayments of long-term debt and commercial
PAPET;, NEL.Of.ISSHANCES n o oo« @310 2 @ 135 @ soms (2,615) - — (2,615) —
Purchases of property, equipment and J '
capitalized software . .................... (2,023) (1,705) (1,556) (318) (149)
Purchases of investments, net of sales and
TATUEItIES): & % s e BE 01 08 o b By G Tt 4,319) (5,927) (531) 1,608 (5,396)
OhER 5 ma ey s oo T 48 3 773 73 8 o s Porsy s (539) (581) (696) 42 115
Tofaliuses OfCASI 5% s o s oy ol triss s o 0 s (0101 B8 s (15,900) (13,514) (21,933)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
C O TV TS 8/ ine (o Wmr l SR> SN0 F e AR e 5 78 (156) (83) 234
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equIvalents .. . ... $ 1,551 § (493) $3428 $ 2,044 $ (3,921)

2017 Cash Flows Compared to 2016 Cash Flows

Increased cash flows provided by operating activities were primarily driven by higher net earnings and changes
in working capital accounts, partially offset by the change in net deferred tax liabilities driven by tax reform.

Other significant changes in sources or uses of cash year-over-year included net repayments of debt compared to
2016 net proceeds from debt issuances, which were partially offset by lower net purchases ol investments.

2016 Cash Flows Compared to 2015 Cash Flows

Cash flows provided by operating activities increased slightly as higher net earnings were mostly offset by
increased CMS receivables and other operating items.

Other significant changes in sources or uses of cash year-over-year included increased net purchases of
investments in 2016 and the decreases in cash paid for acquisitions and proceeds from debt issuances due to the
2015 acquisition of Catamaran.

Financial Condition

As of December 31, 2017, our cash, cash equivalent and available-for-sale investment balances of $42.4 billion
included $12.0 billion of cash and cash equivalents (of which approximately $800 million was available for
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general corporate use), $28.4 billion of debt securities and $2.0 billion of investments in equity securities
consisting of investments in non-U.S. dollar fixed-income funds; employee savings plan related investments; and
dividend paying stocks. Given the significant portion of our portfolio held in cash equivalents, we do not
anticipate fluctuations in the aggregate fair value of our financial assets to have a material impact on our liquidity
or capital position. Other sources of liquidity, primarily from operating cash flows and our commercial paper
program, which is supported by our bank credit facilities, reduce the need to sell investments during adverse
market conditions. See Note 4 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8,
“Financial Statements” for further detail concerning our fair value measurements.

Our available-for-sale debt portfolio had a weighted-average duration of 3.2 years and a weighted-average credit
rating of “Double A” as of December 31, 2017. When multiple credit ratings are available for an individual
security, the average of the available ratings is used to determine the weighted-average credit rating.

Capital Resources and Uses of Liquidity

In addition to cash flows from operations and cash and cash equivalent balances available for general corporate
use, our capital resources and uses of liquidity are as follows:

Commercial Paper and Bank Credit Facilities. Our revolving bank credit facilities provide liquidity support for
our commercial paper borrowing program, which facilitates the private placement of senior unsecured debt
through third-party broker-dealers, and are available for general corporate purposes. For more information on our
commercial paper and bank credit facilities, see Note 8 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements.”

Our revolving bank credit facilities contain various covenants, including covenants requiring us to maintain a
defined debt to debt-plus-shareholders’ equity ratio of not more than 55%. As of December 31, 2017, our debt to
debt-plus-shareholders’ equity ratio, as defined and calculated under the credit facilities, was approximately 37%.

Long-Term Debt. Periodically, we access capital markets to issue long-term debt for general corporate purposes,
such as, to meet our working capital requirements, to refinance debt, to finance acquisitions or for share
repurchases. For more information on our debt, see Note 8 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part IT, Item 8 “Financial Statements.”

Credit Ratings. Our credit ratings as of December 31, 2017 were as follows:

Moody’s S&P Global Fitch AM. Best
‘Ratings Outlook Ratings Outlook Ratings Outlook Ratings Outlook
Senior unsecured debt . ......... A3 Stable =~ A+  Negative ® A- Stable bbb+  Stable
Commercial paper ............. P-2 n/a A-1 n/a Fl1 na AMB-2 n/a

(a) InJanuary 2018, S&P Global affirmed our ratings and changed our outlook to Stable.

The availability of financing in the form of debt or equity is influenced by many factors, including our
profitability, operating cash flows, debt levels, credit ratings, debt covenants and other contractual restrictions,
regulatory requirements and economic and market conditions. For example, a significant downgrade in our credit
ratings or adverse conditions in the capital markets may increase the cost of borrowing for us or limit our access
to capital.

Share Repurchase Program. As of December 31, 2017, we had Board authorization to purchase up to 42 million
shares of our common stock. For more information on our share repurchase program, see Note 10 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements.”

Dividends. In June 2017, our Board increased our quarterly cash dividend to shareholders by 20% to an annual
dividend rate of $3.00 per share. For more information on our dividend, see Note 10 of Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements.”
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CONTRACTIIAI. ORLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

The following table summarizes future obligations due by period as of December 31, 2017, under our various
contractual obligations and commitments:

(iu millivns) 2018 2019 t0 2020 2021 t0 2022  Thercafter Total

D CDR (Ao o Hom i e e e R S e S $4006 $ 7017 $ 7241 $ 30,609 $ 48,873
O FRTANNEICASEEH o i i bimorof 3 A EI O BRI O 1P 538 884 851 809 3,082
Purchase and other obligations (b) . .............. 833 866 462 293 2,454
Other, THabilTHes (@) w4 » murm s sin ned ez prescscns o g em. 823 284 284 5,589 6,980
Redeemable noncontrolling interests (d) .......... 15573 358 25 2351 2,189
Total contractual obligations ................... $7775 $ 9409 $ 8863 $ 37,531 $ 63,578

(a) Includes interest coupon payments and maturities at par or put values. The table also assumes amounts are
outstanding through their contractual term. See Note 8 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements” for more detail.

(b) Includes fixed or minimum commitments under existing purchase obligations for goods and services,
including agreements that are cancelable with the payment of an early termination penalty and remaining
capital commitments for venture capital funds and other funding commitments. Excludes agreements that
are cancelable without penalty and excludes liabilities to the extent recorded in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2017. ‘

(c) Includes obligations associated with contingent consideration and other payments related to business
acquisitions, certain employee benefit programs, amounts accrued for guaranty fund assessments,
unrecognized tax benefits, and various other long-term liabilities. Due to uncertainty regarding payment
timing, obligations for cmploycc bencefit programs, charitable contributions, futurc scttlements and other
liabilities have been classified as “Thereafter.”

(d) Includes commitments for redeemable shares of our subsidiaries. When the timing of the redemption is
indeterminable, the commitment has been classified as “Thereafter.”

Pending Acquisitions. In December 2017, we entered into agreements to acquire two companies in the health
care sector for a total of approximately $7.7 billion, which are not reflected in the table above. One of the
acquisitions closed in January 2018; the other is expected to close later in 2018, subject to regulatory approval
and other customary closing conditions.

We do not have other significant contractual obligations or commitments that require cash resources. However,
we continually evaluate opportunities to expand our operations, which include internal development of new
products, programs and technology applications and may include acquisitions.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As of December 31, 2017, we were not involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements, which have or are
reasonably likely to have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements” for a
discussion of new accounting pronouncements that affect us.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Critical accounting estimates are those estimates that require management to make challenging, subjective or
complex judgments, often because they must estimate the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain and may
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change in subsequent periods. Critical accounting estimates involve judgments and uncertainties that are
sufficiently sensitive and may result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions.

Medical Costs Payable

Medical costs and medical costs payable include estimates of our obligations for medical care services that have
been rendered on behalf of insured consumers, but for which claims have either not yet been received or
processed. Depending on the health care professional and type of service, the typical billing lag for services can
be up to 90 days from the date of service. Approximately 90% of claims related to medical care services are
known and settled within 90 days from the date of service and substantially all within twelve months. As of
December 31, 2017, our days outstanding in medical payables was SO days, calculated as total medical payables
divided by total medical costs times the number of days in the period.

In each reporting period, our operating results include the effects of more completely developed medical costs
payable estimates associated with previously reported periods. If the revised estimate of prior period medical
costs is less than the previous estimate, we will decrease reported medical costs in the current period (favorable
development). If the revised estimate of prior period medical costs is more than the previous estimate, we will
increase reported medical costs in the current period (unfavorable development). Medical costs in 2017, 2016
and 2015 included favorable medical cost development related to prior years of $690 million, $220 million and
$320 million, respectively.

In developing our medical costs payable estimates, we apply different estimation methods depending on the
month for which incurred claims are being estimated. For example, for the most recent two months, we estimate
claim costs incurred by applying observed medical cost trend factors to the average per member per month
(PMPM) medical costs incurred in prior months for which more complete claim data is available, supplemented
by a review of near-term completion factors.

Completion Factors. A completion factor is an actuarial estimate, based upon historical experience and analysis
of current trends, of the percentage of incurred claims during a given period that have been adjudicated by us at
the date of estimation. Completion factors are the most significant factors we use in developing our medical costs
payable estimates for periods prior to the most recent two months. Completion factors include judgments in
relation to claim submissions such as the time from date of service to claim receipt, claim inventory levels and
claim processing backlogs, as well as other factors. If actual claims submission rates from providers (which can
be influenced by a number of factors, including provider mix and electronic versus manual submissions) or our
claim processing patterns are different than estimated, our reserve estimates may be significantly impacted.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of these factors and the estimated potential impact on our medical
costs payable estimates for those periods as of December 31, 2017:

Completion Factors Increase (Decrease)
(Decrease) Increase in Factors In Medical Costs Payable
(in millions)

(0L7S))f: 1 S U S W=t B B e o O e P e N gty (S PG, O W ok $ 486
(OSSOl s o Dl T A & B M e T 8 BN L B 0 L By S Aaa e Syl 323
(RS et o = et armetad Sae oo mat o ke T o T R L R RPN o o i g, = 161
e L O - S (160)
IS e ke o e e o e ey T gy e o L & (320)
Q7SRRI sefoce Rewre EEu i s dy il ok b B AT erll SN ol T =Sl 8 (478)

Medical Cost Per Member Per Month Trend Factors. Medical cost PMPM trend factors are significant factors
we use in developing our medical costs payable estimates for the most recent two months. Medical cost trend
factors are developed through a comprehensive analysis of claims incurred in prior months, provider contracting
and expected unit costs, benefit design and a review of a broad set of health care utilization indicators, including
but not limited to, pharmacy utilization trends, inpatient hospital authorization data and influenza incidence data
from the National Centers for Disease Control. We also consider macroeconomic variables such as
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gross-domestic praduct growth, employment and disposable income. A large number of factors can cause the
medical cost trend to vary from our estimates, including: our ability and practices to manage medical and
pharmaceutical costs, changes in level and mix of services utilized, mix of benefits offered, including the impact
of co-pays and deductibles, changes in medical practices, catastrophes and epidemics.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of these factors and the estimated potential impact on our medical
costs payable estimates for the most recent two months as of December 31, 2017:

Medical Cost PMPM Trend Increase (Decrease)
Increase (Decrease) in Factors In Medical Costs Payable
(in millions)

BTN oy a3 a I B S ) A A S A B A S s ati B ol s g R e s e $ 623
D il i renr = i R ST mea e R e R L S T B s e s S i o 3.3 5013 415
o 208
(D) s moh St 50 At AAO A AN A A AR e Ao R D R SO AR LR K (208)
(D)} S amomss s om oo 5o o 0 g v I e S R A S 6 S A e e 50 8 N b 415)
(D) oot Somms 3 58y o s ST e R TR S T B ST GRE D IS K Y § G e s (623)

The completion factors and medical costs PMPM trend factors analyses above include outcomes that are
considered reasonably likely based on our historical experience estimating liabilities for incurred but not reported
benefit claims.

Management believes the amount of medical costs payable is reasonable and adequate to cover our liability for
unpaid claims as of December 31, 2017; however, actual claim payments may differ from established estimates
as discussed above. Assuming a hypothetical 1% difference between our December 31, 2017 estimates of
medical costs payable and actual medical costs payable, excluding AARP Medicare Supplement Insurance and
any potential offsetting impact from premium rebates, 2017 net earnings would have increased or decreased by
$110 million.

For more detail related to our medical cost estimates, see Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements.”

Revenues

We derive a substantial portion of our revenues from health care insurance premiums. We recognize premium
revenues in the period eligible individuals are entitled to receive health care services. Customers are typically
billed monthly at a contracted rate per eligible person multiplied by the total number of people eligible to receive
services.

Our Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D premium revenues are subject to periodic adjustment under the
CMS risk adjustment payment methodology. The CMS risk adjustment model provides higher per member
payments for enrollees diagnosed with certain conditions and lower payments for enrollees who are healthier. We
estimate risk adjustment revenues based upon the data submitted and expected to be submitted to CMS. As a
result of the variability of factors that determine such estimations, the actual amount of CMS’ retroactive
payments could be materially more or less than our estimates. This may result in favorable or unfavorable
adjustments to our Medicare premium revenue and, accordingly, our profitability. For more detail on premium
revenues, see Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial
Statements.” Risk adjustment data for our plans is subject to review by the federal and state governments,
including audit by regulators. See Note 12 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II,
Ttem &, “Financial Statements” for additional information regarding these audits. Our estimates of premiums to
be recognized are reduced by any expected premium minimum MLR rebates payable by us.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill. We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently when an event occurs or
circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. When testing goodwill for
impairment, we may first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the carrying
value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. During a qualitative analysis, we consider the impact of
changes, if any, to the following factors: macroeconomic, industry and market factors, cost factors, changes in
overall financial performance, and any other relevant events and uncertainties impacting a reporting unit. If our
qualitative assessment indicates that goodwill impairment is more likely than not, we perform additional
quantitative analyses. We may also elect to skip the qualitative testing and proceed directly to the quantitative
testing. For reporting units where a quantitative analysis is performed, we perform a multi-step test measuring the
fair values of the reporting units and comparing them to their aggregate carrying values, including goodwill. If
the fair value is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit, then the implied value of goodwill would be
calculated and compared to the carrying amount of goodwill to determine whether goodwill is impaired.

We estimate the fair values of our reporting units using discounted cash flows, which include assumptions about
a wide variety of internal and external factors. Significant assumptions used in the impairment analysis include
financial projections of free cash flow (including significant assumptions about operations, capital requirements
and income taxes), long-term growth rates for determining terminal value beyond the discretely forecasted
periods and discount rates. For each reporting unit, comparative market multiples are used to corroborate the
results of our discounted cash flow test.

Forecasts and long-term growth rates used for our reporting units are consistent with, and use inputs from, our
internal long-term business plan and strategies. Key assumptions used in these forecasts include:

*  Revenue trends. Key revenue drivers for each reporting unit are determined and assessed. Significant factors
include: customer and/or membership growth, medical trends and the impact and expectations of regulatory
environments. Additional macro-economic assumptions relating to unemployment, GDP growth, interest
rates and inflation are also evaluated and incorporated, as appropriate.

*  Medical cost trends. For further discussion of medical cost trends, see the “Medical Cost Trend” section of
Executive Overview-Business Trends above and the discussion in the “Medical Costs Payable” critical
accounting estimate above. Similar factors, including historical and expected medical cost trend levels, are
considered in estimating our long-term medical trends at the reporting unit level.

e Operating productivity. We forecast expected operating cost levels based on historical levels and
expectations of future operating cost levels.

*  Capital levels. The operating and long-term capital requirements for each business are considered.

Discount rates are determined for each reporting unit and include consideration of the implied risk inherent in
their forecasts. Our most significant estimate in the discount rate determinations involves our adjustments to the
peer company weighted average costs of capital that reflect reporting unit-specific factors. We have not made
any adjustments to decrease a discount rate below the calculated peer company weighted average cost of capital
for any reporting unit. Company-specific adjustments to discount rates are subjective and thus are difficult to
measure with certainty. The passage of time and the availability of additional information regarding areas of
uncertainty with respect to the reporting units’ operations could cause these assumptions to change in the future.
We completed our annual impairment tests for goodwill as of October 1, 2017. All of our reporting units had fair
values substantially in excess of their carrying values.

Intangible Assets. Our finite-lived intangible assets are subject to impairment tests when events or circumstances
indicate that an asset’s (or asset group’s) carrying value may exceed its estimated fair value. Consideration is
given on a quarterly basis to a number of potential impairment indicators, including: changes in the use of the
assets, changes in legal or other business factors that could affect value, experienced or expected operating cash-
flow deterioration or losses, adverse changes in customer populations, adverse competitive or technological
advances that could impact value and other factors.
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Qur indefinite-lived intangible assets are fested for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if
impairment indicators exist. To determine if an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired, we compare its
estimated fair value to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value, an impairment
would be recorded for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value. Intangible assets
were not impaired in 2017,

LEGAL MATTERS

A description of our legal proceedings is presented in Note 12 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements.”

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Investments in financial instruments such as marketable securities and accounts receivable may subject us to
concentrations of credit risk. Our investments in marketable securities are managed under an investment policy
authorized by our Board of Directors. This policy limits the amounts that may be invested in any one issuer and
generally limits our investments to U.S. government and agency securities, state and municipal securities and
corporate debt obligations that are investment grade. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts
receivable are limited due to the large number of employer groups and other customers that constitute our client
base. As of December 31, 2017, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our primary market risks are exposures to changes in interest rates that impact our investment income and
interest expense and the fair value of certain of our fixcd-ratc investments and dcbt, as wcll as forcign currcncy
exchange rate risk of the U.S. dollar primarily to the Brazilian real.

As of December 31, 2017, we had $15 billion of financial assets on which the interest rates received vary with
market interest rates, which may materially impact our investment income. Also as of December 31, 2017,

$8.5 billion of our financial liabilities, which include commercial paper, debt and deposit liabilities, were at
interest rates that vary with market rates, either directly or through the use of related interest rate swap contracts.
The fair value of certain of our fixed-rate investments and debt also varies with market interest rates. As of
December 31, 2017, $25.9 billion of our investments were fixed-rate debt securities and $28.7 billion of our debt
was non-swapped fixed-rate term debt. An increase in market interest rates decreases the market value of fixed-
rate investments and fixed-rate debt. Conversely, a decrease in market interest rates increases the market value of
fixed-rate investments and fixed-rate debt.

We manage exposure to market interest rates by diversifying investments across different fixed-income market
sectors and debt across maturities, as well as by endeavoring to match our floating-rate assets and liabilities over
time, either directly or through the use of interest rate swap contracts. Unrealized gains and losses on investments
in available-for-sale securities are reported in comprehensive income.
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The following tables summarize the impact of hypothetical changes in market interest rates across the entire yield
curve by 1% point or 2% points as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 on our investment income and interest
expense per annum and the fair value of our investments and debt (in millions, except percentages):

December 31, 2017
Investment Interest
Income Per Expense Per Fair Value of Fair Value of
Increase (Decrease) in Market Interest Rate Annum (a) Annum (a) Financial Assets (b) Financial Liabilities
%0, et e e e G e B e o D oE Lty g o $ 300 $ 170 $ (1,958) $ (4,546)
b 8 oy e i oo e 2 0 3 3 o o, s s TS o 150 85 (933) (2,460)
(QLEY M B s TP B e PO g3 (o oy o e ey s T e s TS (150) (85) 950 2,923
() [ eam bt cifiom e P Al n B P P A B A (197) (133) 1743 6,414
December 31, 2016
Investment Interest Fair Value of
Income Per  Expense Per Fair Value of Financial
Increase (Decrease) in Market Interest Rate Annum (a) Annum (a) Financial Assets (b) Liabilities
290 1m sy sEr @ P E B ETE S E A @ B E AT 3 263 $ 245 $ (1,711) $ (3,470)
| - gomzee: BIgE0 B S BE B Era T DI I ] 132 122 873) (1,860)
(1) W ol o ks o1s 1 o' o o pro o lo]e o ofe s Ao (105) 95) 855 2,244
B T L e i L R nm nm 1,562 4,784

nm = not meaningful

(a) Given the low absolute level of short-term market rates on our floating-rate assets and liabilities as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, the assumed hypothetical change in interest rates does not reflect the full 100
and 200 basis point reduction, respectively, in interest income or interest expense, in 2017 and 2016,
respectively, as the rate cannot fall below zero.

(b) As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, some of our investments had interest rates below 2% so the assumed
hypothetical change in the fair value of investments does not reflect the full 200 basis point reduction.

We have an exposure to changes in the value of the Brazilian real to the U.S. dollar in translation of
UnitedHealthcare Brazil’s operating results at the average exchange rate over the accounting period, and
UnitedHealthcare Brazil’s assets and liabilities at the spot rate at the end of the accounting period. The gains or
losses resulting from translating foreign assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars are included in equity and
comprehensive income.

An appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the Brazilian real reduces the carrying value of the net assets
denominated in Brazilian real. For example, as of December 31, 2017, a hypothetical 10% and 25% increase in
the value of the U.S. dollar against the Brazilian real would have caused a reduction in net assets of
approximately $500 million and $1.1 billion, respectively. We manage exposure to foreign currency earnings risk
primarily by conducting our international business operations in their functional currencies.

As of December 31, 2017, we had $2.0 billion of investments in equity securities, consisting of investments in

non-U.S. dollar fixed-income funds; employee savings plan related investments; and dividend paying stocks.
Valuations in non-U.S. dollar funds are subject to foreign exchange. rates.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Subsidiaries:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our
opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as
of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017,
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 13, 2018, expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinions

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 13, 2018

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.
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UnitedHealth Group
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, December 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2017 2016
Assets
Current assets:
Gashrand eashlequivalentsl sald Aoahneon 6 6 ke oo Jas 0L e CIBe st S 0 200 T893 $ 11,981 $ 10,430
SHhont-lermINVES TSI o oS oo o & ik 6 3 B 5 1 o e oo 5 o 8 b o) 2161 et 3,509 2,845
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $641 and $514 . ................. 9,568 8,152
Other current receivables, net of allowances of $440and $409 .............. 6,262 7,499
ASSES UTACTPITTATAT CTTTEITT dhel £ 1 e e e B o o s b e 55 S o o i 3 3,101 3,105
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ... ...........coooiiiiien. 2,663 1,848
Total CUITENL ASSEES . .. oottt et it et et e e et e e e 37,084 33,879
Long-term inVeStMENtS . ... ... ...ttt e 28,341 23,868
Property, equipment and capitalized software, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization of $3,694 and $3 TAG 5 hesmNE & 2t B bt o Tt s B NGOG 333 7,013 5,901
CoodWillll sum%mes s 8 ams s s $565 5ol Samrot Lot 9% 36 60 3om tr a5 oS e B a Ty 7 54,556 47,584
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $4, 309 and $3,847 ..... 8,489 8,541
OIhERASSETS: ol g st i a i s & b e Sl i S0 8 S ot o s T D B TR B g 3OS 3,037
Total assets $139,058 $122,810
Liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests and equity
Current liabilities:
Medigal{Gostsipayabley: i3 1mat s oI i coan S E AT 060 ot S o N Ea S ot 33 $ 17,871 $ 16,391
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .. ............ ... .. ... . L 15,180 13,361
Commercial paper and current maturities of long-termdebt .. ............... 2,857 7,193
e ot e AR CNC RMICS) o ot i (9 1180 0 G o e b o o ol 0w g 9 2,269 1,968
OthePCUTeN B ABIIIEES) o503 3 g s e 5516 S5 G e e 9 e SH 3 s 5 fom Sameon b o 12,286 10,339
Rotal, e I e R 5 o i a3 o T A A T s shors o e ¥ o oot Mt el o o i e 50,463 49,252
Longatettn.debt; 1655 CUrteNEMatUGIIES! - cis e o e a oo fuembho o senshons 5ons] & ke feh ke Renert. <15 5 & 28,835 25,777
Defefied IO CAKES! - e i i o o ampn el o) oxorsLirm o) aiho sne i vl o o) orohslls i o as nstoris s o 8 2,182 2,761
O Tl A DT TETN i memerion it s oonm o mee M e oA A e s ko KA G Sy A 5,556 4,831
Total liabilities ... ... T i T e At e ra—— 87,036 82,621
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Redeemable:nonconfrelling/interests sasis a: st 0 vs @ sanbos o0 g0 E g a0 sss 2,189 2,012
Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value — 10 shares authorized; no shares issued or
O IS AT G P = 3 o 3 Sl e B 6 B B e o e\ b T a5 B e D et - —
Common stock, $0.01 par value — 3,000 shares authorized; 969 and 952 issued
ANGAOUISEATUING] | S 4 s A Dl bt s S S i S Eairiteds, () Sk AT e e B 10 10
Additional paid-in capital . .......... ... e 1,703 —
Retained! CaTMITIES, ozt k) cnsneash o eimch & sk cnche asioies D oilh.d EAAAGE O O GO 55 530y 3 48,730 40,945
Accumulated othercomprehensive 10SS e : g s saacacmse s saa e e s o8 (2,667) (2,681)
Nonredeemable noncontrolling interests . .......... .. ... iiiien... 2,057 97)
Totallequityh hom a s sem Hied yaes 30 3 0G By e s o i p @ e T S i3s3 49,833 38,177
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests and equity ........ s $139,058 $122,810

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

52




UnitedHealth Group
Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2017 2016 2015
Revenues:
RIETUTNS] o o gexamm s m s ma s @i 090 E 8 2 e s e o 3 ;e Q1606069 F R E $158,453 $144,118 $127,163
ProQUCHS . v gpm s mrem @ g sm: @1 @8 8 96 46w 5050 : @ s @ maasaoEmE 26,366 26,658 17,312
S TVICS ittt e 15,317 13,236 11,922
Investment and otherincome ........... ... it 1,023 828 710
AROTAT FEVEHUES] | i i Lok ootk ok ob B ol o o 00 o oo 1 AL o 5 5 B rimer e e e 201,159 184,840 157,107
Operating costs:
Medical costS m:mamazm:mame 67 E0maT 5 8180 215 5 5u % o6 D 4 e o) ombd s ¢ oo ob 3 130,036 117,038 103,875
Operaltingreosts snippia:prMig IR 0AIBITDERIA I ATHIIE 29,557 28,401 24,312
Costof produciS 80ld; s mamrarsssriaioz et o 0 o0 BEE § B EE @ 5@ L85 24,112 24,416 16,206
Depreciation and/amortization = :m: - s5: 9z @or e mees @oEm @z mEaga 2,245 2,055 1,693
Total OPETatitg; COSIS | gedsuaimam s i Etins: G5 Bhe: B0 e G50 s e s B b it 185,950 171,910 146,086
Earnings fromoperations ............. ... ... ... .. .. . . . ... 15,209 12,930 11,021
INECTESE ©RDIEIISEH . 1 e e - s o oot o 5101 0 1 s vees 1t o1 ] i 1 4 K e 1 o oot (1,186) (1,067) (790)
Earnings before incometaxes .................... ... ............... 14,023 11,863 10,231
Provision for inCOME taxes .. . .. ..o vt vttt et ie i (3,200) (4,790) (4,363)
INCHEARTIINGS) o turne ) o ded b s o b itas G A msdud S5 % A maat s @asri e skags ak 10,823 7,073 5,868
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests .. ...................... (265) (56) (55)
Net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group common
Shareholders ..:o:pmog:mrosmmsmearm: @:@r a9 a9e@eas @ a3k m: s $ 10,558 $ 7,017 $ 5,813
Earnings per share attributable to UnitedHealth Group common
shareholders:
Basic . . e $ 1095 $ 737 $§ 6.10
IDNBEAL 5 = s Sier o mesienen o 1011100 et st ook o o s 4 51 om0 o o om 2o $ lo72 §. 725§ 6.o]
Basic weighted-average number of common shares outstanding ........ 964 952 953
Dilutive effect of common share equivalents . ........................ 211 16 14
Diluted weighted-average number of common shares outstanding . ..... 985 968 967
Anti-dilutive shares excluded from the calculation of dilutive effect of
common; ShareieqIVAlBnts ;o as mie 509 et & e s o2 o v & Eams & 2 0 o s S 3 8
Cash dividends declared per common share ........................... $- 2875 $ 2375 § 1.875

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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UnitedHealth Group

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the Years Ended
December 31,
(in millions) 2017 2016 2015

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Gross unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities during the
period
Income tax effect

Total unrealized gains (losses), net of tax

Gross reclassification adjustment for net realized gains included in net
earnings
Income tax effect

Total reclassification adjustment, net of tax
Total foreign currency translation (losses) gains
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive income attributable to UnitedHealth Group common
shareholders

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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$10,823 $7,073 $ 5,868

209 (73) (123))
(72) 26 44

137 47 (79)

(83) (166) (141)
30 60 53

(53) (106) (88)
(70) 806  (1,775)
14 653  (1,942)

10,837 7,726 3,926
(265) (56) (55)

$10,572 $7,670 $ 3,871




UnitedHealth Group

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income
(Loss)
Net Foreign
i Un&ea}ized TCurrleut‘gy N . .
Additional ains ranslation Nonredeema
Mo_ck_ Paid-In Retained (Losses)on (Losses) Noncontrolling Total

(in millions) Shares Amount Capital FEarnings Investments Gains Interests Equity
Balance at January 1,2015 ......... 9548 108 — $33836 $ 223 $ (1,615 % — $32,454
INCHECATNINES] « 5 meintn s metcs s v 5@ omsy s © 5,813 26 5,839
Other comprehensive loss .......... (167) (1,775) (1,942)
Issuances of common stock, and

relateditax efIects” « . i cuouin oo bioamer s 10 — 127 127
Share-based compensation, and

related tax benefits ............. 589 589
Common share repurchases .. ....... (11) — (462)  (738) (1,200)
Cash dividends paid on common

BHATES) 32 o 26w t a2 o At (1,786) (1,786)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests

fair value and other adjustments . . . (225) (225)
Acquisition of nonredeemable

noncontrolling interest .......... 9 )
Distributions to nonredeemable

noncontrolling interest .......... (140) (140)
Balance at December 31, 2015 ...... 953 10 29 387,125 56 (3,390) ClosS)r 33,725
Adjustment to adopt ASU 2016-09 . . . 28 28
INCL CARINES) 1 ion bt i b e s o i 7,017 40 7,057
Other comprehensive (loss) income . . (153) 806 653
Issuances of common stock, and

telatedi aXiEffectS) . c.comms somaome-cs s 9 — 191 191
Share-based compensation ......... 455 455
Common share repurchases .. ....... (10) — (316) (964) (1,280)
Cash dividends paid on common

VT e g A R W ST P S I e (2,261) (2,261)
Acquisition of redeemable

noncontrolling interest shares . . ... (143) (143)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest

fair value and other adjustments . . . (216) (216)
Distributions to nonredeemable

noncontrolling interest .......... (32) (32)
Balance at December 31,2016 ...... 952 10 — 40,945 97 (2,584) ©7) 38,177
Netieathings) & 1ag3 samasemm it oan s 10,558 194 10,752
Other comprehensive income (loss) .. 84 (70) 14
Issuances of common stock, and

telated taxIEIFEGES| ¢ s o oinions 5m b mm o 26 — 26293 2225
Share-based compensation ......... 582 582
Common share repurchases ......... 9) — (1,500) (1,500)
Cash dividends paid on common

SRATES 3os cuimme 2.8 96 EA6KE & GG Lie (2,773) (2.798)
Acquisition of redeemable

noncontrolling interest shares .. ... 283 283
Redeemable noncontrolling interests

fair value and other adjustments . .. 118 113
Acquisition of nonredeemable

noncontrolling interests . ......... A2 22
Distributions to nonredeemable

noncontrolling interests . ......... (152) (152)
Balance at December 31,2017 ...... 9698 103 1,703 $48,730 $ (13)$ (2,6549)% 2,057 $49,833

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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TInitedHealth Gronp
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2017 2016 2015
Operating activities
INCRICATNINGSY oo 3 rr o 5 o4 L -0 o 5RO 2 e B D ey s TP 1 OGO $10,823 $ 7,073 $ 5,868
Noncash items:
Depreéiation; and amMOFtIZAON, » o« s 95 9 o008 e 996 @06 m5 08 5o omds a8 @ 2,245 2,055 1,693
1DCIORTE A, TNCOTIIEH VATESY 1 g-sr-5-5: 024500 6 55 0w 5 MM 116 (965) 81 (73)
ST =D ASE AL COTNPETISALTOTIE 4. e - 6/51 4TS5 1 51 5 5 S BRG] 597 485 406
O TR T 1 850 w1k im0 e ] 4 e e e M MR 217 (82) (235)
Net change in other operating items, net of effects from acquisitions and '
changesiin ANRE BATANCESE . .0 conas ois o5 B8 v b v m e b s s e ool s G b B
Accountsiieceivablel i mss 3 5 385 nas @b g BemToh: T30 LD 380 ST (1,062) (1,357) (591)
OFher asselsh 8585050 SR aatrs A6 A5 300 3000 5 B0 5 88 5 32 a5 ad ot (630) (1,601)  (1,430)
Medicaltcostsipayablel wimsssasocte oo otnecoamrdittod Lo fo vt 1,284 1,849 2,585
Accounts payable and; other liabilifies! : . . :o:posasasbobucomins i 930 1,494 1,280
N E AN e e ENUCS ks cad 36503 0 BAb B e 5 1 B s A s enT R T aoemen 157 (202) 2877,
Cash'flows! fromIOPEFatiNG-aCtIVITIES  uiemsne otomons e ot suomeriofer b shen ook, & o it o1 6ok 13,596 9,795 9,740
Investing activities
Purchases of invesStments . ......... ...t iiiee e (14,588) (17,547) (9,939)
Sales: o iNVESMEITS, v o v wmer s s it 358 56 485 Bratt it i vl o oo bl ot 593 4,623 7,339 6,054
Mahirifies of TnvesStMents) s 5 : e a8 s d s gt 0L ot SO tasiE s 00E: MR LB oeED ; 5,646 4,281 3,354
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash assumed ......................... 2,131)  (1,760) (16,164)
Purchases of property, equipment and capitalized software ................ (2,023)  (1,705)  (1,556)
OTRERINEH A4 305 B30 0810 0 IO B o s S 5 o P A T K A (126) 3y (144)
Cash flows used for investing activities . ......... ... ... ... oo 8,599) (9,355) (18,395)
Financing activities
Common share repurchases ... ...ttt iiniieinen. . (1,500)  (1,280)  (1,200)
Cashdividends paid ... ...t i 2,773)  (2,261)  (1,786)
Proceeds from common stock iSSUANCeS . ..........c.iiiiiiiin 688 429 402
RepaymentsiofilongetermidebR s: 4150 608016 va0i et nsasno 6o haat s o (4,398) (2,596) (1,041)
(Repayments of) proceeds from commercial paper,net ................... (3,508) (382) 3,666
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt . .......... ... ... ... .. ... 5,291 3,968 11,982
ChstomefuNdS adMIHISTEIEE. 5 i w005 6 51 s e 50 s 5le 4 8 1 8L erkione yes sliome el os 3,172 1,692 768
OHERITER 'of s 1 2t 30 A 50y I AT A S A AR VA BRSOl (413) (581) (552)
Cash flows (used for) from financing activities ............. ... ... ..... (3,441) (1,011) 12,239
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents .............. ) 78 (156)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ...................... 1,551 (493) 3,428
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period ....................... 10,430 10,923 7,495
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period ..................... i et $11,981 $ 10,430 $ 10,923
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Cash paid fOr INTErESt ... ...\ttt ettt e et et et e e $ 1,133 $ 1,055 $ 639
Cash'paid, fOF INCHMECHIATEEY - 5oy icheremst 5 is0en 6 6 o S sl £k 3 i) 481 4 ol = 4,004 4,726 4,401
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities
Common stock issued for acquisitions . ............ ... .. .. i $ 2164 § — §$§ —

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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UnitedHealth Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business

UnitedHealth Group Incorporated (individually and together with its subsidiaries, “UnitedHealth Group” and
“the Company”) is a diversified health care company dedicated to helping people live healthier lives and helping
make the health system work better for everyone.

Through its diversified family of businesses, the Company leverages core competencies in data and health
information; advanced technology; and clinical expertise to help meet the demands of the health system. These
core competencies are deployed within two distinct, but strategically aligned, business platforms: health benefits
operating under UnitedHealthcare and health services operating under Optum.

2. Basis of Presentation, Use of Estimates and Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The Company has prepared the Consolidated Financial Statements according to U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and has included the accounts of UnitedHealth Group and its subsidiaries.

Use of Estimates

These Consolidated Financial Statements include certain amounts based on the Company’s best estimates and
judgments. The Company’s most significant estimates relate to estimates and judgments for medical costs
payable and revenues, valuation and impairment analysis of goodwill and other intangible assets and estimates of
other current liabilities and other current receivables. Certain of these estimates require the application of
complex assumptions and judgments, often because they involve matters that are inherently uncertain and will
likely change in subsequent periods. The impact of any change in estimates is included in earnings in the period
in which the estimate is adjusted.

Revenues
Premiums

Premium revenues are primarily derived from risk-based health insurance arrangements in which the premium is
typically at a fixed rate per individual served for a one-year period, and the Company assumes the economic risk
of funding its customers’ health care and related administrative costs.

Premium revenues are recognized in the period in which eligible individuals are entitled to receive health care
benefits. Health care premium payments received from the Company’s customers in advance of the service
period are recorded as unearned revenues. Fully insured commercial products of U.S. health plans, Medicare
Advantage and Medicare Prescription Drug Benefit (Medicare Part D) plans with medical loss ratios as
calculated under the definitions in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) and related federal and
state regulations and implementing regulations, that fall below certain targets are required to rebate ratable
portions of their premiums annually. Medicare Advantage premium revenue includes the impact of Centers for
Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) quality bonuses based on plans’ Star ratings.

Premium revenues are recognized based on the estimated premiums earned net of projected rebates because the
Company is able to reasonably estimate the ultimate premiums of these contracts. The Company also records
premium revenues from capitation arrangements at its OptumHealth businesses.

The Company’s Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D premium revenues are subject to periodic adjustment
under CMS’ risk adjustment payment methodology. CMS deploys a risk adjustment model that apportions
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premiums paid to all health plans according to health severity and certain demographic factors. The CMS risk
adjustment model provides higher per member payments for enrollees diagnosed with certain conditions and
lower payments for enrollees who are healthier. Under this risk adjustment methodology, CMS calculates the risk
adjusted premium payment using diagnosis data from hospital inpatient, hospital outpatient and physician
treatment settings. The Company and health care providers collect, capture and submit the necessary and
available diagnosis data to CMS within prescribed deadlines. The Company estimates risk adjustment premium
revenues based upon the diagnosis data submitted and expected to be submitted to CMS. Risk adjustment data
for the Company’s plans are subject to review by the government, including audit by regulators. See Note 12 for
additional information regarding these audits.

Products and Services

For the Company’s OptumRx pharmacy care services business, the majority of revenues are derived from
products sold through a contracted network of retail pharmacies or home delivery and specialty pharmacy
facilities. Product revenues include ingredient costs (net of rebates), a negotiated dispensing fee and customer
co-payments for drugs dispensed through the Company’s mail-service pharmacy. In retail pharmacy transactions,
revenues recognized exclude the member’s applicable co-payment. Pharmacy products are billed to customers
based on the number of transactions occurring during the billing period. Product revenues are recognized when
the prescriptions are dispensed through the retail network or received by consumers through the Company’s
mail-service pharmacy. The Company has entered into contracts in which it is primarily obligated to pay its
network pharmacy providers for benefits provided to their customers regardless of whether the Company is paid.
The Company is also involved in establishing the prices charged by retail pharmacies, determining which drugs
will be included in formulary listings and selecting which retail pharmacies will be included in the network
offered to plan sponsors’ members and accordingly, are reported on a gross basis.

Services revenue consists of fees derived from services performed for customers that self-insure the health care
costs of their employees and employees’ dependents. Under service fee contracts, the Company receives
monthly, a fixed fee per empioyee, which is recognized as revenue as the Company perforims, or makes available
the applicable services to the customer. The customers retain the risk of financing health care costs for their
employees and employees’ dependents, and the Company administers the payment of customer funds to
physicians and other health care professionals from customer-funded bank accounts. As the Company has neither
the obligation for funding the health care costs, nor the primary responsibility for providing the medical care, the
Company does not recognize premium revenue and medical costs for these contracts in its Consolidated
Financial Statements. For these fee-based customer arrangements, the Company provides coordination and
facilitation of medical services; transaction processing; customer, consumer and care professional services; and
access to contracted networks of physicians, hospitals and other health care professionals. These services are
performed throughout the contract period.

Revenues are also comprised of a number of services and products sold through Optum. OptumHealth’s service
revenues include net patient service revenues that are recorded based upon established billing rates, less
allowances for contractual adjustments, and are recognized as services are provided. For its financial services
offerings, OptumHealth charges fees and earns investment income on managed funds. OptumlInsight provides
software and information products, advisory consulting arrangements and services outsourcing contracts, which
may be delivered over several years. OptumlInsight revenues are generally recognized over time and measured
each period based on the progress to date as services are performed or made available to customers.

As of December 31, 2017, accounts receivables related to products and services were $3.7 billion. In 2017, the
Company had no material bad-debt expense and there were no material contract assets, contract liabilities or

deferted contract costs recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2017.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, revenue recognized from performance obligations related to prior periods
(for example, due to changes in transaction price), was not material.
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Revenue expected to be recognized in any future year related to remaining performance obligations, excluding
revenue pertaining to contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less, contracts where
revenue is recognized as invoiced and contracts with variable consideration related to undelivered performance
obligations, is not material.

See Note 13 for disaggregation of revenue by segment and type.

Medical Costs and Medical Costs Payable

The Company’s estimate of medical costs payable represents management’s best estimate of its liability for
unpaid medical costs as of December 31, 2017.

Each period, the Company re-examines previously established medical costs payable estimates based on actual
claim submissions and other changes in facts and circumstances. As more complete claim information becomes
available, the Company adjusts the amount of the estimates and includes the changes in estimates in medical
costs in the period in which the change is identified. Approximately 90% of claims related to medical care
services are known and settled within 90 days from the date of service and substantially all within twelve
months.

Medical costs and medical costs payable include estimates of the Company’s obligations for medical care
services that have been rendered on behalf of insured consumers, but for which claims have either not yet been
received, processed, or paid. The Company develops estimates for medical care services incurred but not
reported (IBNR), which includes estimates for claims that have not been received or fully processed, using an
actuarial process that is consistently applied, centrally controlled and automated. The actuarial models consider
factors such as time from date of service to claim processing, seasonal variances in medical care consumption,
health care professional contract rate changes, medical care utilization and other medical cost trends, membership
volume and demographics, the introduction of new technologies, benefit plan changes, and business mix changes
related to products, customers and geography.

In developing its medical costs payable estimates, the Company applies different estimation methods depending
on which incurred claims are being estimated. For the most recent two months, the Company estimates claim
costs incurred by applying observed medical cost trend factors to the average per member per month (PMPM)
medical costs incurred in prior months for which more complete claim data are available, supplemented by a
review of near-term completion factors (actuarial estimates, based upon historical experience and analysis of
current trends, of the percentage of incurred claims during a given period that have been adjudicated by the
Company at the date of estimation). For months prior to the most recent two months, the Company applies the
completion factors to actual claims adjudicated-to-date to estimate the expected amount of ultimate incurred
claims for those months.

Cost of Products Sold

The Company’s cost of products sold includes the cost of pharmaceuticals dispensed to unaffiliated customers
either directly at its mail and specialty pharmacy locations, or indirectly through its nationwide network of
participating pharmacies. Rebates attributable to non-affiliated clients are accrued as rebates receivable and a
reduction of cost of products sold with a corresponding payable for the amounts of the rebates to be remitted to
those non-affiliated clients in accordance with their contracts and recorded in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations as a reduction of product revenue. Cost of products sold also includes the cost of personnel to support
the Company’s transaction processing services, system sales, maintenance and professional services.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that have an original maturity of three months or less.
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their carrying value because of the short maturity of the
instruments.
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Investments with maturities of less than one year are classified as short-term. Because of regulatory
requirements, certain investments are included in long-term investments regardless of their maturity date. The
Company classifies these investments as held-to-maturity and reports them at amortized cost. Substantially all
other investments are classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair value based on quoted market prices,
whcre available.

The Company excludes unrealized gains and losses on investments in available-for-sale securities from net
earnings and reports them as comprehensive income and, net of income tax effects, as a separate component of
equity. To calculate realized gains and losses on the sale of investments, the Company specifically identifies the
cost of each investment sold.

The Company evaluates an investment for impairment by considering the length of time and extent to which
market value has been less than cost or amortized cost, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the
issuer as well as specific events or circumstances that may influence the operations of the issuer and the
Company’s intent to sell the security or the likelihood that it will be required to sell the security before recovery
of the entire amortized cost.

New information and the passage of time can change these judgments. The Company manages its investment
portfolio to limit its exposure to any one issuer or market sector, and largely limits its investments to investment
grade quality. Securities downgraded below policy minimums after purchase will be disposed of in accordance
with the Company’s investment policy.

Assets Under Management

The Company provides health insurance products and services io members of AARP under a Supplemental
Health Insurance Program (the AARP Program) and to AARP members and non-members under separate
Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D arrangements. The products and services under the AARP Program
inciude supplemental Medicare benefits, hospital indemnity insurance, including insurance for individuais
between 50 to 64 years of age and other related products. :

Pursuant to the Company’s agreement, AARP Program assets are managed separately from the Company’s
general investment portfolio and are used to pay costs associated with the AARP Program. These assets are
invested at the Company’s discretion, within investment guidelines approved by AARP. The Company does not
guarantee any rates of return on these investments and, upon any transfer of the AARP Program contract to
another entity, the Company would transfer cash equal in amount to the fair value of these investments at the date
of transfer to that entity. Because the purpose of these assets is to fund the medical costs payable, the rate
stabilization fund (RSF) liabilities and other related liabilities associated with this AARP contract, assets under
management are classified as current assets, consistent with the classification of these liabilities.

The effects of changes in other balance sheet amounts associated with the AARP Program also accrue to the
overall benefit of the AARP policyholders through the RSF balance. Accordingly, the Company excludes the
effect of such changes in its Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Other Current Receivables

Other current receivables include amounts due from pharmaceutical manufacturers for rebates and Medicare Part
D drug discounts and other miscellaneous amounts due to the Company.

‘I'he Company’s pharmacy care services businesses contract with pharmaceutical manufacturers, some ot which
provide rebates based on use of the manufacturers’ products by its affiliated and non-affiliated clients. The
Company accrues rebates as they are earned by its clients on a monthly basis based on the terms of the applicable
contracts, historical data and current estimates. The pharmacy care services businesses bill these rebates to the
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manufacturers on a monthly or quarterly basis depending on the contractual terms and record rebates attributable
to affiliated clients as a reduction to medical costs. The Company generally receives rebates from two to five
months after billing. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, total pharmaceutical manufacturer rebates receivable
included in other receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets amounted to $3.8 billion and $3.3 billion,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s Medicare Part D receivables amounted to $0.5 billion and
$1.5 billion, respectively.

Property, Equipment and Capitalized Software

Property, equipment and capitalized software are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Capitalized software consists of certain costs incurred in the development of internal-use software,
including external direct costs of materials and services and applicable payroll costs of employees devoted to
specific software development.

The Company calculates depreciation and amortization using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. The useful lives for property, equipment and capitalized software are:

Burnifuresxfixturesiand CQUIPMIEIIT ¢ u i herminiim ione tie s ss mne wisio hestch S ook AR i 3 to 10 years
Bulldingss s msdacac g6 30 150500 T 56E 05 BI0E S0 EH 30§ BaH 06 BEoES Hahders s B m K 35 to 40 years
Capitalized\SORWATE o rrraanE 0 6 6 ots s 856D & B0 03 b EETEEERHTIE HE J6d HO 1 BRES 3to 5 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the remaining lease term or their estimated useful
economic life.

Goodwill

To determine whether goodwill is impaired, annually or more frequently if needed, the Company performs a
multi-step impairment test. The Company may first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than
not that the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. The Company may also elect to
skip the qualitative testing and proceed directly to the quantitative testing. When performing quantitative testing,
the Company first estimates the fair values of its reporting units using discounted cash flows. To determine fair
values, the Company must make assumptions about a wide variety of internal and external factors. Significant
assumptions used in the impairment analysis include financial projections of free cash flow (including significant
assumptions about operations, capital requirements and income taxes), long-term growth rates for determining
terminal value and discount rates. Comparative market multiples are used to corroborate the results of the
discounted cash flow test. If the fair value is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit, then the implied
value of goodwill would be calculated and compared to the carrying amount of goodwill to determine whether
goodwill is impaired.

There was no impairment of goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2017.

Intangible Assets

The Company’s intangible assets are subject to impairment tests when events or circumstances indicate that an
intangible asset (or asset group) may be impaired. The Company’s indefinite lived intangible assets are also
tested for impairment annually. There was no impairment of intangible assets during the year ended
December 31, 2017.

Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities include health savings account deposits ($6.4 billion and $5.7 billion as of December 31,
2017 and 2016, respectively), deposits under the Medicare Part D program ($1.6 billion, and $0.7 billion as of
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December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively), the RSF associated with the AARP Program, accruals for premium
rebate payments under the ACA, the current portion of future policy benefits and customer balances.

Policy Acquisition Costs

The Company’s short duration health insurance contracts typically have a one-year term and may be canceled by
the customer with at least 30 days’ notice. Costs related to the acquisition and renewal of short duration customer
contracts are charged to expense as incurred.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Company’s subsidiaries whose redemption is outside the control of
the Company are classified as temporary equity. The following table provides details of the Company’s
redeemable noncontrolling interests’ activity for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

(in miliions) 2017 2016
Redeemable noncontrolling interests, beginning of period . . . ................ 1 53 2 i A $2,012 $1,736
NEHCAMINES ok st ot aaaiasst s ATee0 Rt Cab e O BEE I f 0T TOOaEa HalSm S0 Vs o 7/} 16
ACHISTIOMS! a imvci oo oy wimy i 51 5. vyt 3 b S e Ay Sy b 2 1y e o 1 o\ 565 34
REd T P OIS s s AR A R o M m e R MR e R r e o R R R o A e (309) (123)
DS D 1 OS] fonrwr e e a R o R R R e N M O N A AR R I Sy e (38) an
Rairvalue afidiothER ad OIS FTETTUSY 5 i 6 ofwers fonermerofiomenimsrsm s (o5 Eh o850 ook RS i 7 s ek 3 T 5 08 (112) 360
Redeemable noncontrolling interests, end of period ... ...... ... ... . i $2,189 $2,012

Share-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense for share-based awards, including stock options, stock-settled
stock appreciation rights (SARS) and restricied siock and restricied stock umts {collectively, resiricied shares), on
a straight-line basis over the related service period (generally the vesting period) of the award, or to an
employee’s eligible retirement date under the award agreement, if earlier. Restricted shares vest ratably,
primarily over two to five years and compensation expense related to restricted shares is based on the share price
on date of grant. Stock options and SARs vest ratably primarily over four years and may be exercised up to 10
years from the date of grant. Compensation expense related to stock options and SARs is based on the fair value
at date of grant, which is estimated on the date of grant using a binomial option-pricing model. Under the
Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), eligible employees are allowed to purchase the Company’s
stock at a discounted price, which is 85% of the lower market price of the Company’s common stock at the
beginning or at the end of the six-month purchase period. Share-based compensation expense for all programs is
recognized in operating costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Net Earnings Per Common Share

The Company computes basic earnings per common share attributable to UnitedHealth Group common
shareholders by dividing net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group common shareholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The Company determines diluted net earnings
per common share attributable to UnitedHealth Group common shareholders using the weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for potentially dilutive shares associated with stock
options, SARs, restricted shares and the ESPP (collectively, common stock equivalents), using the treasury stock
method. The treasury stock method assumes a hypothetical issuance of shares to settle the share-based awards,
with the assumied proceeds used W purchase countmon stuck al tie average market price fur the period. Assumed
proceeds include the amount the employee must pay upon exercise and any unrecognized compensation cost. The
difference between the number of shares assumed issued and number of shares assumed purchased represents the
dilutive shares.
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Health Insurance Industry Tax

The ACA includes an annual, nondeductible insurance industry tax (Health Insurance Industry Tax) to be levied
proportionally across the insurance industry for risk-based health insurance products.

The Company estimates its liability for the Health Insurance Industry Tax based on a ratio of the Company’s
applicable net premiums written compared to the U.S. health insurance industry total applicable net premiums,
both for the previous calendar year. The Company records in full the estimated liability for the Health Insurance
Industry Tax at the beginning of the calendar year with a corresponding deferred cost that is amortized to
operating costs on the Consolidated Statements of Operations using a straight-line method over the calendar year.
The liability is recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and the corresponding deferred cost is
recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. A provision in the
2016 Federal Budget imposed a one year moratorium for 2017 on the collection of the Health Insurance Industry
Tax.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standard Update (ASU)
No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” (ASU 2016-02). Under ASU 2016-02, an entity will be required to recognize
assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by leases on the entity’s balance sheet for both finance
and operating leases. For leases with a term of 12 months or less, an entity may elect to not recognize lease assets
and lease liabilities and expense the lease over a straight-line basis for the term of the lease. ASU 2016-02 will
require new disclosures that depict the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows pertaining to an entity’s
leases. Companies are currently required to adopt the new standard using a modified retrospective approach for
annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption of ASU 2016-02 is permitted.
When adopted, the Company does not expect ASU 2016-02 to have a material impact on its results of operations,
equity or cash flows. The impact of ASU 2016-02 on the Company’s consolidated financial position will be
based on leases outstanding at the time of adoption.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, “Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10):
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (ASU 2016-01). The new guidance
changes the current accounting related to (i) the classification and measurement of certain equity investments,
(ii) the presentation of changes in the fair value of financial liabilities measured under the fair value option that
are due to instrument-specific credit risk, and (iii) certain disclosures associated with the fair value of financial
instruments. Most notably, ASU 2016-01 requires that equity investments, with certain exemptions, be measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income as opposed to other comprehensive income. The
Company adopted ASU 2016-01 effective January 1, 2018 as required. ASU 2016-01 did not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, equity or cash flows.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” as
modified by subsequently issued ASUs 2015-14, 2016-08, 2016-10, 2016-12 and 2016-20 (collectively ASU
2014-09). ASU 2014-09 superseded existing revenue recognition standards with a single model unless those
contracts are within the scope of other standards (e.g., an insurance entity’s insurance contracts). The revenue
recognition principle in ASU 2014-09 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. The Company early adopted the new standard effective January 1, 2017, as
allowed, using the modified retrospective approach. A significant majority of the Company’s revenues are not
subject to the new guidance. The adoption of ASU 2014-09 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial position, results of operations, equity or cash flows as of the adoption date or for the year
ended December 31, 2017.
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The Company has determined that there have been no other recently adopted or issued accounting standards that
had, or will have, a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. Investments

A summary of short-term and long-term investments by major security type is as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

(in millions) Cost Gains Losses Value
December 31, 2017
Debt securities — available-for-sale:

U.S. government and agency obligations ................. $ 2,673 $ L' 9 (30) $ 2,644

State and municipal obligations . ........................ 7,596 99 (35) 7,660

CorporateyabliFatioNs) . one s b it s ale s & aba s 50 ahaedes s 13,181 S, (44) 13,194

U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities .. ................ 3,942 ) (38) 3,911

Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities .............. 1,018 3 6 1,015
Total debt securities — available-for-sale .. ................... 28,410 167 (153) 28,424
EQUIity SECUTILIES . . . .ottt et et 2,026 7 (41) 1,992
Debt securities — held-to-maturity:

U.S. government and agency obligations ................. 254 1 @)) 254

State and municipal obligations ... ............ Bwe iy 3yEs 2 — — 2

Corporatel OPIGAIONS] oy s i35 s 3 560t 0 B 068 30w a a0 s s 280 — — 280
Total debt securities — held-to-maturity . ..................... 536 1 H 536
Total INVESIMENES . . .. ..ottt et i i e $30972 $ 175 $  (195) $30,952
December 31, 2016
Debt securities — available-for-sale: :

U.S. government and agency obligations ................. $ 2294 $ 1 3 (31) $ 2,264

State and municipal obligations .. ....................... 7,120 40 (101) 7,059

Corporate; oblizations) s ssiss g:aseeret Bissoswasssms pya TG 10,944 41 (58) 10,927

U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities . ................. 2,963 /) (43) 2,927

Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities .............. 1,009 3 (10) 1,002
Total debt securities — available-for-sale ... .................. 24,330 92 (243) 24,179
Equity securities . . .......c.ou i 2,036 52 47 2,041
Debt securities — held-to-maturity:

U.S. government and agency obligations ................. 250 1 — 251

State and municipal obligations .. ....... .. ... ... .. ...... ) — — E)

@orporate: obligations)s s a vass 206866 5458 58 0 461X 5T 5 152 238 - - 238
Total debt securities — held-to-maturity . ..................... 493 1 — 494
Total INVEStMENLS . .. ..ottt et e e e $ 26,859 $ 145 $ (290) $26,714

Nearly all of the Company’s inivestments in mortgage-backed securities were rated AAA as of December 31,
2017.
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The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities as of December 31, 2017, by contractual maturity, were as
follows:

Available-for-Sale Held-to-Maturity

Amortized Fair Amortized  Fair

(in millions) Cost Value Cost Value
Dueinone year orless ... ..ottt i $ 3630 $3628 $ 155 $155
Due after one year through fiveyears ........................... 10,658 10,631 131 130
Due after five years through ten years .. .... b3 b o Bl 103 1 5 it £ B o 6,894 6,932 103 103
DUCEEHEN §IEARS) mss bt o0 e 102010165 eme 08 0 5 33 508 05 Bkl 2,268 2,307 147 148
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ......................... 3,942 3,911 — —
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ..................... 1,018 1,015 — —
Total debt SECULILIES .+ . v vt v e ottt e e et e e e e e ... $28,410 $28424 $ 536 $536

The fair value of available-for-sale investments with gross unrealized losses by major security type and length of
time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position were as follows:

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross : Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair  Unrealized Fair Unrealized

(in millions) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
December 31, 2017
Debt securities — available-for-sale:

U.S. government and agency obligations ... .. $ 1249 § (8) $1,027 $ (22)$ 2,276 $ 30)

State and municipal obligations ............ 2,599 (21) 866 (14) 3465 (35)

Corporate obligations .................... 5,901 (23) 1,242 (21) 7,143 (44)

U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities .. . .. 1,657 (12) 1,162 26) 2,819 (38)

Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed

SECUrILIES ...\ viie e et 411 (3) 144 3) 555 (6)

Total debt securities — available-for-sale ........ $11817 § (67) $4,441 $ (86) $16,258 $§  (153)
Equity securities ............... ... . .c.c0u.n.. $ 97% (5)% 105 $ (36)$ 202 $ 4D
December 31, 2016
Debt securities — available-for-sale:

U.S. government and agency obligations . . ... $ 1,794 $ GBS — 3 — $ 1,794 % 3D

State and municipal obligations ............ 4,376 (101) - — 4,376 (101)

Corporate obligations .................... 5,128 56) 137 (2) 5,265 (58)

U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ... .. 2,247 (40) 79 3) 2,326 43)

Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed

SECUILI€S ... ..vviin e 544 €)) 97 3) 641 (10)

Total debt securities — available-for-sale ........ $14089 $ (235)$% 313 § (8)$14,402 $§  (243)
Equity securities ..............cooiiiiin... $ 93% G)$ 91 5% 42)$ 184 § 47

The Company’s unrealized losses from all securities as of December 31, 2017 were generated from
approximately 13,000 positions out of a total of 29,000 positions. The Company believes that it will collect the
principal and interest due on its debt securities that have an amortized cost in excess of fair value. The unrealized
losses were primarily caused by interest rate increases and not by unfavorable changes in the credit quality
associated with these securities. At each reporting period, the Company evaluates securities for impairment when
the fair value of the investment is less than its amortized cost. The Company evaluated the underlying credit
quality and credit ratings of the issuers, noting no significant deterioration since purchase.
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As of December 31, 2017, the Company did not have the intent to sell any of the securities in an unrealized loss
position. Therefore, the Company believes these losses to be temporary.

The Company’s investments in equity securities consist of investments in Brazilian real denominated fixed-
income funds, employee savings plan related investments and dividend paying stocks. The Company cvaluated
its investments in equity securities for severity and duration of unrealized loss, overall market volatility and other
market factors. Additionally, as of December 31, 2017, the Company’s investments included $898 million of
equity method investments in operating businesses in the health care sector.

Net realized gains reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income were from the following sources:

) For the Years Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2017 2016 2015

Total other-than-temporary impairment recognized in earnings ............. $ “ % 45) $ (22)
Grossirealized.losses fromisales) asanssmasprdtmrasmesnrmsny i nsgsmans (33) (44) 28)
Grossirealized;gaifsi fTom SAIES: « gvritnd 305 B B0 B8 355053 & BHE ERare e 5T % 125 2359 191
Net realized gains (included in investment and other income on the

Consolidated Statements of Operations) ............................. 83 166 141
Income tax effect (included in provision for income taxes on the Consolidated

Statements) Of OPETATOTIEN s ouh cion . buehenine st tr EH0 b e e b s lemebe s el by 30) (60) (53)
Realized gains, MEUOHTANES] . .0 o - Eitmd S b5 B 181 8 blrmsmra s et Bam iz $ 53 '$ 106 $ 88

4, Fair Value

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value in the Consolidated Financial Statements or have fair

values disclosed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, These assets and liahilities are classified

into one of three levels of a hierarchy defined by GAAP. In instances in which the inputs used to measure fair
value fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company’s
assessment of the significance of a particular item to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment,
including the consideration of inputs specific to the asset or liability.
The fair value hierarchy is summarized as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets/liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 — Other observable inputs, either directly or indirectly, including:

* Quoted prices for similar assets/liabilities in active markets;

* Quoted prices for identical or similar assets/liabilities in inactive markets (e.g., few transactions,
limited information, noncurrent prices, high variability over time);

* Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset/liability (e.g., interest rates, yield
curves, implied volatilities, credit spreads); and

* Inputs that are corroborated by other observable market data.
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data.
Transfers between levels, if any, are recorded as of the beginning of the reporting period in which the transfer

occurs; there was no transfer between Levels 1, 2 or 3 of any financial assets or liabilities during the year ended
December 31, 2017 or 2016.
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Nonfinancial assets and liabilities or financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain circumstances, such as when the Company
records an impairment. There were no significant fair value adjustments for these assets and liabilities recorded
during the year ended December 31, 2017 or 2016.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value and determine the fair value
hierarchy classification of each class of financial instrument included in the tables below:

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value as
maturities are less than three months. Fair values of cash equivalent instruments that do not trade on a regular
basis in active markets are classified as Level 2.

Debt and Equity Securities. Fair values of debt and equity securities are based on quoted market prices, where
available. The Company obtains one price for each security primarily from a third-party pricing service (pricing
service), which generally uses quoted or other observable inputs for the determination of fair value. The pricing
service normally derives the security prices through recently reported trades for identical or similar securities,
and, if necessary, makes adjustments through the reporting date based upon available observable market
information. For securities not actively traded, the pricing service may use quoted miarket prices of comparable
instruments or discounted cash flow analyses, incorporating inputs that are currently observable in the markets
for similar securities. Inputs that are often used in the valuation methodologies include, but are not limited to,
benchmark yields, credit spreads, default rates, prepayment speeds and nonbinding broker quotes. As the
Company is responsible for the determination of fair value, it performs quarterly analyses on the prices received
from the pricing service to determine whether the prices are reasonable estimates of fair value. Specifically, the
Company compares the prices received from the pricing service to prices reported by a secondary pricing source,
such as its custodian, its investment consultant and third-party investment advisors. Additionally, the Company
compares changes in the reported market values and returns to relevant market indices to test the reasonableness
of the reported prices. The Company’s internal price verification procedures and reviews of fair value
methodology documentation provided by independent pricing services have not historically resulted in
adjustment in the prices obtained from the pricing service.

Fair values of debt securities that do not trade on a regular basis in active markets but are priced using other
observable inputs are classified as Level 2.

Fair value estimates for Level 1 and Level 2 equity securities are based on quoted market prices for actively
traded equity securities and/or other market data for the same or comparable instruments and transactions in
establishing the prices.

The fair values of Level 3 investments in venture capital portfolios are estimated using a market valuation
technique that relies heavily on management assumptions and qualitative observations. Under the market
approach, the fair values of the Company’s various venture capital investments are computed using limited
quantitative and qualitative observations of activity for similar companies in the current market. The Company’s
market modeling utilizes, as applicable, transactions for comparable companies in similar industries that also
have similar revenue and growth characteristics and preferences in their capital structure. Key significant
unobservable inputs in the market technique include implied earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA) multiples and revenue multiples. Additionally, the fair values of certain of the
Company’s venture capital securities are based on recent transactions in inactive markets for identical or similar
securities. Significant changes in any of these inputs could result in significantly lower or higher fair value
measurements.

Throughout the procedures discussed above in relation to the Company’s processes for validating third-party
pricing information, the Company validates the understanding of assumptions and inputs used in security pricing
and determines the proper classification in the hierarchy based on that understanding.

67



Assets Under Management. Assets under management consists of debt securities and other investments held to
fund costs associated with the AARP Program and are priced and classified using the same methodologies as the
Company’s investments in debt and equity securities.

Long-Term Debt. The fair values of the Company’s long-term debt are estimated and classified using the same
methodologies as the Company’s investments in debt securities.

The following table presents a summary of fair value measurements by level and carrying values for items
measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Quoted Prices Other Total
in Active Observable Unobservable Fair and
Markets Inputs Inputs Carrying
(in millions) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Value
December 31, 2017
Cash and cashequivalents ............................ $ 11,718 3 263 $ — $11,981
Debt securities — available-for-sale:
U.S. government and agency obligations ............. 2,428 216 — 2,644
State and municipal obligations .................... — 7,660 - - 7,660
Corporateyobligations) :4:a:nsa3ais0e6s 4 13580y 65 12,989 140 13,194
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ............. — 319111 — 3,911
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ......... — 1,015 — 1,015
Total debt securities — available-for-sale ................ 2,493 25,791 140 28,424
Equity SECUTIties ... .. ..vt ittt 1,784 14 194 1,992
Assets under management ... ...........eiiae ... 1,117 1,984 — 3,101
Total assets) atfali' Value: v o g oo acha e - choe aiE 561 SEr sl S B EE $ 17,112 $ 28,052 $ 334 $45,498
Percentage of total assets at fair value ................... 38% 61% 1% 100%
December 31, 2016
Cashiand cash: equivalents . ssesn:grespicasgeasaseeass $ 10,386 $ 44 % — $10,430
Debt securities — available-for-sale:
U.S. government and agency obligations . ............ 2,017 247 — 2,264
State and municipal obligations .................... — 7,059 — 7,059
Corporate obligations .............. .. ............ 21 10,804 102 10,927
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ............. — 2,927 — 21924
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities ......... — 1,002 — 1,002
Total debt securities — available-for-sale ................ 2,038 22,039 102 24,179
EquifyrseIEtIest sma aasd sus soes s o 206 Ae oo Lo oe L g e o 1,591 13 437 2,041
ASSELSunden TNanagEMEnts « . e s o« 00 a5 o s o 5w oo 1,064 2,041 — 3,105
Total assets at fairvalue .............................. $ 15079 $ 24,137 §$ 539 $39,755
Percentage of total assets at fairvalue ................... 38% 61% 1% 100%
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The following table presents a summary of fair value measurements by level and carrying values for certain
financial instruments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Quoted Prices Other

in Active Observable Unobservable Total Total
Markets Inputs Inputs Fair Carrying
(in millions) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Value Value
December 31, 2017
Debt securities — held-to-maturity:
U.S. government and agency obligations .... $ 251 $ 8 9 — $ 254 $ 254
State and municipal obligations . . .......... =— — 2 2 2
Corporate obligations ................... 16 1 263 280 280
Total debt securities — held-to-maturity ........ $ 267 $ 4 3 265 $ 536 $ 536
Long-term debt and other financing obligations ... $ — § 34504 §$ — $34,504 $31,542
December 31, 2016
Debt securities — held-to-maturity:
U.S. government and agency obligations .... $ 251 §$ — 3 — $ 251 $ 250
State and municipal obligations . ........... — — 5 5 S
Corporate obligations ................... 20 8 210 238 238
Total debt securities — held-to-maturity ........ $ 271 $ 8 $ 215 $ 494 § 493
Long-term debt and other financing obligations ... $ — $ 31,295 $ — $31,295 $29,337

The carrying amounts reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for other current financial assets and
liabilities approximate fair value because of their short-term nature. These assets and liabilities are not listed in

the table above.

5. Property, Equipment and Capitalized Software
A summary of property, equipment and capitalized software is as follows:

December 31,

December 31,

(in millions) ‘ i 2017 2016
Land and improvemMEnts: #: o 1osmaomze: 008 20 F 85076 505 5 6 F 6 @m0 538 $ 405 $ 324
Buildings aiddMpIOVEHIEntS o sm:sp ra: @oimeg imEHEo I oo agems 6L 18358567 @0 3,664 3,148
CompUleReqUIPIIENE m 1 p-'s 1o 57w & B E @1 SOEE S 6 ® BV 3 TEE @ & 67 IO L5 BN £ [ 613 6 72 1,829 2,021
Kurniture andfix 008 o o0um:mapmzmary smemem 10 03 ew 6ms @5 0@ 6w 300 : @56 5 76 1,208 999
Less accumulated depreciation ........... ... ... . i (2,488) (2,621)
Bropetty and SquIPMEMLMEE . .. - e it b s s cimie e 505 o fo e s oo b o #5705 b 4,618 3,871
Capitalized SOTIMAIRE. i« 50+ o iome o1t oo oh oo s o mora et (o ot o e 2t a5 1o T e g 3,601 3,158
Less accumulated amortization ... ... ...... ..ttt e e (1,206) (1,128)
Capitalized sOftware, et .. ........c.otint ittt e 2,395 2,030
Total property, equipment and capitalized software, net .. ...................... $ 7,013 $ 5,901

Depreciation expense for property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was
$799 million, $698 million and $613 million, respectively. Amortization expense for capitalized software for the
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $550 million, $475 million and $430 million, respectively.
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6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by reportable segment, were as follows:

(in millions) UnitedHealthcare OptumHealth Optumlnsight OptumRx Consolidated
Balance at January 1,2016 ............ $ 22925 § 5,660 $ 4296 $11,572 $§ 44,453
Acquisitions . .......... ... .0 ... 526 683 — 1,387 2,596
Foreign currency effects and adjustments,

nely sem 35 ARS8 I S A 5 AT as T a 403 2n 153 — 989
Balance at December 31,2016 ......... 23,854 6,322 4,449 12,959 47,584
ACqUISIHONS 3:gzoasssada giavaigans 690 5,189 1,221 — 7,100
Foreign currency effects and adjustments,

TE (s SR o T s e ol ne (60) (23) 4 (49) (128)
Balance at December 31,2017 ......... $ 24484 $ 11488 $ 5,674 $12910 $ 54,556

The gross carrying value, accumulated amortization and net carrying value of other intangible assets were as
follows:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(in millions) Value Amortization Value Value Amortization Value
Customer-related ..................... $10,832 $ (3,743) $ 7,089 $10942 §$ (3.416) $7,526
Trademarks and technology ............ 1,054 (432) 622 720 (323) 397
Trademarks and other indefinite-lived . ... 561 - 561 468 — 468
ORNGE" .roes svomoresr o st oo ot o sti501 1 o 1o niom ek 5 351 (134) 217 258 (108) 150
GIALLS o it s e o 18 355 sat ok $12,798 $ (4,309) $ 8,483 512,388 $ (3,847) $8,541

The acquisition date fair values and weighted-average useful lives assigned to finite-lived intangible assets
acquired in business combinations consisied of ihe {ollowing by year of acquisition:

2017 2016
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Fair Useful Fair Useful
(in millions, except years) Value Life Value Life
Customerrelated) ;.. - v =i 5t 5o o 28 4 5 A8 40 LI T T T 08 SO $324 13 years $785 17 years
Trademarksianditcchnelogy’ a:s96350:0 58 656600352 I6E TP EAIAIGT 336 367 11 years 82 4 years
Other s sp3: 0302502932 935290330 505D IEDHICE FOEISOE 0305306 70T 82 6 years 22 5 years
Total acquired finite-lived intangible assets .. ................ ... ..... $773 11 years $889 16 years

Estimated full year amortization expense relating to intangible assets for each of the next five years ending
December 31 is as follows:

(in millions)

POMIBLY . o memen st s opengnrs smemen sach s s e g s S P SRS HE0 0 S0 T TP s O T LA TS 1S TS T $833
PO .. o onrin monapomn onemen oo 7 v ron 3 om Tt 8 S0 B L S B T T e R o AT B s O T 5 WA S T e 3 756
PO ) ncne sy o T8 ST T30 B S BB L e T 0% B AT EO PELG T 8 50403 A TE IS TR IR 1 T LB TaT AT 3 665
POP] 52m 583 5250850 500630 2029909 FT00MONE @S G T BTN 0 LELTE0 HESEIE 2 Bl a8 T a5 8 3 hurd s 600
PO ity B D AT B D D e 3 B S0 A0 S T B SO O T O TG [ s IMr (R o SRR D DR MR T 528



Amortization expense relating to intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was
$896 million, $882 million and $650 million, respectively.

7. Medical Costs Payable

The following table shows the components of the change in medical costs payable for the years ended
December 31:

(in millions) 2017 2016 2015
Medical costs payable, beginning of period . . ........... ... ... .. ..., $ 16391 $ 14,330 $ 12,040
ACquisitions: sz sammmrms o o EEL ) DB DR S B I 2 6 R 2 T ARG D N R 3 83 — —
Reported medical costs:

(EOTTENGYE w: oo sa: @3990 399506 8 1 3360 BIAIEE DT BED L0 B IE 130,726 117,258 104,195

Prioryears ......... T = R (690) (220) (320)
Total.fEPOTtETMEAICRI GBS < cuvver o stn o sk 5110wt o v i oo (o 55 6 s e 130,036 117,038 103,875
Medical payments:

Payments forcurrent year ................ ... . .. (113,811) (101,696) (90,630)

Payments forprioryears ............... . i (14,828) (13,281) (10,955)
Totralkmedital Payments) ac s h o 0 r B 508 el bl s ohra Sod b b e e & 5 B 5008 v SEabth (128,639) (114,977) (101,585)
Medical costs payable,end of period ................. ... ... ... $ 17871 $ 16,391 $ 14,330

For the year ended December 31, 2017, medical cost reserve development was primarily driven by lower than
expected health system utilization levels. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, no individual factors

were significant.

Medical costs payable included IBNR of $12.3 billion and $11.6 billion at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. Substantially all of the IBNR balance as of December 31, 2017 relates to the current year. The
following is information about incurred and paid medical cost development as of December 31, 2017:

Net Incurred Medical Costs

(in millions) For the Years ended December 31,
Year 2016 2017
2OUOK-w= e rrmien i e S0 S ST S A S B R L B d e o RS el o e v © B3 $ 117,258 $ 116,622
s Tt L S B i gt VEC L S p ey 130,726
Total .. e e $ 247,348
Net Cumulative Medical Payments
(in millions) For the Years ended December 31,
Year 2016 2017
2006 i e i B T B e O (N B 3 TN VP 1 & ER A R B om sncn mica e o $ (101,696) $ (116,187)
20071k & imE s s derns B dt o E N A BN A B0 s B s A B R St 5 R 4 (113,811)
T Otal Ok rari Y o e s ey T2 0 (el A Er e 1Y 5 Py A 2 o e e B ey et B (229,998)
Net remaining outstanding liabilities prior to 2016 ...... Y ol Sty S £ 521
‘Tatalmedical €oSts Payablel - aaey o erne g em s mme e Ew 5o 0o BE e e 5EE o ; $ 17,871
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8. Commercial Paper and Long-Term Debt

Commercial paper and senior unsecured long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Par Carrying Fair Par Carrying Fair
(in millions, except percentages) Value Value Value Value Value Value
Commerclalipaper &b as6aa 303 ad st Ean At aat o $ 150§ 150 $ 150 $ 3,633 $ 3,633 $ 3,633
Floating rate notes due January 2017 .......... — — — 750 750 750
6.000% notes due June 2017 . ................ — — — 441 446 450
1.450% notes due July 2017 ................. — = — 750 750 T5il
1.400% notes due October 2017 .............. — — — 625 624 626
6.000% notes due November 2017 ............ — — — 156 159 163
1.400% notes due December 2017 ............ — — — 750 751 750
6.000% notes due February 2018 ............. 1,100 1,101 1,106 1,100 1,107 1,153
1.900% notes due July 2018 ................. 1,500 1,499 1,501 1,500 1,496 1,507
1.700% notes due February 2019 ............. 750 749 747 750 748 748
1.625% notes due March 2019 . .............. 500 501 497 500 501 498
2.300% notes due December 2019 ............ 500 495 501 500 498 504
2.700%netes due-July 2020, = s 3 4q s6c se s et mabE 1,500 1,496 1,517 1,500 1,495 1,523
Floating rate notes due October 2020 .......... 300 299 300 — — —
3.875% notes due October 2020 . ............. 450 446 467 450 450 474.
1.950% notes due October 2020 .............. 900 895 892 — S —
4.700% notes due February 2021 ............. 400 403 425 400 409 433
2.125% notes due March 2021 ............... 750 746 744 750 745 741
3.375% notes due November 2021 ............ 500 493 516 500 497 519
2.875% notes due December 2021 . ........... 750 741 760 750 748 760
2.875% notes due March 2022 ............... 1,100 1,054 1,114 1,100 1,057 1,114
3.350% notes due July 2022 ................. 1,000 996 1,033 1,000 995 1,030
2.375% notes due October 2022 .............. 200 893 891 — — —
0.000% notes due November 2022 ............ 15 12 12 15 11 12
2.750% notes due February 2023 ............. 625 606 626 625 609 622
2.875% notes due March 2023 ............... 750 762 759 750 771 3
3 ¥50%,; notes. duerduly Z025] 4:0:0:i6 vaiutsaaas 2,000 1,987 2,108 2,660 1,936 2,670
3.100% notes due March 2026 ............... 1,000 995 1,007 1,000 994 986
3.450% notes due January 2027 .............. 750 745 776 750 745 762
3.375% notes due April 2027 ................ 625 618 642 — — —
2.950% notes due October 2027 .............. 950 937 947 — — —
4.625% notes due July 2035 ................. 1,000 991 1,165 1,000 991 1,090
5.800% notes due March 2036 ............... 850 837 1,105 850 837 1,034
6.500% notes due June 2037 . ................ 500 491 698 500 491 643
6.625% notes due November 2037 ............ 650 641 923 650 640 850
6.875% notes due February 2038 ............. 1,100 1,075 1,596 1,100 1,075 1,497
5.700% notes due October 2040 .............. 300 296 389 300 296 366
5.950% notes due February 2041 ............. 350 345 466 350 345 437
4.625% notes due November 2041 . ........... 600 588 685 600 588 634
4.375% notes due March 2042 ............... 502 483 555 502 483 509
3.950% notes due October 2042 .............. 625 607 650 625 606 609
4.250% notes due March 2043 ... ............ 750 734 822 750 734 765
4.750% notes due July 2045 . ................ 2,000 1,972 2,362 2,000 1,972 2,203
4.200% notes due January 2047 .............. 750 738 808 750 737 759
4.250% notesduey APl 2007 <. 0 vmeviomzmnsms 728 Tl 798 — - —
3.750% notes due October 2047 ... ........... 950 933 969 — — -
Total commercial paper and long-term debt . . . .. $31,417 $31,067 $34,029 $33,022 $32,770 $34,728
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In 2017, the Company repaid $926 million in debt assumed in connection with an acquisition. The Company’s
long-term debt obligations also included $625 million and $200 million of other financing obligations, of which
$107 million and $80 million were current as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Maturities of commercial paper and long-term debt for the years ending December 31 are as follows:

(in millions)

OB eaa mame e 1l 5as e 1o 410 50 50 5 B 1 m A ¢ e SN o B SN @ a0 B e OO B A S B % $ 2857
P00 3508 5 Bk T & e I 0 S S T RS LT P BT S0 L £ DO 4 B IR0 Sy g i e i O 1,850
AN, (et i mirsoms e, et s vty i g s e 2 g 0 s s 0 0 T B 3 o G L S A 3,250
DODIY oz et o 450 05 o N T B I B P ) ) 1 e T £ S S a0 2 MG B SN M S 18 DV T3 2,500
VDR, e NN R G AT bR 20 B R e TP D Aot i o S o L MO RS TR  t 8ULLS
N T e T o sl kTR Rk vom e TN R R R R e Com o R i MR R o ol s ok S errTs o SRR oL SR Shes ey IR 18,470

Commercial Paper and Revolving Bank Credit Facilities

Commercial paper consists of short-duration, senior unsecured debt privately placed on a discount basis through
broker-dealers. As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s outstanding commercial paper had a weighted-average
annual interest rate of 1.5%.

The Company has $3.0 billion five-year, $3.0 billion three-year and $4.0 billion 364-day revolving bank credit
facilities with 26 banks, which mature in December 2022, December 2020 and December 2018, respectively.
These facilities provide liquidity support for the Company’s commercial paper program and are available for
general corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2017, no amounts had been drawn on any of the bank credit
facilities. The annual interest rates, which are variable based on term, are calculated based on the London
Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a credit spread based on the Company’s senior unsecured credit ratings. If
amounts had been drawn on the bank credit facilities as of December 31, 2017, annual interest rates would have
ranged from 2.4% to 2.7%.

Debt Covenants

The Company’s bank credit facilities contain various covenants, including requiring the Company to maintain a
debt to debt-plus-shareholders’ equity ratio of not more than 55%. The Company was in compliance with its debt
covenants as of December 31, 2017.

9. Income Taxes

The current income tax provision reflects the tax consequences of revenues and expenses currently taxable or
deductible on various income tax returns for the year reported. The deferred income tax provision or benefit
generally reflects the net change in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, excluding any
deferred income tax assets and liabilities of acquired businesses. The components of the provision for income
taxes for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

(in millions) 2017 2016 2015
Current Provision:
L o e e e e e e oy e L Ve St L b S e N S $3,597 $4,302 $4,109
StatelandilOCAll b i i K ek e S N R A T R e A 314 3112 281
| FT0TT5) 211\ N e ey oy LB ey Wy Suuny =L 5 gl PN B F0 18 B or TSl S0 B LN SVt A e 254 95 46
iRotal CUTHE N PIOVISTOM e el 5 5y eyl B 55 SRR A R REAR ks SRR 4,165 4,709 4,436
Beferred (Dene i) D IONASION 5% ad e Ens e ot ks 2 A A AR b R KO dsn (965) 81 (73)
Total provision fOr iNCOME TAXES .. . .« v civvvn v ev v oo nnoeenoeaeoensonssns $3,200 $4,790 $4,363




The reconciliation of the tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory rate to the provision for income taxes and the
effective tax rate for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

(in millions, except percentages) 2017 2016 2015

Tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory rate .............. $ 49508 350%%4,152 35.0%%$3,581 35.0%
Changeintaxlaw s s mraraiasas s arant Srasmsee » 680 448 (1,199) (8.6) - — —_  —
State income taxes, net of federal benefit .................. 197 14 205 1.7 145 14
Share-based awards — excess tax benefit . ................. (319) (2.3) (158) (1.3) —_ -
Non-deductible compensation ........................... 7S I3 128 1.1 103 1.0
Health inSuranceiMAUSTEY: TAX  srsio s e omonsiin s o oo 0 8 osu brna s, & — - 645 54 627 6.1
Foreiphitate diffem®mtial oiteana s . com i o imns mrmmasie o s 5.6 (282) (2.0) (105) (0.9) (34) (0.3)
(OA0VE o 11 R g Gt = s, S e R WA R (280) (2.0) (77) (0.6) (59) (0.6)
Brovision for Theomeita%es’ oo s 0 @s 8 a5 966D 86 a6 s $ 3,200 22.8%%$4,790 40.4% $4,363 42.6%

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the differences between the financial and income tax
reporting bases of assets and liabilities based on enacted tax rates and laws. The components of deferred income
tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are as follows:

(in millions) 2017 2016

Deferred income tax assets:
Acerued expensesiand AllOWATCES i ks bt o186m 8= 14 e o b S 8 e = e $ 544 $ 820
U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards ........................... 216 147
Shate=based conipensatlon o sseegomoemea s asgn nosms e b e smy @688 b g s g g9n: 97 126
Nendeduciibledliabiliiiesis SRt sn s an e m s o e e er At T e T s B h 2 ST 169 236
INonzlESE Tax.l0SS I CATRYTORWATAS] & & Geac o8 5 ol 50 5 bl b 5106 b shesot) aous, oh oomehs 1 Ak ik 445 434
OURETEOTIESIIG o8 55 7155 3 T S S i A 8 T e mon om L} i o) AL i  Te s e Sh S w e 167 476
OEENCNZUESE oA e S A ) o T e A A Eea L o L R R L AR R iR 198 175
o Ve /i BRIl TP EVET N Lm0l S aboct PP Vo oV oL NI T e ETar: efoToToTolo 1,836 2,414
195 Vil A tION AT OMGATICIESY (o ionei ok smomeiisn easich oo msniehoneh o ol Sk momeb A oo ol RS B I S ks S . (64) (55)
Total deferred income;taibasselS] $5.085 5% S5058 & S50 5 Fore o 6 e o s kel o S5 e 3 L72 ﬂ
Deferred income tax liabilities:
U8, ifederal andisfater intamgiblesassell] ormsomansmsliay- aneaiies 9 bnso s pasanys (1,998) (3,055)
Non:U.S, goodwill and intangible aSSElS) . » iwiveromse o0 vme s ae oo o @ o omse m ey b o (602) (584)
©CapitaliZed| SUNATEIS oras a2 e e et s K i St o a1 3 e oo e i YT o T AW e (530) (707)
Depreciation] ANdsaTMORIIZAION. e« icxehssiei e inbest o s Suobontor 5 ormeort siue bk ik ] Tiohehichhensa s ke (236) (332)
RIEPAICEE KD TSESY s out M wiomeni e ik R s AR 05 e ML 5 ) LA b AN R 0 I i e (223) (228)
Outsidesbasts) i) PaTERSNIDE “-azu.c. sk moneiosnnins r oath shen ool o e g ks R Bk 5 e g i (279) (132)
O T T T S5 5 e o MmN 0 ) 10 31 ) el B S 0 ) N D 3 X S T (86) (82)
Total deferred! incomerfax: 1TaBIlities: . . £ s 52 6%5 5a0 4 5.5 6 vme 9 e pres b 6158 i s viae S (3,954) (5,120)
Net deferred income tax liabilities .................. e R G L e S P L SO $(2,182) $(2,761)

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. federal government enacted a tax bill, H.R.1, An Act to Provide for
Reconciliation Pursuant to Titles II and V of the Concurrent Resolution on the Budget for Fiscal Year 2018 (Tax
Reform). Tax Reform changed existing United States tax law, including a reduction of the U.S. corporate income
tax rate. The Company re-measured deferred taxes as of the dale of enactiment, which resulted in the $1.2 billion
reduction of net deferred income tax liabilities. The Company’s measurement of the income tax effects of Tax
Reform for the year ended December 31, 2017 is reasonably estimated and, therefore, included in these financial
statements in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118.
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Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The valuation allowances primarily relate to future tax benefits on certain federal, state and non-U.S. net
operating loss carryforwards. Federal net operating loss carryforwards of $235 million expire beginning in 2022
through 2037; state net operating loss carryforwards expire beginning in 2018 through 2037. Substantially all of
the non-U.S. tax loss carryforwards have indefinite carryforward periods.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s undistributed earnings from non-U.S. subsidiaries are intended to be
indefinitely reinvested in non-U.S. operations, and therefore no U.S. deferred taxes have been recorded. Taxes
payable on the remittance of such earnings would be minimal.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 is as
follows: '

(in millions) 2017 2016 2015
Gross unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of period .............................. $263 $224 §$ 92
Gross increases:
Current year tax POSItIONS . . ...ttt ittt e e 356 37 =—
Prior year tax poSItiOnSs . ... ...ttt e 40 24 55
ACQUITEA TESEIVES . . .ottt ettt ettt e ettt e e e e — — 89
Gross decreases:
Briomyear taxepositions & a0 et s Ea o 50 i B L6 s 0 b m b oad & S 8 S £ eanEad Bt (33) 4) (2)
SEMISHENTS" s Ml o % 68 s O r B ot o A e 1 o 1% B 3 B A N T 0 B ST D T S 24) (6) 0))]
Stamelof litnitations-lapses st Az ros @56 B om Lm0 i 06 B e 9N a B B iAo 4 (12) 9
Gross unrecognized tax benefits, end of period . ........ ... ... .. ... ... Ll $598 $263 $224

The Company believes it is reasonably possible that its liability for unrecognized tax benefits will decrease in the
next twelve months by $210 million as a result of audit settlements and the expiration of statutes of limitations.

The Company classifies interest and penalties associated with uncertain income tax positions as income taxes
within its Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015,
the Company recognized $14 million, $11 million and $11 million of interest and penalties, respectively. The
Company had $84 million and $70 million of accrued interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. These amounts are not included in the reconciliation above. As of
December 31, 2017, there were $472 million of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the
effective tax rate.

The Company currently files income tax returns in the United States, various states and localities and non-U.S.
Jurisdictions. The U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has completed exams on the consolidated income tax
returns for fiscal years 2016 and prior. The Company’s 2017 tax year is under advance review by the IRS under
its Compliance Assurance Program. With the exception of a few states, the Company is no longer subject to
income tax examinations prior to the 2011 tax year. In general, the Company is subject to examination in
non-U.S. jurisdictions for years 2012 and forward. : '

10. Shareholders’ Equity
Regulatory Capital and Dividend Restrictions

The Company’s regulated insurance and HMO subsidiaries in the United States are subject to regulations and
standards in their respective jurisdictions. These standards, among other things, require these subsidiaries to
maintain specified levels of statutory capital, as defined by each jurisdiction, and restrict the timing and amount
of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their parent companies. In the United States, most of
these regulations and standards are generally consistent with model regulations established by the National
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Association of Insurance Commissioners. These standards generally permit dividends to be paid from statutory
unassigned surplus of the regulated subsidiary and are limited based on the regulated subsidiary’s level of
statutory net income and statutory capital and surplus. These dividends are referred to as “ordinary dividends”
and generally may be paid without prior regulatory approval. If the dividend, together with other dividends paid.
within the preceding twelve months, exceeds a specified statutory limit or is paid from sources other than earned
surplus, it is generally considered an “extraordinary dividend” and must receive prior regulatory approval.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company’s regulated subsidiaries paid their parent companies
dividends of $3.7 billion, including $1.1 billion of extraordinary dividends. For the year ended December 31,
2016, the Company’s regulated subsidiaries paid their parent companies dividends of $3.9 billion, including
$3.3 billion of extraordinary dividends.

The Company’s regulated subsidiaries had estimated aggregate statutory capital and surplus of $20.7 billion as of
December 31, 2017. The estimated statutory capital and surplus necessary to satisfy regulatory requirements of
the Company’s regulated subsidiaries was approximately $12.2 billion as of December 31, 2017.

Optum Bank must meet minimum requirements for Tier 1 leverage capital, Tier 1 risk-based capital, common
equity Tier I risk-based capital and total risk-based capital of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)
to be considered “Well Capitalized” under the capital adequacy rules to which it is subject. At December 31,
2017, the Company believes that Optum Bank met the FDIC requirements to be considered “Well Capitalized.”

Share Repurchase Program

Under its Board of Directors’ authorization, the Company maintains a share repurchase program. The objectives -
of the share repurchase program are to optimize the Company’s capital structure and cost of capital, thereby
improving returns to shareholders, as well as to offset the dilutive impact of share-based awards. Repurchases
may be made from time to time in open market purchases or other types of transactions (including prepaid or

triratiiead 3 . S
structured share repurchase programs), subject to certain Board restrictions. In June 2014, the Board renewed the

Company’s share repurchase program with an authorization to
repurchase up to 100 million shares of its common stock.

Years Ended December 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2017 2016
Gommon:sharetrepuichasesy ShATES) 656 L3 301 a0 0 053 e O EBE T F3OPE @ 6 s 9 10
Common share repurchases, average pricepershare . ............................ $173.54 $128.97
Common share repurchases, aggregate cost .. . ... ....ov ittt neenen .. $ 1,500 $ 1,280
Boardianthonzed ShareSimBmMaiNIIE] .« oo e e s 5 a0 et es 610 cbiies & o0 el 01 xiomens) & eneh oushebispors 42 51

Dividends

In June 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors increased the Company’s quarterly cash dividend to
shareholders to equal an annual dividend rate of $3.00 per share compared to the annual dividend rate of $2.50
per share, which the Company had paid since June 2016. Declaration and payment of future quarterly dividends
is at the discretion of the Board and may be adjusted as business needs or market conditions change. '

11. Share-Based Compensation

‘t'he Company’s outstanding share-based awards consist mainly of non-qualified stock options, SARs and
restricted shares. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had 51 million shares available for future grants of
share-based awards under the Plan. As of December 31, 2017, there were also 9 million shares of common stock
available for issuance under the ESPP.
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Stock Options and SARs

Stock option and SAR activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is summarized in the table below:

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Shares Price Contractual Life Intrinsic Value
(in millions) (in years) (in miilions)
Outstanding at beginning of period . ................. 36 $ 84
GRANTEY] S an s e ot ks ST b e e e S b b A1 By 15 111
ERCICISEU. waviimiin: &t bt 0 Ea o 5 o it & B e o i et (12) 55
ROTTEETE weeireiiorsome g iom e 1 B s 1l e S S o e e 1 S ) 125
Outstanding atend of period . ...................... 37 102 66 $ 4,443
Exercisable atend of period ..................... - 16 67 4.8 2,412
Vested and expected to vest, end of period ............ 36 101 6.6 4,363

Restricted Shares

Restricted share activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is summarized in the table below:

Weighted-Average

Grant Date

Fair Value
(shares in millions) Shares per Share
Nonvested st baptasing 6Fpeed - :c:civoverasvzotagormsnsnsassacasnsgings 7 % 96
(G 1= . adgirgroIgTg N g E: BERTE 3 163
Yo e o oais [0 o1 elalo b Egl oo e L8102 DU Dlg 1o CRR S o[% Bl P i o s H kol Cioole o o] o e Pob o o o _ 43) 84
Nonvested at end of period . . ........ R T Pk e o] o e N P oy o s P 1 7 128
Other Share-Based Compensation Data

For the Years Ended
December 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2017 2016 2015
Stock Options and SARs
Weighted-average grant date fair value of shares granted, pershare ................. 5 29 $20 $22
Total intrinsic value of stock options and SARs exercised ......................... 1,473 595 482
Restricted Shares
Weighted-average grant date fair value of shares granted, pershare ................. 163 115 110
Total fair value of restricted shares vested . .. ... .. ..o viiitinin i $ 460 $274 $460
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Numberafi Shares PHIChASEdl §a4smias 5B T 1000t 0 5 04 MEE 0 5 6 16r: 12 Bacs 6o b 2 2 2
Share-Based Compensation Items :
Share-based compensation expense, before tax ......... ... ... . .. i i, $ 597 $485 $406
Share-based compensation expense, net of tax effects .................... ... .... 531 417 348
Income tax benefit realized from share-based award exercises . ..................... 431 236 247
(in millions, except years) ) ! December 31, 2017
Unrecognized compensation expense related to shareawards ........................... $ 593
Weighted-average years to recognize compensation €Xpense ... .............c.covuevun-.. 1-3
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Share-Based Compensation Recognition and Estimates

The principal assumptions the Company used in calculating grant-date fair value for stock options and SARs
were as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
Riskefteefnteresi FAle] gna: a0 oo 6 3anet 2600t B 0a- e C as 33 1.9% -2.1% 1.2% -1.4% 1.6% -1.7%
Exdpected VOlabiie] mamaae 3 3o saees 0 mr e s mg e s mn s 18.5% -20.7% 20.8% -22.5% 22.3% -24.1%
Exipected- diVide Nl VL) uisa s awweonsainrs stswmsaeammammmmeriians 1.4% - 1.6% 1.8% 1.4% - 1.7%
R T L O TR Lm0 34003 9.0 D MR e e NG RN T BTN 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%
Expected lifeinyears ......... ..., Sl 56-59 55-6.1

Risk-free interest rates are based on U.S. Treasury yields in effect at the time of grant. Expected volatilities are
based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock and the implied volatility from exchange-
traded options on the Company’s common stock. Expected dividend yields are based on the per share cash
dividend paid by the Company. The Company uses historical data to estimate option and SAR exercises and
forfeitures within the valuation model. The expected lives of options and SARs granted represents the period of
time that the awards granted are expected to be outstanding based on historical exercise patterns.

Other Employee Benefit Plans

The Company offers a 401(k) plan for its employees. Compensation expense related to this plan was not material
for 2017, 2016 and 2015.

In addition, thc Company maintains non-qualificd, dcfcrred compensation plans, which allow certain members of
senior management and executives to defer portions of their salary or bonus and receive certain Company
contributions on such deferrals, subject to plan limitations. The deferrals are recorded within long-term
investrienis with an approximately equal amount in other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The total
deferrals are distributable based upon termination of employment or other periods, as elected under each plan and
were $865 million and $672 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases facilities and equipment under long-term operating leases that are non-cancelable and
expire on various dates. Rent expense under all operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016
and 2015 was $710 million, $608 million and $555 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2017, future minimum annual lease payments, net of sublease income, under all
non-cancelable operating leases were as follows:

Future Minimum

(in millions) Lease Payments

OIS o o Yo o T e RV eien Al 2 e B ot oo s Bl et o ] Gl T P e P ik 2 i $ 538
O e e o e TN R MR D e Sk KA A R R AR e DM A R RN A 470
B e e ke e o b e R o P e I o e R e R AP ] At e Ll 414
s T R e e e e AL i R S TS RS 1 Tt LI L P T O PO S Pd TP TP BN oo o 350
D oty e R ik om B B R AR M S i b R e T 2 e T T 0L i B D B S 0 250 501
THETCATIER caia s sime o ot i 5 3 SO E S T B e 5 e o0 S B B 2 D 0 3 6 ) i o s T o 3 ) 809

The Company provides guarantees related to its service level under certain contracts. If minimum standards are
not met, the Company may be financially at risk up to a stated percentage of the contracted fee or a stated dollar
amount. None of the amounts accrued, paid or charged to income for service level guarantees were material as of
December 31, 2017, 2016 or 2015.
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As of December 31, 2017, the Company had outstanding, undrawn letters of credit with financial institutions of
$72 million and surety bonds outstanding with insurance companies of $1.4 billion, primarily to bond contractual
performance.

Pending Acquisition

In December 2017, the Company entered into agreements to acquire two companies in the health care sector for a
total of approximately $7.7 billion. One of the acquisitions closed in January 2018; the other is expected to close
later in 2018, subject to regulatory approval and other customary closing conditions.

Legal Matters

Because of the nature of its businesses, the Company is frequently made party to a variety of legal actions and
regulatory inquiries, including class actions and suits brought by members, care providers, consumer advocacy
organizations, customers and regulators, relating to the Company’s businesses, including management and
administration of health benefit plans and other services. These matters include medical malpractice,
employment, intellectual property, antitrust, privacy and contract claims and claims related to health care benefits.
coverage and other business practices.

The Company records liabilities for its estimates of probable costs resulting from these matters where
appropriate. Estimates of costs resulting from legal and regulatory matters involving the Company are inherently
difficult to predict, particularly where the matters: involve indeterminate claims for monetary damages or may
involve fines, penalties or punitive damages; present novel legal theories or represent a shift in regulatory policy;
involve a large number of claimants or regulatory bodies; are in the early stages of the proceedings; or could
result in a change in business practices. Accordingly, the Company is often unable to estimate the losses or
ranges of losses for those matters where there is a reasonable possibility or it is probable that a loss may be
incurred.

Government Investigations, Audits and Reviews

The Company has been involved or is currently involved in various governmental investigations, audits and
reviews. These include routine, regular and special investigations, audits and reviews by the CMS, state
insurance and health and welfare departments, the Brazilian national regulatory agency for private health
insurance and plans (the Agéncia Nacional de Satide Suplementar), state attorneys general, the Office of the
Inspector General, the Office of Personnel Management, the Office of Civil Rights, the Government
Accountability Office, the Federal Trade Commission, U.S. Congressional committees, the U.S. Department of
Justice, the SEC, the Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration, the Brazilian federal
revenue service (the Secretaria da Receita Federal), the U.S. Department of Labor, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, the Defense Contract Audit Agency and other governmental authorities. Certain of the Company’s
businesses have been reviewed or are currently under review, including for, among other matters, compliance
with coding and other requirements under the Medicare risk-adjustment model. CMS has selected certain of the
Company’s local plans for risk adjustment data validation (RADV) audits to validate the coding practices of and
supporting documentation maintained by health care providers and such audits may result in retrospective
adjustments to payments made to the Company’s health plans.

On February 14, 2017, the Department of Justice (DOJ) announced its decision to pursue certain claims within a
lawsuit initially asserted against the Company and filed under seal by a whistleblower in 2011. The
whistleblower’s complaint, which was unsealed on February 15, 2017, alleges that the Company, along with a
number of other Medicare Advantage plans, made improper risk adjustment submissions and violated the False
Claims Act. On March 24, 2017, DOJ intervened in a separate lawsuit initially asserted against the Company and
filed by a whistleblower in 2009 concerning risk adjustment submissions by Medicare Advantage plans. On
October 5, 2017, in one of the cases, the district court dismissed certain of DOJ’s claims with prejudice, and
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dismissed all of DOJ’s remaining claims with leave to file a further amended complaint; on October 12, the DOJ
filed a notice of dismissal without prejudice of the case. The other case is now pending in the U.S. District Court
for the Central District of California. The Company cannot reasonably estimate the outcome that may result from
this remaining matter given its current posture.

13. Segment Financial Information

Factors used to determine the Company’s reportable segments include the nature of operating activities,
economic characteristics, existence of separate senior management teams and the type of information used by the
Company’s chief operating decision maker to evaluate its results of operations. Reportable segments with similar
economic characteristics, products and services, customers, distribution methods and operational processes that
operate in a similar regulatory environment are combined.

The following is a description of the types of products and services from which each of the Company’s four
reportable segments derives its revenues:

e UnitedHealthcare includes the combined results of operations of UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual,
UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement, UnitedHealthcare Community & State and UnitedHealthcare
Global. The U.S. businesses share significant common assets, including a contracted network of physicians,
health care professionals, hospitals and other facilities, information technology infrastructure and other
resources. UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual offers an array of consumer-oriented health benefit
plans and services for large national employers, public sector employers, mid-sized employers, small
businesses and individuals nationwide. UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement provides health care
coverage and health and well-being services to individuals age 50 and older, addressing their unique needs
for preventive and acute health care services as well as services dealing with chronic discase and other
specialized issues for older individuals. UnitedHealthcare Community & State’s primary customers oversee
Medicaid plans, the Children’s Health Insurance Program and other federal, state and community health
care programs. UnitedHealthcare Global is a diversified global health services business with a variety of
offerings, including international commercial health and dental benefits and health care delivery.

e OptumHealth serves the physical, emotional and health-related financial needs of individuals, enabling
population health management through programs offered by employers, payers, government entities and
directly with the care delivery system. OptumHealth offers access to networks of care provider specialists,
health management services, care delivery, consumer engagement and financial services.

*  Optumlinsight provides services, technology and health care expertise to major participants in the health care
industry. Hospital systems, physicians, health plans, governments, life sciences companies and other
organizations that comprise the health care industry depend on OptumlInsight to help them improve
performance, achieve efficiency, reduce costs, meet compliance mandates and modernize their core
operating systems to meet the changing needs of the health system.

e OptumRx offers pharmacy care services and programs, including retail network contracting, home delivery
and specialty pharmacy services, purchasing and clinical capabilities, and develops programs in areas such
as step therapy, formulary management, drug adherence and disease/drug therapy management.

The Company’s accounting policies for reportable segment operations are consistent with those described in the
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (see Note 2). Transactions between reportable segments principally
consist of sales of pharmacy care products and services to UnitedHealthcare customers by OptumRx, certain
product offerings and care management and local care delivery services sold to UnitedHealthcare by
OptumHealth, and health information and technology solutions, consulting and other services sold to
UnitedHealthcare by OptumInsight. These transactions are recorded at management's estimate ol [air value.
Intersegment transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Assets and liabilities that are jointly used are assigned
to each reportable segment using estimates of pro-rata usage. Cash and investments are assigned such that each
reportable segment has working capital and/or at least minimum specified levels of regulatory capital.
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As a percentage of the Company’s total consolidated revenues, premium revenues from CMS were 28%, 25%
and 26% for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, most of which were generated by UnitedHealthcare Medicare &
Retirement and included in the UnitedHealthcare segment. U.S. customer revenue represented approximately
96%, 97% and 96% of consolidated total revenues for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Long-lived fixed assets
located in the United States represented approximately 77% and 75% of the total long-lived fixed assets as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The non-U.S. revenues and fixed assets are primarily related to

UnitedHealthcare Global.
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The following table presents the reportable segment financial information:

Optum
Optum Corporate and
(in millions) UnitedHealthcare OptumHealth OptumInsight OptumRx Eliminations Optum Eliminations Consolidated
2017
Revenues — unaffiliated customers:
Premiums ................. $ 154,709 $ 3,744 $ — % — 3 — $3744 % —'$ 158,453
210 [)[c]i MRS U — 44 106 26,216 — 26,366 — 26,366
SenViCeStrrmmrrost 714 s b AAs 7,890 4,013 2,849 565 — 7427 — 15,317
Total revenues — unaffiliated
CUSIOIMENS  cevmeaamamss oo 3o 3 162,599 7,801 2,955 26,781 — 37,537 . — 200,136
Total revenues — affiliated
CUSIOMIETS .o ee e — 12,429 5,127 36,954 (1,227) 53,283 (53,283) —
Investment and other income ...... 658 340 5 20 —- 365 — 1,023
Total revenues .. ................ $ 163,257 $ 20,570 $ 8,087 § 63,755 § (1,227)$91,185 $ (53,283)$ 201,159
Earnings from operations ......... $ 8,498 $ 1,823 § 1,770 $ 3,118 § — $6711 % — 3 15,209
Interestexpense . . ............... — — — — — — (1,186) (1,186)
Earnings before income taxes ... ... $ 8,498 $ 1,823 $ 1,770 $ 3,118 $ — $6711 8 (1,186)$ 14,023
TOLAIFASSELS: & mwwsridmabebotm s o aAn s $ 76,676 $ 26,931 $ 11,273 § 29551 % — $67,755 § (5,373)$ 139,058
Purchases of property, equipment :
and capitalized software ........ 737 510 588 188 — 1,286 — 2,023
Depreciation and amortization .. ... 758 380 614 493 — 1,487 — 2,245
2016
Revenues — unaffiliated customers:
PTETIUTIS) | 5o i v dga et s $ 140,455 $ 3,663 $ — $ — 3 — $ 3,663 % — $ 144,118
ProductS s o« ik s @ s 1 48 103 26,506 — 26,657 — 26,658
SERVICES] 02 595 3 A TErmfiE B E 7,514 2,498 2,670 554 — 5722 — 13,236
Total revenues — unaffiliated
CUSIOMErS .. ................. 147,970 6,209 X7 27,060 — 36,042 — 184,012
Total revenues — affiliated
CUSIOMETrS .. ............co... - 10,491 4,559 33,372 (1,088) 47,334 (47,334) —
Duvestnent and other income . ... .. i 08 1 8 — 217 — 828
Totalrevenues .. ................ $ 148,581 $ 16,908 $ 7,333 $ 60,440 $ (1,088) $83,593 $ (47,334)$ 184,840
Earnings from operations ......... $ 7,307 $ 1,428 $ 1,513 § 2,682 % — $5623 % — 3 12,930
IntereSCEXPense: 553 53 damease s o 5 3 — — — — — — (1,067) (1,067)
Eamnings before income taxes . ... .. $ 7,307 $ 1,428 $ 1513 2682 % — $ 5623 § (1,067)$ 11,863
BOTALASSEIS] & oo ik b oh ok it 5 $ 70,505 $ 18,656 $ 9,017 § 29,066 $ — $56,739 $ (4434)% 122,810
Purchases of property, equipment
and capitalized software ........ 640 345 571 149 — 1,065 — 1,705
Depreciation and amortization . . ... 724 297 559 475 — 1,331 — 2,055
2015
Revenues — unaffiliated customers:
Premiums ................. $ 124,011 $ 3,152 $ — 3 — 3 — $ 3,152 % — $ 127,163
RICAUCTS,.....*. e 5 monsmencnsnonzions 2 31 108 17,171 — 17,310 — 17,312
SBOVICES o v s = i ot oo 6,776 2,815 2,390 381 — 5,146 — 11,922
Total revenues — unaffiliated
CUSEOMMETSH e /a3 5 b acmmpna 130,789 5,558 2,498 17,552 — 25,608 — 156,397
Total revenues — affiliated
CUSIOMELS] sdes aa 3434 T Iogarxacs: ’ — 8,216 3,697 30,718 (791) 41,840 (41,840) —
Investment and other income ...... 554 153 1 2 —_ 156 — 710
Total revenues .. ................ $ 131,343 $ 13,927 $ 6,196 $ 48,272 $ (791)$67,604 $ (41,8400 157,107
Earnings from operations ......... $ 6,754 $ 1,240 $ 1,278 8 1749 § — $ 4267 % =9 11,021
Interestexpense . . ............... — — — — — — (790) (790)
Earnings before income taxes ...... $ 6,754 $ 1,240 $ 12788 1,749 $ — $4267 % (790) $ 10,231
Tatal assets $ 64212 § 14,600 $ 8335 % 26844 § — $49,779 $ (273N% 111254
Purchases of property, equipment
and capitalized software ........ 653 252 572 9 - 903 — 1,556
Depreciation and amortization .. ... 718 251 492 232 — 975 — 1,693
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14. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Selected quarterly financial information for all quarters of 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

For the Quarter Ended

(in millions, except per share data) March31  June30  September 30 December 31
2017 ‘
REVETIICS A s v o 5 L S e e e e O & ) 501 3 ey s o s $48,723 $50,053  $50,322 $52,061
) DB R TTCOSUS] 1o e e gt o3 s o o gt ey S 45,310 46,322 46,234 48,084
Earnings from operations ............ ..., 3,413 3,731 4,088 3,977
TR QRN ... . .o i o = o st o v 0 i 2,191 2,350 2,561 3,721
Net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group common

sharehelders: gabormimoarm sy o B G PR it omi 2:17% 2,284 2,485 3,617
Net earnings per share attributable to UnitedHealth Group ‘

common shareholders:
BaSiChy: @ sar ruopam: 0 55 @3 6 D SGE 606 50 50 S 0 2 5 6 6 2.28 2137 257 3578
DT E Qe oy s iy = T 2 s e o a7 o .2 2 o e G 2 1 3 e D g 223 2.32 2.51 3.65
2016
REVENUES . . ..ottt it e e e e $44,527 $46,485  $46,293 $47,535
Operating CostS ... .vvvvi et e e e 41,567 43,282 42,713 44348
Earnings from operations ............... ... iieiaa.... 2,960 3,203 3,580 3,187
INeHEANINGS” 1655 @ foais BE S 1G5 57530 5755 o 5ot bl bah 00 1y pme 1,627 1,760 1,978 1,708
Net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group common

SNATENOIAETS) |5 rxs a5 B EES 05 B 200 68 E 64 @ ¢ B i aat = ey by 3 1,611 1,754 1,968 1,684
Net earnings per share attributable to UnitedHealth Group

common shareholders:
BlaSiC] et ror i (55 s o Gt ey 3 ) i p B e 1.69 1.84 2.07 1.77
IDITEECR s i o o ol e i o = o e P o Yol e P e 1.67 1.81 2.03 1.74

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms; and (ii) accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as

appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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In connection with the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, management evaluated, under the supervision
and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2017. Based upon that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2017.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2017 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2017

Management of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Subsidiaries (the Company) is responsible for establishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control system is designed to provide
reasonable assurance to our management and board of directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of
the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2017. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based
on our assessment and the COSO criteria, we believe that, as of December 31, 2017, the Company maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm has audited the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, as stated in the Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm, appearing under Item 9A.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Subsidiaries:

Opinions on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017,
of the Company and our report dated February 13, 2018, expressed an unqualified opinion on consolidated
financial statements.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining ettective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2017. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally-accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/  DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 13, 2018
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

DIRECTORS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following sets forth certain information regarding our directors as of February 13, 2018, including their
name and principal occupation or employment:

William C. Ballard, Jr. Valerie Montgomery Rice, M.D

Former Of Counsel President and Dean

Bingham Greenebaum Doll LLP Morehouse School of Medicine

Richard T. Burke Glenn M. Renwick

Lead Independent Director Chair

UnitedHealth Group Fiserv, Inc.

Timothy P. Flynn Kenneth 1. Shine, M.D.

Retired Chair Professor of Medicine at the Dell Medical School
KPMG International University of Texas

Stephen J. Hemsley David S. Wichmann

Executive Chair Chief Executive Officer

UnitedHealth Group UnitedHealth Group

Michele J. Hooper Gail R. Wilensky, Ph.D.

President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Fellow

The Directors’ Council, a company focused on Project HOPE, an international health foundation

improving the governance processes of corporate boards

Rodger A. Lawson Andrew P. Witty

Executive Chair Former Chief Executive Officer
E*TRADE Financial Corporation and GlaxoSmithKline

Retired President and Chief Executive Officer Chancellor

Fidelity Investments — Financial Services University of Nottingham

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K and Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K,
information regarding our executive officers is provided in Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

We have adopted a code of ethics applicable to our principal executive officer and other senior financial officers,
who include our principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller and persons performing
similar functions. The code of ethics, entitled Code of Conduct: Our Principles of Ethics and Integrity, is posted
on our website at www.unitedhealthgroup.com. For information about how to obtain the Code of Conduct, see
Part I, Item 1, “Business.” We intend to satisfy the SEC’s disclosure requirements regarding amendments to, or
waivers of, the code of ethics for our senior financial officers by posting such information on our website
indicated above.

The remaining information required by Items 401, 405, 406 and 407(c)(3), (d)(4) and (d)(5) of Regulation S-K
will be included under the headings “Corporate Governance,” “Proposal 1-Election of Directors” and

“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2018
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Items 402, 407(¢)(4) and (e)(5) of Regulation S-K will be included under the
headings “Executive Compensation,” “Director Compensation,” “Corporate Governance—Risk Oversight” and
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2018
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth certain information, as of December 31, 2017, concerning shares of common stock
authorized for issuance under all of our equity compensation plans:

(c)

a (b) Number of securities
Number of securities Weighted-average remaining available for
to be issued upon exercise future issuance under
exercise of price of equity compensation
outstanding outstanding plans (excluding
options, warrants options, warrants securities reflected in
Plan category and rights and rights column (a))
(in millions) (in millions)

Equity compensation plans approved by

ShATChOIAET M, o i hieon b omeiihenemeach A A AR 35 % 106 600
Equity compensation plans not approved by

ghateholdensi®} . . .Y s sesanitrmass: B rpasaseys - - -

Total Peasdsnrdnsaio i boaid6sancso bt B0 va 35§ 106 60

(1) Consists of the UnitedHealth Group Incorporated 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and the
UnitedHealth Group 1993 ESPP, as amended.

(2) Excludes 2,818,000 shares underlying stock options assumed by us in connection with acquisitions. These
options have a weighted-average exercise price of $61 and an average remaining term of approximately 3
years. The options are administered pursuant to the terms of the plan under which the options originally
were granted. No future awards will be granted under this acquired plan.

(3) Includes 9 million shares of common stock available for future issuance under the Employee Stock Purchase
Plan as of December 31, 2017, and 51 million shares available under the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan as of
December 31, 2017. Shares available under the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan may become the subject of future
awards in the form of stock options, SARs, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance awards and
other stock-based awards.

The information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K will be included under the heading “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2018
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Items 404 and 407(a) of Regulation S-K will be included under the headings
“Certain Relationships and Transactions” and “Corporate Governance” in our definitive proxy statement for our
2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 9(e) of Schedule 14A will be included under the heading ‘“Disclosure of Fees
Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2018 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.
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